

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI PADOVA

Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia "Galileo Galilei"

Master Degree in Physics

Final Dissertation

Properties of extremal and supersymmetric horizons

Thesis supervisor

Dr. Davide Cassani

Candidate Fabio Billiato

Academic Year 2021/2022

Abstract

String theory and holography have been able to provide the microstates accounting for the entropy of supersymmetric and extremal black objects, such as black holes and black strings. Gauged supergravity in different spacetime dimensions allows for rotating, charged black objects displaying inner horizons, in addition to the outer event horizon. The product of the areas of these horizons has been shown to depend on angular momenta and electric charges, but not on the mass. The thesis studies these features both from first principles and in concrete examples. The main aim is to implement the extremal and supersymmetric limit of the black hole thermodynamics. It is found that in this limit the area product formulae reproduce certain relations between the conserved charges that have been emphasized recently. A key role is played by the recently discovered extremization principle for the black hole thermodynamics in the supersymmetric and extremal limit. We show that this in fact captures the areas of all horizons as well as the area product formula. We give an explicit proof of these results in the context of black holes in five-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$, $U(1)^3$ gauged supergravity and four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$, $U(1)^4$ gauged supergravity and argue that they hold more generally.

Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Review of supergravity and supersymmetric black hole solutions in AdS backgrounds					
	2.1	Elementary aspects of supersymmetry in $D = 4, 5$				
	2.2	Pure supergravity		8		
		2.2.1	$\mathcal{N} = 2$ extended pure supergravity	10		
		2.2.2	Gauging and AdS background \ldots	11		
	2.3	Coupli	ing pure supergravity to vector multiplets	13		
	2.4	Supers	symmetric, extremal and BPS black hole solutions in gauged supergravities	16		
3	Asymptotically AdS_5 black holes in 5D, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged supergravity					
	3.1	Review	w of the double spinning charged AdS_5 black hole solution	19		
		3.1.1	Review of the general non extremal and non supersymmetric solution	19		
		3.1.2	Supersymmetry and BPS solutions	23		
		3.1.3	BPS limit of black hole thermodynamics	24		
		3.1.4	The extremization principle	27		
	3.2 Properties of the general horizons for the single charged, double spinning black hole s		ties of the general horizons for the single charged, double spinning black hole solution .	28		
		3.2.1	Physical and virtual horizons	29		
		3.2.2	Inner horizon radius and area in the BPS limit	31		
		3.2.3	Universal area product	32		
		3.2.4	Thermodynamics quantities and relations for the other horizons	34		
		3.2.5	Universality of the extremization principle	38		
	3.3 Universality of the extremization principle and $U(1)^3$ gauged supergravity general b					
		m	45			
	3.4	Single	spinning $U(1)^3$ charged AdS_5 black hole solution	47		
		3.4.1	Review of the solution	47		
		3.4.2	Properties of the general horizons	52		
		3.4.3	Area product formula	53		
		3.4.4	Independent derivation of S_{-}^{\star}	54		
4	Asymptotically AdS_4 black holes in 4D, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged supergravity					
	4.1	Review	w of the single charged, spinning AdS_4 black hole solution $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	57		
		4.1.1	Supersymmetric and BPS solution	59		
	4.2	Proper	ties of the general horizons of the single charged solution	60		
		4.2.1	Physical and virtual horizons	60		
		4.2.2	Universal area product formula	63		

5	Con	clusions		89
		4.5.4	Universal extremization principle	87
		4.5.3	Properties of the general horizons of the black hole solution	84
		4.5.2	Supersymmetry and BPS solutions	81
		4.5.1	Review of the solution	77
	4.5	Single	charged, spinning AdS_4 black hole with acceleration $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	76
	4.4	Univer	sal extremization principle for the four-charge black holes	73
		4.3.1	Properties of the BPS horizons	72
	4.3	Pairwis	se equal charged, spinning AdS_4 black hole solution $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	70
		4.2.4	Universal extremization principle	65
		4.2.3	Thermodynamics of all the horizons	64

Chapter 1

Introduction

It is well known that black holes are thermal objects, their thermodynamics is derived from quantities related to the outer event horizon. One of the aim of a fundamental theory of quantum gravity is to account for the thermodynamics of black objects, starting from a microscopic statistical description. This has been first achieved, in the framework of string theory, for a class of asymptotically flat black holes [1] and from there a lot of work has been done.

On the other hand, after the discovery of the AdS/CFT correspondence [2], the interest in the study of asymptotic Anti de Sitter (AdS) black holes has grown. The correspondence was originally formulated in type IIB string theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5$, whose low energy limit is described by a supergravity theory on the same background, and states that the theory is dual to a conformal field theory in four flat spacetime dimensions. One of the main features of the AdS/CFT correspondence is that it is a weak/strong duality, meaning that if one of the two holographic duals is a weakly coupled theory, the other is strongly coupled and vice versa. Many generalizations of the correspondence have been found later on (e.g. AdS_4/CFT_3 [3]).

In this context, studying black hole solutions on AdS_D backgrounds has proven to be a powerful tool to test the validity of the correspondence, these black holes are solutions of gauged D dimensional supergravities, which are obtained from dimensional reduction of the original eleven/ten dimensional supergravity [4]. Black holes are related to thermal states of the dual CFT [5] meaning that, assuming the validity of the correspondence, one can give a microscopic interpretation of the black hole thermodynamics in terms of an ensemble of states in the dual CFT.

Despite many (AdS) black hole solutions have been constructed in the last twenty years, only recently there have been some advances in proving the validity of the picture of black holes as made by microscopic constituents of the dual field theory, the reason is the difficulty in dealing with strongly coupled field theories. In [6, 7] the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of a class of supersymmetric AdS_4 black holes has been reproduced from an exact localization computation in the dual field theory, considering the leading order in the large Nexpansion¹. A similar result has been obtained later for supersymmetric AdS_5 black holes in [8, 9, 10].

The requirement of supersymmetry is usually needed to have a good control of the two sides of the holographic picture. On the gravity side, a peculiarity of these supersymmetric black hole solutions is that they are generally not well-behaved unless one further imposes extremality [11]. This happens because supersymmetric but non extremal black holes are characterized by the presence of a naked singularity, or by causal pathologies such as closed timelike curves (CTCs) outside the event horizon. We will call "BPS" the solutions that are both supersymmetric and extremal. BPS black holes in different dimensions and with different sets of charges seem

¹Dual field theories are generally gauge theories with gauge group given by e.g. SU(N). Requiring that N is large is needed to account for the large value of the black hole entropy (even in the zero temperature case), which implies a large number of microscopic degrees of freedom.

to share some general properties.

In particular it has been found in all cases that the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy can be obtained from an *extremization principle* [12, 13, 14]. One can define a rather simple, homogeneous function $I(\omega_i, \phi^I)$ of some variables (ω_i, ϕ^I) related to the chemical potentials of the black hole thermodynamics. These satisfy a linear constraint of the form:

$$\sum_{i} \omega_i - \sum_{I} \phi^I = \pm 2\pi i, \tag{1.1}$$

the entropy of the BPS black hole is then found by extremizing the following entropy function:

$$I(\omega_i, \phi^I) - \omega_i J_i - \phi^I Q_I, \qquad (1.2)$$

with respect to the (ω_i, ϕ^I) variables subjected to the constraint (1.1), (J_i, Q^I) are the conserved charges of the black hole solution, corresponding to angular momenta and electric-like charges.

The works cited above did not derive the entropy function, nor give a meaning to the (ω_i, ϕ^I) variables, which moreover, are found to be complex when solving the extremization equations. These explanations recently came from the work of [8] who *derived* the extremization principle for a class of five dimensional AdSblack holes. They considered a complexified family of supersymmetric but not extremal solutions in Euclidean signature, this allowed to identify $I(\omega_i, \phi^I)$ as the Euclidean on-shell action in the supersymmetric solution, that is a saddle point of the gravitational path integral, and the (ω_i, ϕ^I) variables as a modified set of chemical potentials which, in the extremal and supersymmetric (BPS) limit allows to define a non-trivial thermodynamics. Moreover, condition (1.1) has been interpreted as a regularity condition for the killing spinor near the event horizon.

In this framework the extremization of the entropy function (1.2) corresponds to the (constrained) Legendre transform of the grand-canonical potential I in the supersymmetric solution. A key point in the discussion of [8], was to implement the constraint (1.1) in the Legendre transform via a Lagrange multiplier Λ , which is found to be determined (via the extremization equations) in terms of the charges from the cubic equation:

$$\Lambda^3 + p_2(J_i, Q_I)\Lambda^2 + p_1(J_i, Q^I)\Lambda + p_0(J_i, Q^I) = 0.$$
(1.3)

Moreover, the homogeneity of degree 1 of the Euclidean supersymmetric action I allows to obtain the entropy simply as $S = \pm 2\pi i \Lambda$ where Λ has to be chosen as one of the roots of (1.3), requiring reality of S obtained in this way allows one to *derive* the BPS entropy.

In the last few years, it has been shown that the extremization principle is a general feature of many classes of static [6] and rotating AdS black holes in D = 4, 5, 6, 7 dimensions [15], AdS_4 black holes with acceleration [16], and it has been explored considering higher derivative corrections to the original five-dimensional theories [17] and also for asymptotically flat black holes [18].

In our work we are going to reconsider the extremization principle as discussed by [8], we will show that there is actually more to learn about it which regards the properties of the *inner* horizons of the black hole.

The idea of black hole solutions with multiple horizons is not a new one, e.g. four-dimensional Reissner-Nordstrom and Kerr-Newman black holes have an internal Cauchy horizon, together with the outer event horizon. Properties of these internal horizons have been studied since the eighties. A remarkable feature is that, in some classes of four and five dimensional multi charged, static and/or stationary asymptotically flat black holes, the wave equation for a minimally coupled scalar field in the black hole background is sensitive to the geometry near both horizons [19, 20]. Moreover the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy² for the outer and inner horizons can

²It should be noted that one can *formally* define quantities such as the entropy, or chemical potentials for the Cauchy horizon. The way to do it is to repeat the same calculations that one usually does for the outer horizon also for the Cauchy horizon. In this way one

$$S_{\pm} = \frac{A_{\pm}}{4} = \sqrt{N_R} \pm \sqrt{N_L},\tag{1.4}$$

where $N_{R/L} = N_{R/L}(M, J_i, Q^I)$ are generally functions of all the charges. Remarkably the product of the two entropies $S_-S_+ = N_R - N_L$ turns out to be *independent of the mass M of the black hole*, which implies that it should be quantized at the quantum level, due to the quantization of the electric charges and the angular momenta.

The splitting of the entropy (1.4) into two distinct contributions and the properties of the scalar wave equation, led the authors of [19, 20, 21] to conjecture the possibility of explaining the microscopic origin of the thermodynamic properties of the black hole by considering an *effective* string model (or equivalently two-dimensional CFT). The two contributions appearing in the entropy S_+ are interpreted as deriving from the right/left moving modes on the string (or right/left moving sectors of a CFT_2), which has to be taken weakly interacting to allow for the splitting in (1.4). In this picture the mass-independence of the entropy product formula, and the consequent quantization at the quantum level, played a special role as it was related to the level matching condition of the dual³ CFT_2 .

This conjecture has been proved valid in specific cases where the *near horizon geometry* contains an AdS_3 factor, which is holographycally dual to a CFT_2 . This happens for specific types of black hole solutions [23] (here the inner horizon were not considered), and in the extremal case [24, 25, 26]. Very recently these ideas have been applied also to the AdS_5 black holes that we have discussed in the beginning [27, 28], where an agreement with the results obtained by studying the dual field theory on the boundary at infinity has been found. Outside of extremality, where the duality with the CFT_2 is not as well established, one usually exploit the thermodynamic properties of the outer and inner horizon, to infer the thermodynamic properties of the R/L sectors of the effective dual CFT_2 [28, 29, 30].

Inspired by the possibility to obtain a microscopic interpretation of the outer and inner horizons properties in terms of a dual CFT_2 , some authors have studied the properties of the area product formula in more general settings, see e.g. [31]. In almost all cases the area product formula is found to be mass-independent. In particular in [32] some of the AdS black holes discussed at the beginning have been studied, again the independence of the area product formula on the mass of the solution holds, but only if one considers also more general horizons than the event and Cauchy horizons, specifically *complex horizons*. These "virtual" horizons emerge as complex zeroes of the function which determines the position of the "physical" event and Cauchy horizon as its *positive real* zeroes r_{\pm} . The authors of [32], treated these complex horizons as formal loci which however turn out to be necessary to obtain the area product formula. It is important to stress that in a general setting only the mass independence of the area product formula is recovered. Instead the splitting in Eq. (1.4) generally appears for black holes with *at most* two horizons.

Quoting [32], the independence of the area product formula: "would suggest the possibility of an explana-

can compute an area A_- , surface gravity κ_- and (in the stationary case) finding a null killing vector of the form $V = \partial_r + \Omega_- \partial_\phi$ for the Cauchy horizon, it is then natural to interpret these as thermodynamic quantities (e.g. $S_- = \frac{1}{4}A_-$ or $T_- = \frac{\kappa_-}{2\pi}$). Clearly, it should be kept in mind that these are only *formal* definitions, and one should then work to understand what is the meaning of these quantities as thermodynamics quantities.

³Some concerns about this conjecture have been raised by Visser [22], in particular the $N_{R/L}$ variables should be integers in order to be associated with a number of excitations. Moreover interpreting the area product mass-independence in terms of the level matching condition, implies that the product of the areas should be quantized as $S_-S_+ \propto L_P^4 N$ (L_P is the Planck length), again with N integer. These requirements do not follow immediately from the observations of [19, 20, 21] unless one considers the supersymmetric and extremal solution. For example the quantization of the area product in terms of *integers* does not follow generally from the mass independence, which simply states that S_+S_- only depends on the quantized charges. This additional requirement can be obtained provided that one tunes the elementary electric charges, upon which the charges Q^I are quantized, so that once S_+S_- is written in terms of the quantized charges and angular momenta, one correctly obtains $S_-S_+ \propto L_p^4 N$ with $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover $N_{R/L} \in \mathbb{N}$ implies the quantization of the mass of the black hole solution.

tion for the microscopic behaviour of such black holes in terms of a field theory in more than two dimensions", where all horizons may be relevant to study the microscopic properties of the given black hole solutions. Unfortunately however, at least to our knowledge, very little to no work has been done in understanding these complex horizons, contrary to the Cauchy and event horizons as we have briefly discussed above.

The present thesis aims at making some steps forward in the understanding of the properties of these complex horizons. We will concentrate on the black hole solutions of four and five dimensional gauged supergravities discussed at the beginning, dual to thermal states of three and four dimensional field theories on the boundary of the spacetime. The end goal would be to obtain a microscopic interpretation of the properties of all the horizons. If possible, it is natural to assume that it would arise by considering the dual field theory on the boundary. This would be different from what we have briefly described above, the reason being that the dual CFT_2 description formally arises by studying certain near horizon geometry, while here we will consider the asymptotic AdS_D geometry. One may speculate that both pictures can be used and could be related, some indications may have been given by [28], which however did not consider the virtual horizons. Understanding if such an interpretation actually exists would be an ambitious result, which would certainly require much more work than what can be done in this thesis. Indeed, we will not directly address these problems, but rather give an analysis of the properties of the different horizons⁴, concentrating on the gravitational side of what we hope is a broader holographic picture.

We will first consider the known area product formula and show that, in the BPS solution, it is equivalent to the BPS constraint on the charges, which allows us to get extremality from the supersymmetric solution. We will briefly argue why this is actually a non trivial result, and use this as our starting observation. In trying to frame this result in a more fundamental picture we will define a set of thermodynamic variables (entropies and chemical potentials) for each horizon, showing that they trivially satisfy a first law of thermodynamics, in doing so we will generalize some results previously obtained for other kind of black holes [29, 31, 30].

A key role in our discussion will be played by a sort of "exchange symmetry" which relates quantities defined for each horizon⁵. Using this symmetry we will deduce the possibility of defining a set of *universal* quantities which allows us to capture the properties of all horizons at once. This idea applied to the quantities in Eqs. (1.1, 1.2), will allow us to show that the extremization principle is *universal* in the sense that it reproduces all the horizons entropies in the BPS limit. A key role is played by the Lagrange multiplier (1.3). Indeed, we find that while the purely imaginary root of (1.3) gives the outer horizon area, the other roots provide the "entropy" associated with the other horizons. Promoting the extremization principle to an "*universal*" extremization principle, will explain our starting result regarding the area product formula in the BPS limit, and allows to unify the properties of all horizons in the BPS limit (and formally also in the supersymmetric but not extremal case) in a more fundamental picture. We will explicitly show that our results are valid for many classes of AdS black holes, in different dimensions and with different set of conserved charges, we will also prove it for a new generalization for a class of AdS_4 black hole solutions with acceleration. We will argue why this result can be seen as a starting point to obtain a holographic interpretation of the properties of all horizons, and also argue how these results may be extended to non-supersymmetric solutions. We leave for future work

⁴Studying these complex horizons, formally requires to consider complex solutions for the metric and gauge/scalar fields, with analytically continued radial variable or, equivalently, complexified parameters (see e.g. [8] Sec. **3.1**). These would not be allowed as Lorentzian solutions. However, we are interested in studying these horizons interpreted as *formal loci*, and in particular, their generalized thermodynamics (which is characterized by *formal* complex thermodynamic quantities), without addressing what physical meaning these quantities might have (this is not so clear neither for the "physical" Cauchy horizons). The motivation to do so is found in the properties of the area product formula. Moreover, one can regard these complexified solutions as complex saddle points of the gravitational path integral (hence as formal solutions of the equations of motion), we will make some quick comments about this when studying the five-dimensional black holes.

⁵This symmetry has already been observed for black holes with only an event and Cauchy horizon. In this case it has been argued that the exchange symmetry of the horizons is related to the \mathcal{T} -duality of the dual CFT_2 (See [19], in particular Sec. 4).

a better explanation of these aspects.

The plan of the rest of this work is as follows. In chapter 2 we give a review of elementary aspects of supergravity in D = 4,5 dimensions and on supersymmetric and BPS, asymptotically AdS black hole solutions. In chapter 3 we concentrate on two classes of solutions of gauged D = 5 supergravity. Starting from the single charged, double spinning black hole solution, we will first give a detailed review of its known properties (Sec. 3.1); then we also present the extremization procedure discussed in [8] and the derivation of the area product formula of [32]. Next in Sec. 3.2 we prove our original results about, where we first analyse what kind of horizons does the solution admit, and then show in detail how the results that we have just anticipated are derived. In particular showing how the extremization principle can be promoted to a *universal* extremization principle for all horizons.

In Sec. 3.3 we move on discussing the consequences of the *universal* extremization principle for the general double spinning black hole with three charges, of the $U(1)^3$ gauged theory (STU model). We explicitly check the validity of these results for the simpler solution where the two angular momenta are set equal in Sec. 3.4. For this black hole solution we follow a similar logic as for the single charged case, for this reason we don't go at the same level of detail.

In chapter 4 we generalize our results to the AdS black holes in four dimensions which arise from the $U(1)^4$ gauged theory. We first consider the spinning single charged solution, showing how the *universal* extremization principle is carried out in this case (Sec. 4.1, 4.2), next we quickly discuss the pairwise equal charged case (Sec. 4.3). Also in this case we discuss the consequences of the *universal* extremization principle for the most general solution with four independent charges, explicitly showing the validity of this universality for the specific solutions discussed before. Finally, in Sec. 4.5 we conclude discussing the generalization of the single charged solution with acceleration, and we explain the new features that arise when acceleration is present. For this solution the universal area product has never been discussed before, so we will derive it and show its equivalence with the BPS constraint between the electric charge and the angular momentum. Again we will show that the *universality* of the extremization principle works out also in this case.

Chapter 2

Review of supergravity and supersymmetric black hole solutions in *AdS* **backgrounds**

The main subjects of our investigations are asymptotically AdS black hole solutions in supergravity theories. It is therefore useful to give a brief introduction to supergravity before starting with the main subjects. A complete review on how to construct supergravity theories would go beyond the scope of the present thesis. Here we only provide a brief introduction to their structure, focusing on the features that will be relevant in the following chapters.

We are interested in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged supergravity in D = 4, 5 dimensions, possibly coupled to a certain number of Abelian vector fields which generally allow to gauge a larger Abelian group $U(1)^n$, translating in the possibility of having black hole solutions with multiple electric-like charges. The reason why we are interested in these theories, for a certain number of vector multiplets, is that they can be obtained as consistent truncations of supergravity theories in ten or eleven dimensions where the AdS/CFT correspondence is naturally established. We will say a little more about this when introducing each specific theory, in the next chapters.

We are going to follow closely the presentation of [33], and discuss the on-shell, component formulation of the above supergravity theories, not considering auxiliary fields.

2.1 Elementary aspects of supersymmetry in D = 4, 5

The properties of supersymmetric theories depend on the number of spacetime dimensions where they are formulated in. On one hand, massless physical states in D (flat) dimensions, which are massless irreducible representations of the Poincaré group ISO(1, D-1), are classified by representations of the SO(D-2) group. In four,(five) dimensions massless particles are characterized by helicity,(spin) and are therefore described by 2, (2s + 1) states.

This is important because massless particles are the "building blocks" of the irreducible representations of the super-Poincaré group, the supermultiplets, which must contain the same number of fermionic and bosonic degrees of freedom. This requirement implies that in higher dimensions, one has to consider longer supermultiplets, for example, the supergravity multiplet in D = 4 contains just the spin-2 graviton and the spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ gravitino $(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi_{\mu})$, while in D = 5 the minimal supergravity multiplet contains also a gauge field $(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi_{\mu}, A_{\mu})$.

Moreover, the properties of the spinorial representations of the Lorentz group are different in different dimensions [34], this directly influences the properties of the supercharges. In particular, remember that any irrep. of the Clifford algebra in *D* Lorentzian dimensions,

$$\{\Gamma_a, \Gamma_b\} = 2\eta_{ab}, \qquad \eta_{ab} = \text{diag}(-1, +1, \cdots, +1),$$
(2.1)

is also a representation of the Lorentz algebra via the map:

$$\rho(\hat{M}_{ab}) = \frac{1}{4} [\Gamma_a, \Gamma_b], \qquad (2.2)$$

here $(a, b = 0, 1, \dots, D-1)$ and M_{ab} are the generators of the D-dimensional Lorentz algebra.

Generally these spinorial representations of the Lorentz group are reducible. Take, for example, the irrep. of the four-dimensional Clifford algebra given by Dirac matrices, the corresponding representation of the Lorentz group is the $(\frac{1}{2}, 0) \oplus (0, \frac{1}{2})$. An irreducible spinor representation can be obtained by imposing constraints on the spinors on which the wanted representation acts. These constraints can be *chirality conditions* or *reality conditions*, in four dimensions these give rise to Weyl or Majorana spinors.

What kind of constraints one can impose depends on the dimension D, due to the different properties of the Lorentz group in different dimensions, and halve the independent components of a spinor, hence influencing the minimal number of *real* independent supercharges one can have. This is reflected in the length of the supersymmetry representations, denoted as supermultiplets.

In D = 4 either a chirality or Majorana condition can be imposed on Dirac spinors to get an irrep. of the Lorentz group, but not both. The minimal amount of supersymmetry in 4D is achieved by considering, for example, one Majorana supercharge, which contains four independent real components.

In D = 5 one can show that two inequivalent irreps. of the Clifford algebra can be obtained by starting from the four-dimensional Γ_a matrices and adding one of $\pm\Gamma_5$. The corresponding representation of the Lorentz group acts again on four-components complex Dirac spinors. In 5D one cannot impose neither a chirality nor a reality condition, meaning that the minimal amount of supersymmetry is achieved considering one Dirac supercharge, containing eight independent real components. For this reason, the D = 5 supergravity multiplet contains more states with respect to the four-dimensional one.

However, in D = 5 there is a special type of condition that one can impose, called symplectic Majorana condition. First one has to double the number of Dirac spinors (e.g. the supercharges Q_i) so that to have an even number of them 2N, then one imposes the following condition:

$$(\mathcal{Q}_i)^* = \Omega_{ij} B \mathcal{Q}_j, \tag{2.3}$$

where Ω_{ij} is a real antisymmetric matrix such that $\Omega^2 = -\mathbb{I}_{2N}$ and B is the matrix that allows us to express $(\Gamma_a)^* \text{ as } (\Gamma_a)^* = -B\Gamma_a B^{-1}$, the number of independent components does not change, as we had to double the number of supercharges first. This allows to make explicit the R-symmetry group, which in D = 5 is found to be $USp(2N) \equiv U(2N) \cap Sp(2N, \mathbb{R})$.

It is equivalent to work with N Dirac supercharges or 2N symplectic Majorana ones, but usually in the literature one refers to N extended D = 5 supersymmetry to the one with an even number of symplectic Majorana supercharges. Hence, the N = 2 supergravity we are going to consider is truly the minimal one despite the N = 2 designation. Similarly, when considering the D = 5 supergravity multiplet, the eight fermionic degrees of freedom can be thought of as distributed between two symplectic Majorana Dirac spinors ψ^i_{μ} so that the multiplet is given by $(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi^i_{\mu}, A_{\mu})$, where the *i* indices are in the fundamental of $USp(2) \cong SU(2)_R$.

2.2 **Pure supergravity**

Supergravity can be thought of as a *gauge theory of supersymmetry* where the supersymmetry transformations with fermionic parameter ϵ are promoted to local transformations. To see how this works (following the

discussion of [33], Ch. 2), let us start with a supersymmetric theory with Lagrangian \mathscr{L} . Let us consider D = 4and $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry so that we have only one global fermionic symmetry with parameter ϵ , such that $\delta_{\epsilon}\mathscr{L} = \partial_{\mu}V^{\mu}$.

If we promote ϵ to a local parameter, we lose the invariance under supersymmetry as the Lagrangian now transforms as $\delta_{\epsilon} \mathscr{L} = \partial_{\mu} V^{\mu} + \partial_{\mu} \bar{\epsilon} J^{\mu}$, where J^{μ} is the conserved current associated with global supersymmetry transformations. Notice that the components of J^{μ} must be spinorial quantities.

Following the Noether procedure, supersymmetry is restored by adding to the Lagrangian a term like:

$$\mathscr{L}' = -\frac{1}{M_p} \bar{\psi}_{\mu} J^{\mu}, \qquad \delta_{\epsilon} \psi_{\mu} = M_p \partial_{\mu} \epsilon, \qquad (2.4)$$

where M_p is a (for now arbitrary) mass parameter needed to get a mass-dimension 4 Lagrangian, and ψ_{μ} is the gauge field associated with the local supersymmetry transformation, which couples to the supercurrent J^{μ} of the original theory. Its components are Majorana spinors, so it carries both a spinorial and a Lorentz index $\psi_{\alpha\mu}$.

We are not finished yet, as generally one finds that the supercurrent is not gauge invariant, which means that we need to add more terms to the Lagrangian. In particular, one finds that (after some calculations):

$$\delta_{\epsilon}\mathscr{L}' = -\frac{1}{M_p}\delta_{\epsilon}\bar{\psi}_{\mu}J^{\mu} + \frac{1}{M_p}\psi_{\mu}\delta_{\epsilon}J^{\mu} \sim -\partial_{\mu}\bar{\epsilon}J^{\mu} + \frac{1}{M_p}\bar{\epsilon}\gamma_{\mu}\psi_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu} + \cdots, \qquad (2.5)$$

the first term exactly cancels the variation of \mathscr{L} by construction. Instead, the variation of the current gives rise to many terms, one of which is proportional to the stress-energy tensor of the original theory $T^{\mu\nu}$. The cancellation of this particular term can be achieved by adding to the Lagrangian a new coupling between $T^{\mu\nu}$ and a symmetric tensor field $g_{\mu\nu}$ such that:

$$\mathscr{L}'' = -g_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu}, \qquad \delta_{\epsilon}g_{\mu\nu} \sim \frac{1}{M_p}\bar{\epsilon}\gamma_{(\mu}\psi_{\nu)}, \qquad (2.6)$$

 $g_{\mu\nu}$ can only be the spacetime metric, and therefore ψ_{μ} must be its superpartner, the spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ gravitino.

Promoting supersymmetry to a local symmetry requires coupling the original theory to the supergravity multiplet $(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi_{\mu})$, which can be made dynamical by adding the corresponding kinetic terms. To fully restore supersymmetry in the original Lagrangian \mathscr{L} (which contains also matter fields) one should add more terms. In this way, one would get a matter-coupled supergravity theory. However, what we have discussed above already allows us to obtain the supersymmetric Lagrangian for the *pure supergravity multiplet*, not coupled to matter.

It can be shown that this is nothing but the sum of the kinetic terms for the graviton and the gravitino, after having performed the required spacetime covariantizations¹

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{M_p^2}{2} R - \frac{1}{2} \bar{\psi}_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu\nu\rho} D_{\nu} \psi_{\rho} \right), \qquad \begin{cases} \delta_{\epsilon} \psi_{\mu} = M_p D_{\mu} \epsilon \\ \delta_{\epsilon} g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2M_p} \bar{\epsilon} \gamma_{(\mu} \psi_{\nu)} \end{cases}$$
(2.7)

in these conventions, we have $M_p = (8\pi G_N)^{-1/2}$, which is the reduced Planck mass [33], moreover $\gamma^{\mu\nu\rho} = \gamma^{[\mu}\gamma^{\nu}\gamma^{\rho]}$ and $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{ab}\gamma_{ab}$ is the covariant derivative² acting on spinors via the spin connection ω_{μ}^{ab} , latin letters indicate flat indices and are related to the curved (greek) ones via the vielbein (e.g. $\gamma^a = e^a_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu}$).

The specific form of the kinetic term for the gravitino in (2.7), allows to have the propagation of only the

¹Having not included auxiliary fields, the supersymmetry algebra closes only on-shell, hence $[\delta_{\epsilon_1}, \delta_{\epsilon_2}]\psi_{\mu} = \delta_{[\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2]}\psi_{\mu}$ holds only on-shell. $\delta_{[\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2]}\psi_{\mu}$ is the variation of ψ_{μ} under the element of the super-Poincaré group given by: $[\epsilon_1 Q, \bar{\epsilon}_2 \bar{Q}]$.

²The covariant derivative acting on the gravitino should also take into account the Lorentz index in ψ_{μ} so that one should have $\nabla_{\mu}\psi_{\nu} = D_{\mu}\psi_{\nu} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}\psi_{\rho}$, but in the action (2.7), it always appears the *antisymmetrized* covariant derivative of ψ_{μ} which satisfies $\nabla_{[\mu}\psi_{\nu]} = D_{[\mu}\psi_{\nu]}$, due to the torsionless condition on the Levi-Civita connection $\Gamma^{\rho}_{[\mu\nu]} = 0$.

physical spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ degrees of freedom contained in the ψ_{μ} field, and is called the Rarita-Schwinger action [35].

An important comment has to be made about the way the spin connection ω^{ab} is interpreted (let us also treat the vielbein and spin connection as 1-forms). Recall that in Einstein gravity (not coupled to matter), the spin connection is determined in terms of the vielbein 1-forms $\omega^{ab} = \omega^{ab}(e)$ via the torsionless condition $T^a = De^a = 0$, hence it is a *composite field depending on* e^a . This is known as the *second-order* formulation of general relativity [33, 36]. However, one can adopt a different point of view and treat ω^{ab} as an independent field. In this way the wanted gravitational degrees of freedom are described on-shell, as one finds that the equation of motion for the spin connection is precisely the torsionless condition $\frac{\delta S_{EH}}{\delta \omega^{ab}_{\mu}} = 0 \Leftrightarrow De^a = 0$. This is called first order (or Palatini) formalism [33, 36].

This distinction is important in supergravity theories, where fermions are always present. In a general gravity theory coupled to fermions, one finds that in the first order formalism, the equation of motion for the spin connection acquires an extra term that is bilinear in the fermions. Considering the example given in Eq. (2.7), one would find [33]: $De^a - \frac{1}{4M_p^2}\bar{\psi} \wedge \gamma^a\psi = 0$. In this case, the symmetry under local supersymmetry for the theory in Eq. (2.7), can be proven by fixing the susy transformation for ω^{ab} in such a way that $\delta_{\epsilon}S = 0$. Alternatively, adopting the second order formalism, one interprets ω^{ab} as a composite field which is now determined by the condition $T^a = De^a = \frac{1}{4M_p^2}\bar{\psi} \wedge \gamma^a\psi$ [33]. In this case, $\omega^{ab}(e,\psi) = \omega^{ab}(e) + K^{ab}(\psi)$ is not a torsionless connection anymore, due to $K^{ab}(\psi)$ which is quadratic in the fermions, but one can show that the equations of motion in the two formalisms are equivalent [36]. Notice also that one has to add interaction terms for the fermions in this case (due to the $K^{ab}(\psi)$ piece). Moreover, $\omega^{ab}(e,\psi)$ and the Levi-Civita connection $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\mu\nu}$ are now not equivalent, the latter still being torsionless as $\Gamma^{\rho}_{[\mu\nu]} = 0$, and only determining $\omega^{ab}(e)$ (this means that footnote **2** is still true). In this case, the susy transformation of $\omega^{ab}(e,\psi)$ is *fixed* by those of the vielbein and the gravitino. However, in order to prove the invariance under local supersymmetry in the action (**2.7**) one simply needs the condition $T^a = De^a = \frac{1}{4M_p^a}\bar{\psi} \wedge \gamma^a\psi$.

2.2.1 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ extended pure supergravity

Eq. (2.7) is the pure $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity action in D = 4, but we are going to work in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ extended supergravities, which allows to have gaugings within the pure supergravity theory itself. Moreover, in D = 5 there is not a generalization of (2.7) due to the different field content of the minimal supergravity multiplet, which instead is similar to the four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ one.

Let us stick to D = 4, in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ extended supersymmetry the supergravity multiplet is now given by: $(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi^i_{\mu}, A_{\mu})$, where the two gravitini now form a doublet in the fundamental representation of the $SU(2)_R$ R-symmetry subgroup of the full $U(2)_R$ symmetry.

It is tempting to view the supergravity multiplet as a sort of combination of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ multiplets as $(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi^i_{\mu}, A_{\mu}) \equiv (g_{\mu\nu}, \psi^{(1)}_{\mu}) \oplus (\psi^{(2)}_{\mu}, A_{\mu})$. The second one is the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ gravitino multiplet whose globally supersymmetric action is given by:

$$S = \int d^4x \left(-\frac{1}{2} \bar{\psi}_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu\nu\rho} \partial_{\nu} \psi_{\rho} - \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} \right) \qquad \begin{cases} \delta_{\epsilon} \psi_{\mu} = \frac{1}{4} \gamma^{\nu\rho} \gamma_{\mu} \epsilon F_{\nu\rho} \\ \delta_{\epsilon} A_{\mu} = \bar{\epsilon} \psi_{\mu} \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

Indeed, by coupling pure supergravity $(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi_{\mu}^{(1)})$ (2.7) with the above theory $(\psi_{\mu}^{(2)}, A_{\mu})$ (2.8) interpreted as a sort of "matter theory", following the Noether procedure described in the last section, allows one to get a local supersymmetric theory, with parameter $\epsilon^{(1)}$, for the desired physical fields $(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi_{\mu}^i, A_{\mu})$. One has to add interaction terms of the form $\bar{\psi}\psi F$ and ψ^4 , and also covariantize (2.8) under space-time coordinates redefinitions. One then realizes that this new theory enjoys an SO(2) symmetry which rotates the two gravitini ψ^i_{μ} , this implies that the theory is also invariant under another local supersymmetry transformation $\epsilon^{(2)}$ which can be obtained by essentially swapping the role of the two gravitini.

In this way, one gets the pure $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity theory [37, 38], only the $SO(2) \cong U(1) \in U(2)_R$ symmetry is evident if one uses Majorana spinors ψ^i_{μ} , ϵ^i , which can be interpreted as SO(2) doublets, and it is the only symmetry that can be gauged by using the A_{μ} gauge field present in the supermultiplet, without adding matter.

We will need only the bosonic part of this theory when discussing black holes, which is simply given by summing the bosonic parts of (2.7, 2.8), and the supersymmetry transformation rule of the gravitini:

$$\delta\psi_{\mu} = M_p D_{\mu}\epsilon - \frac{1}{4}\gamma^{\nu\rho}\gamma_{\mu}F_{\nu\rho}\epsilon + O(\psi^2)$$
(2.9)

where the two Majorana gravitini and supersymmetry parameters ϵ^i have been combined into one Dirac spinor, $\psi_{\mu} = \psi_{\mu}^{(1)} + i\psi_{\mu}^{(2)}$ [39] in this way, the SO(2) symmetry that rotates the two real spinors, becomes an U(1)symmetry for the complex Dirac spinor. The $O(\psi^2)$ terms are not going to be relevant for us, since the gravitino is set to zero in the background.

What about D = 5 pure supergravity? Unfortunately, one cannot repeat the procedure we have described above, and one has to resort to other methods [40]. Skipping the details, the pure D = 5, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity theory is actually similar to the four-dimensional one. For example, the bosonic part of the Lagrangian, which we are interested in, has the same structure but in five-dimensions one is allowed to add a Chern-Simons gauge invariant term proportional to the 5-form $F \wedge F \wedge A = -\frac{\sqrt{-g}}{4} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma\lambda} F_{\mu\nu}F_{\rho\sigma}A_{\lambda}$, it is easy to see that under a gauge transformation $A_{\mu} \rightarrow A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\Lambda$ this term transforms as a total derivative.

Regarding the gravitino supersymmetry transformation, one finds again a similar result as in D = 4 (2.9):

$$\delta\psi^{i}_{\mu} = M_{p}D_{\mu}\epsilon^{i} - i\frac{1}{4\sqrt{3}} \left(\Gamma^{\nu\rho}_{\mu} - 4\delta^{\nu}_{\mu}\Gamma^{\rho}\right)F_{\nu\rho}\epsilon^{i} + O(\psi^{2}), \qquad (2.10)$$

 M_p here is related to the five-dimensional Newton's constant, so it is formally different from the one used before. Remember that in this case the spinors are symplectic Majorana and form a doublet of the $USp(2)_R \cong$ $SU(2)_R$ R-symmetry group of the five-dimensional Poincaré superalgebra. Also in five-dimensions the pure supergravity theory contains only one gauge field A_μ which allows to gauge only a global U(1) symmetry of the theory (contained in the R-symmetry group).

2.2.2 Gauging and AdS background

We will now describe the procedure of gauging the above pure supergravity theories, specifically we want to give an idea of what kind of modifications are needed in the Lagrangian and in the gravitino supersymmetric transformation rule. The most important point for us is that upon gauging, a *negative* cosmological constant appears, meaning that the gauged version of the above supergravities have AdS_D and not $Mink_D$ as a background solution. Similarly, black hole solutions in these gauged supergravities are asymptotically AdS_D .

Let us consider again the four-dimensional case. As we have already said, we can only gauge the global SO(2) symmetry rotating the two Majorana gravitini (and correspondingly the two supersymmetry parameters $\epsilon^{(i)}$, or equivalently the U(1) symmetry associated with the Dirac gravitino $\psi_{\mu} \rightarrow e^{ig\alpha(x)}\psi_{\mu}$ where g is the gauge coupling constant. Local U(1) symmetry is then restored by minimally coupling the gravitino with the gauge field A_{μ} (now seen as the gauge field associated with the local U(1) symmetry), hence one promotes the Lorentz-covariant derivative of the gravitino to a Lorentz and gauge-covariant derivative:

$$D_{\mu} \longrightarrow \hat{D}_{\mu} = D_{\mu} - igA_{\mu}, \qquad (2.11)$$

this implies that the gravitino susy rule (2.9) acquires a new O(g) term of the form $\delta \psi_{\mu}^{\text{new}} = \delta \psi_{\mu}^{\text{old}} - iM_p g A_{\mu} \epsilon$, while the other supersymmetry transformations are unchanged.

The action that one gets at this stage is not locally supersymmetric anymore. To restore supersymmetry, one has to add other O(g) and $O(g^2)$ terms in the Lagrangian and further modify the susy rule of the gravitino. For example, the supersymmetry variation of the kinetic term of the gravitino produces a new O(g) term of the form: $igM_p\bar{\epsilon}F_{\mu\nu}\gamma^{\mu\nu\rho}\psi_{\rho}$, which appears as a consequence of the new O(g) variation $\delta\bar{\psi}_{\mu} \sim igM_pA_{\mu}\bar{\epsilon}$, (an integration by parts is also required). This term can be (partially) cancelled by the $\bar{\psi}\psi F$ term cited above, if we further modify the gravitino susy rule as $\delta\psi_{\mu}^{\text{new}} = \delta\psi_{\mu}^{\text{old}} - igM_pA_{\mu}\epsilon + \frac{g}{2}M_p^2\gamma_{\mu}\epsilon$, [41].

This new piece in the gravitino susy rule produces yet new terms when considering the variation of the Lagrangian, for example, from the kinetic term of the gravitino one gets a new O(g) term of the form $gM_p^2 \bar{\psi}_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu\nu\rho} \gamma_{\rho} D_{\nu} \epsilon$, this is trivially removed if one adds to the Lagrangian a mass term for the gravitino of the form³ $\mathscr{L}_m \propto gM_p \bar{\psi}_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu\nu} \psi_{\nu}$, the variation of this piece cancels the above term upon considering $\delta \psi_{\mu} \sim M_p D_{\mu} \epsilon$.

Finally, we arrive at the last relevant piece that one has to add to the Lagrangian, this is the $O(g^2)$ cosmological constant that essentially allows to cancel the $O(g^2)$ variation of the gravitino mass term \mathscr{L}_m obtained by considering $\delta \psi_{\mu} \sim \frac{g}{2} M_p^2 \gamma_{\mu} \epsilon$, so one has to add the following term⁴ $\mathscr{L}' = \sqrt{-g} g^2 M_p^4$. Where the use of the same letter for the gauge coupling constant and the determinant of the metric hopefully does not cause any confusion, given that the latter always appears under a square root.

Remarkably, these modifications are sufficient to restore the invariance under local supersymmetry. Notice that we had to add a cosmological constant term $\Lambda \propto -g^2 M_p^2$ whose sign is *negative and fixed*, hence the background solution of this gauged supergravity theory is AdS_4 .

The fact that the gauging procedure introduces a *negative* cosmological constant is a general fact for gauged suepergravities. For more complicated cases where there are also matter couplings and scalar fields, the mass term \mathscr{L}_m and the cosmological constant will become scalar field dependent, producing a Yukawa-like coupling for ψ_{μ} and a scalar potential, which can be seen as an effective cosmological constant. It turns out that only vacua with negative or vanishing cosmological constant can be compatible with supersymmetry, while generally dS vacua break supersymmetry. The reason for this can be deduced from algebraic considerations (see e.g. [33]). Indeed, once a cosmological constant is introduced the background solution is either AdS or dS spacetime, the isometry group is not Poincaré anymore but SO(1, 4) or SO(2, 3) for dS or AdS in four dimensions. A consistent supersymmetric gravity theory with cosmological constant should then be obtained by promoting the symmetry groups of dS or AdS to supergroups. It turns out that this can be consistently done only for the AdS isometry group SO(2, 3) (in this way, the corresponding superalgebra closes).

These algebraic considerations also help to understand another peculiarity of the gauged theory that we have found above, which is the fact that the gravitino acquires a mass $m_{\psi} \sim gM_p$ while all other states in the supergravity multiplet stay massless. This would not be possible for the super-Poincaré group irreps. (each supermultiplet is degenerate in mass) but in the gauged case we should consider the irreps. of the super-SO(2,3) group. In this case, one finds that the generators of spacetime translation P_a are such that $[P^2, Q] \neq 0$ and moreover, P^2 is not anymore a Casimir of the algebra. This means that the definition of the mass of the

³One can immediately see this by noticing that it holds $\gamma^{\mu\nu\rho}\gamma_{\rho} = -\gamma^{\mu\nu}$.

⁴This term does vary under local supersymmetric transformation as it depends on the metric via its determinant, one can then show that its variation cancels the $O(g^2)$ variation of the gravitino mass term [33].

⁵It is also true that $[P_a, Q] \propto g \neq 0$, this is different from what happens in the super Poincaré group and is needed in order to satisfy the super Jacobi identities [33]. From this, one can show that the super Jacobi identities can be satisfied only for AdS space, using the properties of its isometry group. Moreover, the modification of the P_a , Q commutator is at the origin of the constant $\sim g\gamma_{\mu}\epsilon$ term appearing in the gravitino susy rule, which also makes the mass term \mathcal{L}_m and the cosmological constant appear in the action. This is true also for *Pure* $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4 AdS supergravity, where the g parameter is not a gauge coupling constant. However, if one couples this pure AdS supergravity with suitable supersymmetric matter, as we did above, one would find that one has to make the gravitini become charged under the gauge field, with g becoming the gauge coupling constant [38].

elementary particles in AdS is trickier, and does not need to be degenerate in the supermultiplets.

Finally the *bosonic part* of the action for $\mathcal{N} = 2$, D = 4 pure gauged supergravity relevant for our discussions is given by:

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{M_p^2}{2} R + 3g^2 M_p^4 - \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} \right), \tag{2.12}$$

while the susy transformation of the gravitino is given by:

$$\delta\psi_{\mu} = M_p \Big(D_{\mu} - igA_{\mu} - \frac{g}{2} M_p \gamma_{\mu} \Big) \epsilon - \frac{1}{4} \gamma^{\nu\rho} \gamma_{\mu} F_{\nu\rho} \epsilon + O(\psi^2).$$
(2.13)

In five dimensions, the discussion follows the same. Remember now that there are two symplectic Majorana gravitini carrying an SU(2) index *i*. We can consider the U(1) transformation generated by the σ_3 generator of SU(2) which acts on the gravitini as $\psi_{\mu}^{(1)} \rightarrow e^{ig\alpha(x)}\psi_{\mu}^{(1)}$ and $\psi_{\mu}^{(2)} \rightarrow e^{-ig\alpha(x)}\psi_{\mu}^{(2)}$. The gauging procedure produces similar modifications to the Lagrangian and gravitino susy transformation rule, also in this case a negative cosmological constant appears (see e.g. [42]).

The explicit gravitino susy transformation rule is given by:

$$\delta\psi^{i}_{\mu} = D_{\mu}\epsilon^{i} - i\frac{1}{4\sqrt{3}} \Big(\Gamma^{\nu\rho}_{\mu} - 4\delta^{\nu}_{\mu}\Gamma^{\rho}\Big) F_{\nu\rho}\epsilon^{i} - g\left(\frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}}\Gamma_{\mu} + iA_{\mu}\right)\epsilon^{ij}\epsilon^{j} + O(\psi^{2}), \tag{2.14}$$

remember that ψ^i_μ and ϵ^i are symplectic Majorana spinors, moreover $\epsilon^{ij} = -\epsilon^{ji}$ and $\epsilon^{12} = 1$.

2.3 Coupling pure supergravity to vector multiplets

As we have anticipated in the introduction, we are also interested in supergravity theories where we gauge larger Abelian $U(1)^n$ groups. This cannot be done in pure supergravity as there are not enough vector fields which can play the role of gauge fields. This problem can be solved by coupling the pure supergravity theory with vector multiplets, we are then going to give a rather brief and incomplete overview on this topic, hoping to convey some basic ideas on the structure of this matter coupled supergravities, (more details can be found, for instance, in [33] and [36]).

Let us again stick to D = 4. We want to couple the pure supergravity theory to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplets. In D = 4 these contain a gauge field A_{μ} , two Majorana spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ gaugini λ^i whose *i* index transforms under the R symmetry group, and a complex scalar ϕ . $\mathcal{N} = 2$ matter coupled supergravity necessarily contains scalar fields, it is well known that when scalar fields are present in a generic supersymmetric theory, the properties of such a theory strongly depend on the geometry of the scalar field manifold⁶ \mathcal{M} . The idea is that in a supersymmetric theory the n_s scalars $\{\phi^n\}_{n=1,\dots,n_s}$ can be seen as (complex) coordinates for \mathcal{M} . However, the presence of other fields and the requirement of preserving supersymmetry impose some constraints on \mathcal{M} .

For example, considering the globally supersymmetric $\mathcal{N} = 1$ most general (non-renormalizable) Wess-Zumino model, there are also n_s (Majorana) fermions χ^n in the same multiplet as the scalars, whose susy transformation contains a term like: $\delta \chi_L^n \sim \partial \phi^n \epsilon_R$ and $\delta \chi_R^{\bar{n}} \sim \partial \phi^{\bar{n}} \epsilon_L$, using the notation of [33] we denote $\bar{\phi}^n = \phi^{\bar{n}}$. Supersymmetry relates the left handed component of χ to ϕ and the right handed one to $\phi^{\bar{n}}$, this structure must be preserved by the internal geometry of \mathcal{M} which implies that it should be thought of as a

⁶Thinking at the most general non-renormalizable theory, it is allowed to have non-minimal kinetic terms, e.g. $g_{ij}(\phi)\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}\partial^{\mu}\phi^{j}$, and possibly other kinds of non-minimal couplings between the scalars and other fields. Even without considering supersymmetry, in general non-renormalizable theories for scalar fields (non-linear sigma models) it is natural to view the scalars as coordinates parametrizing a (scalar)manifold \mathcal{M} . This allows to give a geometrical interpretation of the various couplings that one has in the theory. For example, in the non-minimal scalar kinetic term one identifies $g_{ij}(\phi)$ as the metric of the scalar field manifold.

complex manifold, covered by biholomorphic coordinate systems⁷. Other constraints can be deduced from this. For example, by studying the holonomy group of \mathcal{M} and requiring that it does not mix ϕ^n and $\phi^{\bar{n}}$, one can derive that \mathcal{M} must be a *Kähler manifold*.

Oversimplifying it, we may say that in this case the geometry of \mathcal{M} is determined by a *real* function $K(\phi^n, \phi^{\bar{n}})$ called *Kähler potential* (for example the metric on \mathcal{M} is $g_{m\bar{n}} = \partial_m \partial_{\bar{n}} K$), which is invariant under the Kähler transformations: $K \to K + h(\phi^n) + \bar{h}(\phi^{\bar{n}})$. These relate the different expressions of K on different coordinate patches on \mathcal{M} . Notice also that the susy transformation rules of the fermions indicate that they should be thought as tangent vectors on \mathcal{M} , hence one has to covariantize all derivatives of the χ fields with respect to scalar field redefinitions, which adds non minimal couplings between scalars and fermions.

What happens when supersymmetry is made local? Generally new structures and constraints have to be imposed on \mathcal{M} . For example, one can couple the above general non-renormzalizable Wess-Zumino model to the supergravity multiplet by generalizing the Noether procedure discussed previously. Restoring local supersymmetry requires adding many terms to the Lagrangian, together with the metric and the gravitino. One realizes that in this way *all* fermions must transform under Kähler transformations as (e.g. taking the gravitino): $\psi_{\mu} \rightarrow exp \left[\frac{-i}{2M_p} Im(h(\phi))\gamma_5\right] \psi_{\mu}$, this implies that all derivatives of the fermions must be made Kähler covariant. The new terms that appear in the Lagrangian in this way are precisely (part of) those needed to restore local supersymmetry.

Fermions should now be thought of as sections in a principal U(1) bundle over \mathcal{M} , Kähler transformations on them can be seen as the maps that relate the different local definitions of the fermions on different coordinate patches on \mathcal{M} , similarly as happened for the Kahler potential. This additional structure on \mathcal{M} constrains further the geometry of \mathcal{M} which now becomes a so called *Kähler-Hodge* manifold. More details can be found in [33, 36]

Finally, let us consider extended (specifically $\mathcal{N} = 2$) supergravity coupled to matter. Assume that only $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Abelian vector multiplets are involved, in this case, scalars appear in the same multiplet as the vectors. Moreover, the number of vectors does not match the number of scalars as also the supergravity $\mathcal{N} = 2$ multiplet contains a vector, the graviphoton. The field content of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity coupled to n_V vector multiplets is then: $(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi^i_{\mu}, A^I_{\mu}, \lambda^{n,i}, \phi^n)$, where the graviphoton is generally not distinguished from the other n_V vectors. indeed, the *I* index runs from 0 to n_V , while the *n* indices run from 1 to n_V as there are n_V scalars. The *i* index is instead related to the usual $SU(2)_R$ doublets.

In this case, \mathcal{M} turns out to be still a Hodge-Kähler manifold, but of special type, the reason is that once Abelian vector fields are involved (and we have not yet gauged any symmetry), the theory exhibits the phenomenon of electric-magnetic duality. These are a set of symmetries of the *equations of motion plus Bianchi identities* for the vector fields which, if the Lagrangian of the theory is \mathcal{L} , can be written as:

$$\begin{cases} \nabla^{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}}{\partial F^{I \mu \nu}} = 0\\ dF^{I} = 0 \end{cases} \implies \begin{cases} dG_{I} = 0\\ dF^{I} = 0 \end{cases}, \quad \text{where:} \quad \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu \nu \rho \sigma} G_{I}^{\rho \sigma} = 2 \frac{\partial \mathscr{L}}{\partial F^{I \mu \nu}}, \tag{2.15} \end{cases}$$

here we allow for the most general gauge kinetic terms in \mathscr{L} of the form $\mathscr{L}_{vec} \sim \mathcal{P}_{IJ}F^{I}_{\mu\nu}F^{J\mu\nu} + \mathcal{R}_{IJ}F^{I}_{\mu\nu}\tilde{F}^{J\mu\nu} + 2\mathcal{O}^{\mu\nu}_{I}F^{I}_{\mu\nu}F^{I}_{\mu\nu}$, where the matrices \mathcal{P}_{IJ} and \mathcal{R}_{IJ} possibly depend on the scalar fields. Electric-magnetic duality acts as rotations of the following two-component vector:

$$\mathbb{F} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} F^I \\ G_J \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbb{F}' = S\mathbb{F}, \tag{2.16}$$

⁷As chirality is a physical spacetime property, it must be preserved. From the susy transformation rules of the fermions this implies that ϕ^n and $\phi^{\bar{n}}$ should not "mix". Hence, we cannot view \mathcal{M} as a real manifold of dimension $2n_s$, as parametrizing it with real coordinates necessarily requires to mix ϕ^n and $\phi^{\bar{n}}$.

the equations of motion plus the Bianchi identities and the definition of G_J in terms of the F^I field strengths (2.15) are left invariant by any $S \in Sp(2n_V, \mathbb{R})$.

Duality transformations generally *change the Lagrangian* but leave invariant the equations of motion, meaning that they can be seen as a way to describe the same underlying physics with different fields or explicit degrees of freedom⁸. Coming back to supersymmetry, if one uses a different set of gauge fields after a duality transformation, one may expect to also have a different set of scalar fields as they sit in the same multiplet as the vectors. Again, these new scalars would not be different degrees of freedom, but only a different way to describe the original ones given by ϕ^n .

Moreover, there is one more vector than the number of scalars, and also this aspect should be taken into account. The way to deal with this is to mimic what we have done in the \mathbb{F} symplectic vector, and define the following scalar-field dependent symplectic vector \mathcal{V} :

$$\mathcal{V}(\phi) = \begin{bmatrix} X^{I}(\phi) \\ F_{J}(\phi) \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{V}' = S\mathcal{V}, \quad \text{for a symplectic transformation: } S \in Sp(2n_{V} + 2, \mathbb{R}), \qquad (2.17)$$

 $X^{I}(\phi)$ and $F_{J}(\phi)$ are a set of $n_{V} + 1$ auxiliary scalar fields and their duals, which depend on the physical n_{V} scalars ϕ^{n} . The auxiliary fields make it easier to take into account the duality.

For consistency, one finds that $\mathcal{V}(\phi)$ should transform under Kähler transformations $\mathcal{V} \to exp[-h(\phi)]\mathcal{V}$, meaning that $\mathcal{V}(\phi)$ should be thought as a section of a flat holomorphic vector bundle with a symplectic structure group over \mathcal{M} . Moreover, by taking Kähler covariant derivatives of \mathcal{V} one obtains quantities that carry both an I index and an m index, which again transform covariantly under Kähler transformations but also under scalar field reparametrizations. The auxiliary fields and their kähler covariant derivatives can be used to obtain quantities that are simultaneously, duality, Kahler and scalar field redefinition covariant. These are needed to consistently write (for example) the susy transformation rules of the fermions, which are considered invariant under duality transformations, but transform under Kähler and scalars redefinitions.

The structure of \mathcal{M} is now determined from the auxiliary scalar fields⁹. This imposes some other constraints on \mathcal{M} which now becomes a local (or "projective") special Kähler manifold¹⁰.

The main message that we want to convey is the importance of the scalar field manifold in matter coupled supergravity theories, and the need to use the auxiliary scalar fields X once extended, matter-coupled supergravities are taken into account. In practice, however, we will always work in a *fixed symplectic frame* where all the physical degrees of freedom are described by the F^{I} field strengths and $X^{I}(\phi)$ auxiliary scalars¹¹. Finally, having more vector fields at our disposal allows us to gauge a larger global symmetry group.

The considerations above can be repeated also in the five-dimensional theories, but in this case the structure of the scalar manifold is drastically different. The reason is that the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplet in this case contains a *real* scalar field ϕ instead of a complex field. Moreover, the two spin $-\frac{1}{2}$ fields are now symplectic Majorana spinors. Again, scalars and vectors are in the same multiplets, this implies that the properties of \mathcal{M} can be described by $n_V + 1$ *real* auxiliary scalars $X^I(\phi)$, in particular \mathcal{M} is given as the hypersurface in the auxiliary \mathbb{R}^{n_V+1} space parametrized by the X^I , defined via the constraint:

$$\mathcal{M} = \{ X^{I} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_{V}+1} | C_{IJK} X^{I} X^{J} X^{K} = 1 \},$$
(2.18)

⁸For example, one may use only the electric field strengths F^{I} as is usually done, only the magnetic G_{J} ones or a combination of both.

⁹ for example K is determined in a symplectic invariant way in terms of \mathcal{V}

 $^{^{10}}$ "projective" refers to the fact that we have to use the X auxiliary scalars, which provide a redundant description being the physical scalars one less in number.

¹¹In this case X^{I} can be viewed as simple functions of the scalars, so we may as well write the actions in terms of only the physical scalars ϕ , knowing that under a duality transformation the explicit expression of the action may change.

where the C_{IJK} constants define the Chern-Simons term $C_{IJK}F^I \wedge F^J \wedge A^K$. One finds that the C_{IJK} constants completely determine the structure of the supergravity theory in this case.

It is a general fact that in different dimensions and in different \mathcal{N} -extended supergravities, the scalar field manifold may be completely different. This happens even when considering scalar fields in different multiplets, for example, the scalars in the four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ hypermultiplets (generalizing the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ chiral multiplets), would produce a completely different scalar field manifold \mathcal{M}_{hyper} with respect to the one associated with the scalars in the vector multiplets.

For the explicit actions of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, D = 5 ungauged and gauged supergravity coupled to n_V Abelian vector fields See [42, 43].

2.4 Supersymmetric, extremal and BPS black hole solutions in gauged supergravities

When discussing black hole solutions in supergravity theories, one usually set to zero all fermionic fields in the action. This allows to simplify a lot the equations of motion, which can be solved more easily. Doing this, the four and five dimensional pure $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged supergravity reduces to the Maxwell-Einstein theory with a cosmological constant (and Chern-Simons term in five dimensions).

Clearly, the general black hole solutions of these bosonic theories do not preserve supersymmetry, as the supersymmetric transformations would make non-zero fermionic fields appear. The standard way to restore at least part of the original supersymmetry in the above black hole solutions, is to require that there exists (at least one) killing spinor ϵ [39, 44, 45, 46]. A killing spinor is a spinorial field that satisfies the equation $\delta_{susy}\psi_{\mu}|_{\psi=0} = \hat{\nabla}_{\mu}\epsilon = 0$, which for the pure gauged supergravities described above is simply given by setting to zero Eqs. (2.13, 2.14). If matter is present, one should require that also the susy transformation rule for all the fermions vanishes (see e.g. [47]). To fully restore the original supersymmetry, one would need more than one independent killing spinor, but generally one is able to restore only a fraction of it¹², for example, in D = 5 gauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity the only solution that is maximally supersymmetric is empty AdS_5 spacetime [44].

Requiring the existence of at least one killing spinor imposes some constraints on the parameters of the solution, which usually arise from an *integrability condition* derived from the killing spinor equation [44, 48], this is a necessary but not sufficient condition. As an example, in D = 4 it is given by $[\hat{\nabla}_{\mu}, \hat{\nabla}_{\nu}]\epsilon = \mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu}\epsilon = 0$, where $\mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu}$ is called supercurvature, and one has to require that its determinant vanishes ($\mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu}$ is a 4 × 4 matrix in spinor space).

A different but equivalent way to derive the conditions that allow to restore supersymmetry, is to study the Bogomol'nyi matrix obtained from the anticommutator of the supercharges¹³ Q evaluated on the given solution, and in particular requiring that it admits at least one vanishing eigenvalue, from similar considerations as in footnote **12** each vanishing eigenvalue allows to restore a fraction (1/4 in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ case) of the original supersymmetry [11, 49]. The supersymmetric condition that is obtained in this way is a constraint on the conserved charges, but is equivalent to the one that is obtained from the integrability condition of the killing

¹²Remember that in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories above, there are eight *real* supercharges that can be organized in four couples of operators that rise/lower the spin of a state in the supermultiplet. Requiring that one killing spinor exists can naively be seen as requiring that one of the four couples of real supercharges acts trivially on the fermions *in the specific solution considered*, so that once we set the fermions to 0 they do not appear under the action of this restricted set of supercharges. In this way we restore one quarter of the original supersymmetry per independent killing spinor .

¹³This is related to the integrability condition $[\hat{\nabla}_{\mu}, \hat{\nabla}_{\nu}]\epsilon = 0$. To see this, notice that the latter is essentially $[\delta_{\epsilon_1}, \delta_{\epsilon_2}]\psi_{\mu} = 0$, then one can interpret the gravitino ψ_{μ} as the *gauge field* associated with the gauging of the supersymmetry parameters. This allows to derive the gravitino susy transformation rule from purely algebraic considerations interpreting the supergravity theory as a sort of Yang-Mills theory [33]. It is a general feature of Yang-Mills theories that $[\delta_{\epsilon_1}, \delta_{\epsilon_2}]\psi_{\mu} = \delta_{[\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2]}\psi_{\mu}$, the latter is the transformation of the gravitino under the element $[\epsilon_1 Q, \epsilon_2 Q]$ of the given superalgebra, which is related to the anticommutator of the supercharges.

spinor, which is instead a constraint on the parameters of the solution.

An important point has to be made now. If one simply imposes the supersymmetry conditions described above, either requiring the existence of a killing spinor or vanishing of the eigenvalues of the Bogomol'nyi matrix, one gets a (partially) supersymmetric solution, which however, is generally a not well-behaved black hole solution. For example, if one considers the Lorentzian solution, one usually finds that the supersymmetric solution has a naked singularity or causal pathologies such as closed timelike curves outside of the event horizon [11], a different kind of problem arises in the Euclidean supersymmetric solution [8].

To regulate these pathologies, one has to further constrain the solution, for example, requiring the absence of closed timelike curves or of naked singularities will produce an additional constraint. Remarkably, the well behaved solution obtained in this way is also *extremal*. In the cases we are going to study we will always find that supersymmetric but not yet extremal solutions have naked singularities, requiring that an event horizon exists will always imply that the solution is also extremal, and in particular that the function determining the position of the horizons has a double root.

Chapter 3

Asymptotically AdS_5 black holes in 5D, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged supergravity

In this chapter, we will discuss in detail the results that we anticipated in the introduction. We are going to consider asymptotically AdS_5 rotating and electrically charged black hole solutions of 5D, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ minimal gauged and $U(1)^3$ gauged supergravity also known as STU model. The former can be thought of as a special case of the second one where we set the three gauge fields equal and the scalar fields to suitable constant values [50].

As anticipated in the introduction, this supergravity theory can be obtained as a consistent truncation on S^5 of type IIB supergravity on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ background to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry [4], in this way the original SO(6) isometry group of S^5 is reduced to its Cartan subgroup $U(1)^3$, which is the gauge group of the supergravity theory we consider. By means of the AdS_5/CFT_4 correspondence, this supergravity is dual to a $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM field theory [2], if black holes are involved, the duality correlates the thermodynamics of the black hole and the dual field theory [51, 52, 53].

The generic black hole solution admits six independent conserved charges: two angular momenta associated with the two independent rotations along two orthogonal spatial planes¹, three electric charges associated with the $U(1)^3$ gauge group and the energy (or mass). We will directly consider the solution with one electric charge and two angular momenta [54] of minimal gauged supergravity, and the solution with one angular momentum and three electric charges [50] of the $U(1)^3$ gauged supergravity. Other non-extremal black hole solutions of this theory with different combinations of charges can be found in [55, 56, 57].

3.1 Review of the double spinning charged AdS_5 black hole solution

3.1.1 Review of the general non extremal and non supersymmetric solution

Following the conventions of [8] with non canonically normalized gauge kinetic term, the bosonic sector of minimal 5D gauged supergravity contains the metric and the graviphoton A, gauging the R symmetry group, the Lagrangian is given by [42, 43]:

$$\mathcal{L} = (R+12g^2) \star 1 - \frac{2}{3g^2}F \wedge \star F + \frac{8}{27g^3}F \wedge F \wedge A, \tag{3.1}$$

¹we are considering asymptotically AdS_5 spacetimes meaning that the asymptotic isometries are given by the SO(2, 4) group, rotations are generated by the subgroup SO(4) which admits two commuting U(1) rotations.

where g > 0 is related to the cosmological constant and it is the inverse of the AdS radius. The general (non extremal) asymptotically AdS black hole solution with two unequal angular momenta was first found in [54], in the conventions of [8] the solution is:

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{\Delta_{\theta}[(1+g^{2}r^{2})\rho^{2}dt + 2q\nu]dt}{\Xi_{a}\Xi_{b}\rho^{2}} + \frac{2q\,\nu\omega}{\rho^{2}} + \frac{f}{\rho^{4}} \Big(\frac{\Delta_{\theta}}{\Xi_{a}\Xi_{b}}dt - \omega\Big)^{2} + \frac{\rho^{2}}{\Delta_{r}}dr^{2} + \frac{\rho^{2}}{\Delta_{\theta}}d\theta^{2} + \frac{r^{2} + a^{2}}{\Xi_{a}}\sin^{2}\theta\,d\phi^{2} + \frac{r^{2} + b^{2}}{\Xi_{b}}\cos^{2}\theta\,d\psi^{2},$$
(3.2)

$$A = \frac{3gq}{2\rho^2} \left(\frac{\Delta_{\theta}}{\Xi_a \Xi_b} dt - \omega \right) + \alpha dt, \tag{3.3}$$

where:

$$\Delta_{r} = \frac{(r^{2} + a^{2})(r^{2} + b^{2})(1 + g^{2}r^{2}) + q^{2} + 2abq}{r^{2}} - 2m,$$

$$\Delta_{\theta} = 1 - a^{2}g^{2}\cos^{2}\theta - b^{2}g^{2}\sin^{2}\theta, \qquad \rho^{2} = r^{2} + a^{2}\cos^{2}\theta + b^{2}\sin^{2}\theta,$$

$$\Xi_{a} = 1 - a^{2}g^{2}, \qquad \Xi_{b} = 1 - g^{2}g^{2}, \qquad f = 2m\rho^{2} - q^{2} + 2abqg^{2}\rho^{2},$$

$$\nu = b\sin^{2}\theta \,d\phi + a\cos^{2}\theta \,d\psi, \qquad \omega = \frac{a\sin^{2}\theta}{\Xi_{a}} \,d\phi + \frac{b\cos^{2}\theta}{\Xi_{b}}d\psi.$$
(3.4)

The explicit components of the metric can be found in [54], we allow for different gauge choices for the A field parametrized by the α parameter [8]. The solution is given in terms of Boyer-Lindquist type coordinates $(t, r, \theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}], \phi \sim \phi + 2\pi, \psi \sim \psi + 2\pi)$ which are not rotating at infinity², and depends on the four parameters (a, b, q, m), which must satisfy $a^2g^2 < 1, b^2g^2 < 1$ to avoid faster than light speed rotations of the 4D Einstein universe on the $r \to \infty$ boundary where the dual CFT lives [52, 53].

Thermodynamics

The solution above admits four conserved charges associated with the three killing vectors $(\partial_t \to E, \partial_\phi \to J_1, \partial_\psi \to J_2)$ and one electric charge Q. The angular momenta and the electric charge can be unambiguously evaluated by using the appropriate Komar integrals [54]. Following the conventions of [8], these quantities are given by:

$$J_1 = \frac{\pi [2am + qb(1 + a^2g^2)]}{4\Xi_a^2 \Xi_b}, \qquad J_2 = \frac{\pi [2bm + qa(1 + b^2g^2)]}{4\Xi_a \Xi_b^2}, \qquad Q = \frac{\pi q}{2g\Xi_a \Xi_b}, \qquad (3.5)$$

the calculation of the conserved energy/mass is more subtle due to the appearance of IR divergences caused by the infinite volume of the AdS_5 background, these can be removed via different procedures (background subtraction method [52], holographic renormalization [53, 58]). In our case, the conserved energy has been calculated by integrating the first law of BH thermodynamics [59]: $dE = TdS + \Omega_1 dJ_1 + \Omega_2 dJ_2 + \Phi dQ$, where the temperature, entropy, and angular/electric potentials will be defined momentarily³, the expression for the energy that one obtains in this way is:

$$E = \frac{m\pi(2\Xi_a + 2\Xi_b - \Xi_a\Xi_b) + 2\pi qabg^2(\Xi_a + \Xi_b)}{4\Xi_a^2 \Xi_b^2}.$$
(3.6)

²Taking the large *r* limit of the metric (**3.3**), one finds [8]: $ds^2 \approx \frac{dr^2}{r^2} + r^2(-\frac{\Delta_{\theta}}{\Xi_a \Xi_b}dt^2 + \frac{d\theta^2}{\Delta_{\theta}} + \frac{\sin^2 \theta}{\Xi_a}d\phi^2 + \frac{\cos^2 \theta}{\Xi_b}d\psi^2)$, which can be shown to be the metric of AdS_5 as seen by a non rotating observer, in non-standard coordinates [52].

³The conserved mass has also been obtained [60] from the integration of a conserved quantity Q[K], associated with the asymptotic killing vector $K = \partial_t$, where Q[K] is obtained following the AMD construction from the asymptotic Weyl tensor on the conformal boundary of the spacetime, and also more recently [8] via holographic renormalization which makes use of the boundary stress-energy tensor. This provides a connection between the "thermodynamic" definition of the mass and its definition as the conserved charge associated with an isometry of the spacetime.

The other quantities are expressed in terms of the outer horizon radius r_+ , which is the largest real root of $\Delta_r(r)$. The Killing vector that vanishes on the horizon is $V = \partial_t + \Omega_1 \partial_\phi + \Omega_2 \partial_\psi$, where the two angular velocities relative to a non rotating frame at infinity are given by:

$$\Omega_1 = \frac{a(r_+^2 + b^2)(1 + g^2 r_+^2) + bq}{(r_+^2 + a^2)(r_+^2 + b^2) + abq}, \qquad \Omega_2 = \frac{b(r_+^2 + b^2)(1 + g^2 r_+^2) + aq}{(r_+^2 + a^2)(r_+^2 + b^2) + abq},$$
(3.7)

the Hawking temperature, proportional to the surface gravity is:

$$T = \frac{r_{+}^{4}[1 + g^{2}(2r_{+}^{2} + a^{2} + b^{2})] - (ab + q)^{2}}{2\pi r_{+}[(r_{+}^{2} + a^{2})(r_{+}^{2} + b^{2}) + abq]},$$
(3.8)

the electrostatic potential on the horizon is:

$$\Phi = V^{\mu} A_{\mu} \Big|_{\infty}^{r_{+}} = \frac{3gqr_{+}^{2}}{2[(r_{+}^{2} + a^{2})(r_{+}^{2} + b^{2}) + abq]},$$
(3.9)

finally the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the outer horizon is:

$$S = \frac{\pi^2 [(r_+^2 + a^2)(r_+^2 + b^2) + abq]}{2\Xi_a \Xi_b r_+}.$$
(3.10)

These quantities obey the first law of thermodynamics by construction

$$dE = T \, dS + \Omega_1 \, dJ_1 + \Omega_2 \, dJ_2 + \Phi \, dQ, \tag{3.11}$$

the fact that we can integrate the first law to get the energy depends crucially on the definition of S as one quarter of the area of the outer horizon⁴.

Finally, one can define a grand-canonical potential TI for the thermal ensemble at fixed chemical potentials, from the principles of Euclidean quantum gravity this is calculated from the Euclidean on-shell action I [61].

The Euclidean on-shell action I should be evaluated on the *regular* Euclidean section from r_+ to infinity, where the metric should be kept *real* and *positive definite*. Following [8, 60], this can be achieved by first performing the Wick rotation $t \rightarrow -i\tau$, then the additional analytic continuation⁵ $a, b \rightarrow ia, ib$ allows to recover a real Euclidean metric, the m, q parameters remain real.

Regularity can be achieved by studying the near horizon Euclidean metric which, from [8, 54], is:

$$ds_5^2 \approx \frac{4\rho^2}{\Delta_r'} \left[dR^2 + R^2 \left(\frac{2\pi}{\beta}\right)^2 d\tau^2 \right] + \frac{\rho^2}{\Delta_\theta} d\theta^2 + g_{\phi\phi} (d\phi + i\Omega_1 d\tau)^2 + g_{\psi\psi} (d\psi + i\Omega_2 d\tau)^2 + 2g_{\phi\psi} (d\phi + i\Omega_1 d\tau) (d\psi + i\Omega_2 d\tau),$$
(3.12)

where $R^2 = r - r_+$, and notice that after the analytic continuation of the (a, b) parameters, $i\Omega_i$ are real.

 (R, τ) parametrize an \mathbb{R}^2 plane in polar coordinates, and the spacetime comes to an end on the horizon at the origin of this plane at R = 0. A conical singularity at R = 0 is avoided if one performs the standard thermal identifications $\tau \sim \tau + \beta$. Moreover, the presence of rotation, and of the mixed $dtd\phi$ and $dtd\psi$ terms requires

⁴Other definitions of S as a monotonically increasing function of A would not produce a closed differential on the RHS of Eq. (3.11), which would not be exact either.

⁵After the wick rotation, the $dtd\phi$ and $dtd\psi$ terms in the metric become imaginary, by making also a, b imaginary one recovers a real Euclidean metric. Notice that as m, q remain real, the gauge field necessarily remains imaginary in Euclidean signature.

us to impose the following identifications [61], when one goes around the Euclidean time circle:

$$(\tau, \phi, \psi) \sim (\tau + \beta, \phi - i\Omega_1\beta, \psi - i\beta\Omega_2).$$
 (3.13)

A regularity condition also has to be imposed on the gauge field. As the Euclidean time circle shrinks to a point at R = 0 one has to require that the component of the gauge field along the direction that shrinks vanishes. However, it is not sufficient to require that $\iota_{\partial_t} A \big|_{r \to r_+} = 0$ because when one goes around the time circle, one also moves along the (ϕ, ψ) directions due to rotation.

To see what the correct regularity condition is, one can introduce the coordinates [8]:

$$\tau = \hat{\tau}, \qquad \phi = \hat{\phi} - i\Omega_1 \hat{\tau}, \qquad \psi = \hat{\psi} - i\Omega_2 \hat{\tau}, \tag{3.14}$$

in this way, the mixed ϕ , ψ/t terms in the near horizon metric (3.12) disappear, and the regularity conditions that one has to impose are the standard "untwisted" identifications: $(\hat{\tau}, \hat{\phi}, \hat{\psi}) \sim (\hat{\tau} + \beta, \hat{\phi}, \hat{\psi})$.

A rotation along the Euclidean time circle is now not accompanied by rotations along the $\hat{\phi}, \hat{\psi}$ directions in the near horizon limit, hence the regularity condition for the gauge field is: $\iota_{\partial_{\hat{\tau}}}A|_{r\to r_+} = \iota_V A|_{r\to r_+} = 0$, where one can easily see that the killing vector V that vanishes on the horizon is simply $V = i\partial_{\hat{\tau}}$ in these coordinates.

It is easy to see that this condition on the gauge field can be implemented by performing a gauge transformation and fixing the α parameter in Eq. (3.3) as [8, 61]:

$$\iota_V A \Big|_{r \to r_\perp} = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \alpha = -\Phi. \tag{3.15}$$

From the real, positive definite metric on the regular Euclidean section outside the horizon, one computes the on-shell action, which provides the semiclassical approximation of the full quantum gravity theory, and in particular of the *grand-canonical* partition function⁶ $\mathcal{Z} = e^{-I}$. It then follows that TI can be considered as the grand-canonical potential.

The calculation of the Euclidean on-shell action was first performed by [60], who removed the long range divergences appearing in the calculation of the integral using the background subtraction method.

The result they found was:

$$I = \frac{\pi\beta}{4\Xi_a \Xi_b} \left[m - g^2 (r_+^2 + a^2) (r_+^2 + b^2) - \frac{q^2 r_+^2}{(r_+^2 + a^2) (r_+^2 + b^2) + abq} \right],$$
(3.16)

and one can show using Eqs. (3.5) to (3.10) that the quantum statistical relation (QSR) is satisfied in the form:

$$TI = E - S - \Omega_1 J_1 - \Omega_2 J_2 - \Phi Q, \qquad (3.17)$$

justifying that TI is indeed the grand-canonical potential.

As a final remark, remember that the angular velocities and the electrostatic potential *relevant for the thermodynamics*, must be considered relatively to the observer at infinity [53, 59]. The metric (3.3) is non rotating at infinity, so the angular velocities of the horizon in Eqs. (3.7) are already the ones entering the thermodynamics.

⁶The thermal identifications (3.13) imply that a Euclidean QFT on this geometry describes thermal states at finite T and $\Omega_{1,2}$. To see why we also have a fixed electrostatic potential Φ one should look at the transformation properties of charged correlators when $\tau \rightarrow \tau + \beta$. However, as the graviphoton and the graviton are both neutral, these transformation properties do not appear on the metric or the gauge field. Alternatively, one notices that the regularity condition implies that $\alpha = -\Phi$ meaning that any matter outside the horizon is immersed in the same electric potential as the black hole. Moreover, the boundary gauge filed reads $A_{bdry} = i\Phi dt$, meaning that the thermodynamics of the black hole should be matched to one of the dual CFT at fixed electrostatic potential.

3.1.2 Supersymmetry and BPS solutions

Following the discussion in Sec. 2.4, to restore at least part of the supersymmetry, one has to impose additional constraints on the parameters of the theory. In particular, on supersymmetric solutions one has to impose that a solution of the killing spinor equation $\delta_{susy}\psi_{\mu} = 0$ exists [44]. In this case, it turns out that the solution admits one killing spinor, hence restoring one quarter of the total supersymmetry, if the parameters satisfy the constraint:

$$q = \frac{m}{1 + ag + bg},\tag{3.18}$$

the same condition was obtained in [54] following the discussion of [11], by requiring that the Bogomol'nyi matrix evaluated on the solution admits at least one vanishing eigenvalue, for this solution only one eigenvalue can be set to zero at a time (other cases are related by changing the signs of the parameters), this produces the following constraint on the conserved charges (which can be shown to be the same as Eq. (3.18)):

$$E - gJ_1 - gJ_2 - \frac{3}{2}gQ = 0, (3.19)$$

Purely supersymmetric solutions are in general non physical due to the appearance of closed timelike curves (CTCs) [11, 54] and naked singularities in the Lorentzian solution or, if one passes to Euclidean signature, because one needs to consider a complexified family of solutions characterized by a complex value of the charges and potentials (See [8] in particular Sec.**3.1** and appendix A). Either requiring the absence of CTCs and naked singularities in the Lorentzian solution, or to have a real value for the charges and chemical potentials in the Euclidean case, one must impose the additional constraints on the parameters

$$m = \frac{1}{g}(a+b)(1+ag)(1+bg)(1+ag+bg),$$
(3.20)

$$a+b+abg>0, (3.21)$$

the solution that one gets in this way can be shown to be also *extremal*. We will refer to "BPS" solution as the one for which both *supersymmetry* and *extremality* are realized.

BPS solutions have a fixed value of all the chemical potentials⁷:

$$\beta \to \infty, \qquad \Omega_1 \to \Omega_1^* = g, \qquad \Omega_2 \to \Omega_2^* = g, \qquad \Phi \to \Phi^* = \frac{3}{2}g.$$
 (3.22)

The condition $\Delta_r(r) = 0$ can now be easily solved and gives as largest root:

$$r_{\star} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{g}(a+b+abg)},\tag{3.23}$$

0

which is real due to Eq. (3.21), the conserved charges and entropy then reads:

$$J_{1}^{\star} = \frac{\pi(a+b)(2a+b+abg)}{4g(1-ag)^{2}(1-bg)}, \qquad J_{2}^{\star} = \frac{\pi(a+b)(a+2b+abg)}{4g(1-ag)(1-bg)^{2}}, \qquad Q^{\star} = \frac{\pi(a+b)}{2g^{2}(1-ag)(1-bg)},$$
(3.24)

$$S^{\star} = \frac{\pi^2 (a+b) r_{\star}}{2g(1-ag)(1-bg)} = \pi \sqrt{3(Q^{\star})^2 - \frac{\pi}{g^3}(J_1^{\star} + J_2^{\star})},$$
(3.25)

the energy can be obtained from the supersymmetry condition on the charges Eq. (3.19), while the other three charges are not all independent, remember that the BPS solution has only two free parameters left, hence only

⁷In the BPS solution we only impose two conditions on the parameters (**3.18, 3.20**), so one may expect that only two chemical potentials are fixed. However, a consistent BPS partition function can be obtained only via a specific limit of all chemical potentials, which enforces the constraint (**3.19**) and allows to have states with non-zero statistical weight despite $\beta \rightarrow \infty$ [62].

two charges are independent. Indeed, a non-linear relation for the conserved charges can be found and is given by:

$$(Q^{\star})^3 + \frac{2\pi}{g^3} J_1^{\star} J_2^{\star} = \left(3Q^{\star} + \frac{\pi}{2g^3}\right) \left(3(Q^{\star})^2 - \frac{\pi}{g^3}(J_1^{\star} + J_2^{\star})\right),\tag{3.26}$$

as anticipated in the introduction, this condition will turn out to be equivalent to the area product formula, when considered in the BPS limit. In anticipation of the explicit check of this fact, notice that in the RHS of Eq. (3.26) appears the BPS entropy squared $(S^*)^2$. We will return to this important point later.

3.1.3 BPS limit of black hole thermodynamics

In this section, we will give a review on how to get a consistent BPS thermodynamics, using the complexified family of supersymmetric and Euclidean solutions introduced by [8]. As anticipated in the introduction, this will also provide the basis to *derive* the extremization principle.

As a starting point, notice that the temperature vanishes and $\beta \to \infty$ in BPS solutions due to extremality. This makes quantities like I (3.16) diverge making the thermodynamics in the BPS solution apparently illdefined. Notice however, that the grand-potential TI should remain finite, suggesting that it is possible to define a consistent thermodynamics in the extremal limit, where a quantum statistical relation should still hold.

However, remember that BPS solutions also require to impose supersymmetry. This makes all the chemical potentials take a fixed value in the BPS solution (**3.22**). This means that if we want to study the grand-canonical thermal ensemble for the BPS black hole, we cannot use the chemical potentials (**3.22**) as thermodynamic variables.

A possible solution for these problems, and especially for the triviality of the chemical potentials (3.22), has been explored by some authors [8, 62]. The key idea is to consider the BPS solution via a *limiting* procedure along a specific trajectory in the parameter space, this is usually chosen to be non extremal so that to avoid the divergence of β but preserving one of the two conditions which define the BPS solution. For example [8] considered a trajectory preserving supersymmetry, while [62] considered a trajectory preserving the condition $q = q_{\star}$ (3.18), parametrized via a parameter μ such that $m = m_{\star} + \mu$, so that the BPS solution is obtained in the $\mu \rightarrow 0$ limit (q_{\star} and m_{\star} are the BPS parameters obtained by (3.18, 3.20)). As was pointed out in [8] there are actually infinite possible trajectories that one can consider, because the BPS solution is obtained by imposing two independent conditions.

By doing things carefully, one is able to define a non trivial thermodynamics for the BPS solution in this limit, and particularly to define some modified chemical potentials that remain non-trivial in the BPS limit, this also allows to remove any possible divergences caused by β .

As anticipated, we will follow [8]. We first need to consider supersymmetry alone, which means that we must impose the constraint, setting g = 1:

$$q = \frac{m}{1+a+b},\tag{3.27}$$

it is convenient to parametrize the supersymmetric trajectory using as a parameter the outer horizon radius r_+ , this can be done by trading m with r_+ using Eq. (3.60), obtaining a relation $m = m(r_+)$, inserting this relation in the supersymmetric constraint (3.27) one gets a quadratic equation in q with solutions:

$$q = -ab + (1 + a + b)r_{+}^{2} \pm ir_{+}(r_{+}^{2} - r^{\star 2}), \qquad (3.28)$$

remember that $r_{\star}^2 = a + b + ab$, is the BPS value of the outer horizon radius.

In [8] it was chosen to keep r_+ positive and real, then one must necessarily promote q to a complex pa-

rameter, unless one is exactly considering the BPS solution⁸ $r_+ = r^*$. This happens because in the pure supersymmetric case, positive real solutions of the $\Delta_r = 0$ condition do not exist, and hence there is not an outer horizon. This will be explicitly checked later.

A complex q (but also m) parameter implies that also the metric and the gauge field are complex, so effectively one is considering a complexified family of solutions parametrized by the real parameter r_+ . This would not be allowed in Lorentzian signature, however, one finds that these solutions formally satisfy the requirement of preserving supersymmetry (a killing spinor exists also in this complexified background) provided that one rotates to Euclidean signature [8]. These solutions are clearly unphysical, as one realizes by considering the Lorentzian solution, but are nevertheless useful as they reduce to the physical BPS solution in the $r_+ \rightarrow r^*$ limit, in such a way that one is able to obtain a consistent thermodynamics in the limit. Moreover, some relevant quantities will take a particularly simple form if supersymmetry is first imposed.

Moving on, the next step is to rewrite the chemical potentials and the conserved charges of the supersymmetric solution in terms of the (a, b, r_+) parameters:

$$\Omega_{1} = \frac{(1 \pm ir_{+})(r^{*2} \mp iar_{+})}{(a \pm ir_{+})(r^{*2} \mp ir_{+})}, \qquad \Omega_{2} = \frac{(1 \pm ir_{+})(r^{*2} \mp ibr_{+})}{(b \pm ir_{+})(r^{*2} \mp ir_{+})}, \qquad \Phi = \frac{3}{2} \frac{r_{+}(r_{+} \mp i)}{r^{*2} \mp ir_{+}},$$

$$T = \frac{(r^{*2} - r_{+}^{2})[2(1 + a + b)r_{+} \mp i(r^{*2} - 3r_{+}^{2})]}{-2\pi(a \pm ir_{-})(b \pm ir_{-})(r^{*2} \mp ir_{-})}, \qquad (3.29)$$

the supersymmetric chemical potentials of the outer horizon are now complex, the sign ambiguity is related to the one in Eq. (3.28). When $r_+ \rightarrow r^*$, the chemical potentials become real and take the fixed values (3.22).

Similarly, the conserved charges and entropy take the form:

$$J_{1} = \frac{\pi (2a+b+ab)}{4(1-a)(1-a^{2})(1-b^{2})} \left[-ab + (1+a+b)r_{+}^{2} \mp ir_{+}(r^{\star 2}-r_{+}^{2}) \right],$$

$$J_{2} = \frac{\pi (a+2b+ab)}{4(1-b)(1-a^{2})(1-b^{2})} \left[-ab + (1+a+b)r_{+}^{2} \mp ir_{+}(r^{\star 2}-r_{+}^{2}) \right],$$

$$Q = \frac{\pi}{2(1-a^{2})(1-b^{2})} \left[-ab + (1+a+b)r_{+}^{2} \mp ir_{+}(r^{\star 2}-r_{+}^{2}) \right],$$

$$E = J_{1} + J_{2} + \frac{3}{2}Q, \qquad S = \frac{\pi^{2}(a\pm ir_{+})(b\pm ir_{+})(\mp ir^{\star 2}-r_{+})}{2(1-a^{2})(1-b^{2})}, \qquad (3.30)$$

again, the charges are complex unless $r_+ = r^*$ in this case they take the BPS value (3.24).

Finally, one can show that the chemical potentials in Eqs. (3.29) satisfy the following constraint:

$$\beta(1+\Omega_1+\Omega_2-2\Phi) = \mp 2\pi i, \tag{3.31}$$

this is one of the results anticipated in the introduction (1.1).

Eq. (3.31) is a consequence of the fact that we are reducing the number of independent parameters by imposing the supersymmetry constraint (3.27), this is also reflected in the chemical potentials, which are not all independent. The same is true for the charges Eq. (3.19). If one chooses different trajectories that satisfy different conditions one would still find some conditions that would be different from (3.31, 3.19) (see [8]).

Condition (3.31) appears frequently in the discussion of supersymmetric black holes, and in [8] it was shown to be related to a regularity condition of the killing spinor near the outer horizon in Euclidean signature.

⁸As we are using r_+ as parameter for the supersymmetric trajectory, then in the limit $r_+ \rightarrow r^*$ one obtains the BPS solution where all physical quantities *must be real*.

New chemical potentials

We have not solved the problem of finding a set of suitable chemical potentials, that allows to non-trivially describe the thermodynamics in the BPS limit, yet.

Following [8, 62], these quantities are given by:

$$\omega_1 = \beta(\Omega_1 - \Omega_1^*), \qquad \omega_2 = \beta(\Omega_2 - \Omega_2^*), \qquad \phi = \beta(\Phi - \Phi^*),$$
$$\omega_1 + \omega_2 - 2\phi = \pm 2\pi i. \tag{3.32}$$

one can explicitly check that, in the BPS limit $r_+ \to r^*$ equivalent to $T \to 0$, the quantities in Eq. (3.32) take a non-trivial value in terms of the parameters (a, b)⁹:

$$\omega_i^*(a,b) = \lim_{r_+ \to r^*} \omega_i(r_+, a, b), \qquad \phi^*(a,b) = \lim_{r_+ \to r^*} \phi(r_+, a, b), \qquad \omega_1^* + \omega_2^* - 2\phi^* = \pm 2\pi i, \qquad (3.33)$$

the explicit expressions are not important and can be found in [8].

Remarkably, using the new variables (3.32) the supersymmetric Euclidean on-shell action I can be rewritten as:

$$I = \frac{2\pi}{27} \frac{\phi^3}{\omega_1 \omega_2},\tag{3.34}$$

this is the supersymmetric Euclidean on-shell action appearing in the entropy function (1.2).

The rather simple and *homogeneous* expression (3.34) is a peculiarity of having chosen to preserve supersymmetry. If instead one considers a different trajectory to define the BPS limit, one would generally get a more complicated expression for the Euclidean action I which cannot be easily rewritten in terms of the variables (ω_i, ϕ) , this will turn out to be very important later.

In terms of the new variables (3.33), the QSR can be rewritten as follows:

$$I = -S - \omega_1 J_1 - \omega_2 J_2 - \phi Q.$$
(3.35)

Notice that the dependence on β has disappeared, and one can safely take the extremal limit $T \rightarrow 0$ in the above quantities. Moreover, in this limit, the quantities (3.32) take a non-trivial value in terms of the (a, b) parameters, which means that we can obtain a well defined and non-trivial BPS on-shell action I and QSR. Essentially Eqs. (3.34, 3.35) still holds when considering the "star" BPS quantities.

It has been argued in [8] that the quantities in Eq. (3.33) can be interpreted as the chemical potentials associated with the J_i , Q charges, once β is interpreted as the conjugate variable to the charge associated with the supersymmetric Hamiltonian $\{Q, \bar{Q}\} = E - J_1 - J_2 - \frac{3}{2}Q$.

This interpretation can be demonstrated by performing the extremization principle, which consists in evaluating the Legendre transform of the action I (which is interpreted as the grand-potential) with respect to the $(\omega_i \phi)$ variables, in order to obtain the entropy as a function of the charges $S(J_i, Q)$. This can formally be done without taking the BPS limit, which instead can be *derived* by imposing reality of the relevant physical quantities, such as the entropy and the charges¹⁰.

In practice, one needs to remember that the chemical potentials, both in the supersymmetric and not extremal and in the BPS solution, are not independent but satisfy the constraint (3.33) meaning that they cannot be varied independently. To solve the problem, one can either parametrize (ω_i, ϕ) in terms of three auxiliary

⁹From their definition, it is easy to realize that (ω_i^*, ϕ^*) are the sub-leading order terms in the expansion of the chemical potentials (Ω_i, Φ) around the BPS value $\Omega = \Omega_i^* + \frac{1}{\beta}\omega_i^*$ and similarly for the electrostatic potential.

¹⁰Notice that contrary to the charges and entropy, the supersymmetric chemical potentials (ω_i, ϕ) remain complex even in the BPS solution.

variables in such a way that the constraint (3.33) is automatically satisfied, and then consider variations of these auxiliary parameters [12], or add a Lagrange multiplier Λ which enforces the constraint [8].

What we have just described is precisely the extremization principle that we anticipated in the introduction. As promised, we are now going to review how it is carried out, following [8].

3.1.4 The extremization principle

From what we have said above, the entropy (as a function of the charges) can be obtained from the following constrained Legendre transform:

$$S(Q, J_1, J_2) = ext_{\{\omega_i, \phi, \Lambda\}} \Big[-I(\omega_i, \phi) - \omega_1 J_1 - \omega_2 J_2 - \phi Q - \Lambda \big(\omega_1 + \omega_2 - 2\phi \pm 2\pi i\big) \Big],$$
(3.36)

notice the appearance of the entropy function as anticipated in the introduction (1.2), plus the Lagrange multiplier Λ enforcing the constraint (3.33). Notice also that we have not taken the BPS limit yet, meaning that we are formally dealing with a complex value of the charges and the entropy.

The extremization is carried out as usual by evaluating the RHS after having expressed the chemical potentials and the Lagrange multiplier in terms of the charges, this is done by solving the extremization equations:

$$\frac{\partial I}{\partial \omega_i} = -J_i - \Lambda, \qquad \frac{\partial I}{\partial \phi} = -Q + 2\Lambda, \qquad \omega_1 + \omega_2 - 2\phi = \mp 2\pi i, \qquad (3.37)$$

notice that as the action I (3.34) depends only on the chemical potentials, one can easily solve the extremization equations by means of some algebraic manipulations. One would have to do much more calculations if I would have been expressed in terms of the (a, b, r_+) parameters, as it generally happens when a different trajectory is chosen. The expressions of the chemical potentials in terms of the charges and λ can be found in [8] and will not be needed here.

Obviously, one of the equations in (3.37) has to be used to find Λ as a function of the charges, it is however much simpler to notice that the following identity holds:

$$\left(\frac{\partial I}{\partial \phi}\right)^3 - 2\pi \left(\frac{\partial I}{\partial \omega_1}\right) \left(\frac{\partial I}{\partial \omega_2}\right) = 0 \quad \longrightarrow \quad (-Q + 2\Lambda)^3 - 2\pi (J_1 + \Lambda)(J_2 + \Lambda) = 0, \tag{3.38}$$

this is the cubic equation for Λ anticipated in the introduction (1.3):

$$\Lambda^3 + p_2 \Lambda^2 + p_1 \Lambda + p_0 = 0, (3.39)$$

with coefficients:

$$p_0 = -\frac{1}{8} \left(Q^3 + 2\pi J_1 J_2 \right), \qquad p_1 = \frac{1}{4} \left(3Q^2 - \pi (J_1 + J_2) \right), \qquad p_2 = -\frac{1}{2} \left(3Q + \frac{\pi}{2} \right), \tag{3.40}$$

remember that these coefficients are complex, as the charges in the non extremal solution are also complex.

For the purpose of finding the entropy $S = S(J_1, J_2, Q)$, it is sufficient to only consider the solution of (3.39) $\Lambda = \Lambda(J_1, J_2, Q)$, the reason is that the entropy is *proportional* to Λ . To see this, notice that I is an homogeneous function of degree 1 of the chemical potentials, then by using the Euler theorem one finds that:

$$I = \omega_i \frac{\partial I}{\partial \omega_i} + \phi \frac{\partial I}{\partial \phi} = \omega_i (-J_i - \Lambda) + \phi (-Q + 2\Lambda), \qquad (3.41)$$

inserting this into (3.36) one finds:

$$S = ext_{\Lambda} [\pm 2\pi i\Lambda], \qquad (3.42)$$

where Λ has to be taken from the solutions of (3.39).

This discussion also allows us to see what conditions we should impose to obtain a physical solution, particularly from Eq. (3.42) we see that a physical *real* value for the entropy can be obtained if Λ is purely imaginary, this is always true if the following condition on the coefficients of the cubic polynomial (3.39) is satisfied:

$$p_0 = p_1 p_2, (3.43)$$

moreover, one should require that the charges are all real. In this way, the cubic polynomial factorizes as follows:

$$(\Lambda^2 + p_1)(\Lambda + p_2) = 0, (3.44)$$

meaning that there are two conjugated imaginary roots given by $\Lambda = \pm i \sqrt{p_1}$, choosing the one that produces a positive entropy from Eq. (3.42) one finds:

$$S = 2\pi\sqrt{p_1} = \pi\sqrt{3(Q)^2 - \pi(J_1 + J_2)},$$
(3.45)

which is real provided that the charges are real and exactly correspond to the expression for the BPS entropy that we have found before (3.25), with g = 1.

Moreover, notice that the condition (3.43) which allows to get a real entropy, is exactly the BPS non-linear constraint (3.26), once we explicitly write the p_i coefficients in terms of the charges. This means that in this way we are truly reproducing the entropy of the BPS solution as we have already imposed supersymmetry, and the BPS non-linear constraint is an equivalent way to express the extremality condition (3.20).

Actually, the full BPS thermodynamics is reproduced, as one may check that the expressions for (ω_i^*, ϕ^*) (3.33) are the saddles that solve the extremization equations (3.37), once we substitute $\Lambda = \Lambda(J_1^*, J_2^*, Q^*)$ and we rewrite the BPS chemical potentials and the BPS charges in terms of the (a, b) parameters.

As pointed out in [8] this is a non-trivial result as one has to consider a specific BPS limit along a trajectory which preserves supersymmetry. Precisely supersymmetry allows to obtain the constraint (**3.32**) and the super-symmetric Euclidean on-shell action (**3.34**) in the simple form that we have shown. This is crucial to obtain the results that we have discussed above.

As anticipated in the introduction the extremization principle has been considered in many other classes of black holes (See [6, 15, 16, 18]).

To conclude the actual review of the known results about this black hole solution (that are relevant for us) we should address the universal area product formula of [32]. However, we find more useful to first introduce the notion of physical and virtual (or "complex") horizons that we will use throughout all our work. This will make it much easier to correctly interpret the universal area product formula, and also to understand our first main results regarding the area product formula and the BPS non-linear constraint (**3.26**).

3.2 Properties of the general horizons for the single charged, double spinning black hole solution

Let us now consider the properties of the general horizons of the above black hole solutions. We start by first clarifying what these general horizons are, and how we interpret them. Next, we derive a formula for the inner virtual horizon entropy as a function of the charges $S_{-}^{\star}(Q^{\star}, J_{1}^{\star}, J_{2}^{\star})$ valid in the BPS limit¹¹. This allows us to explicitly show the equivalence of the universal area product formula and the BPS non-linear constraint

¹¹It is understood that by "extremality" we always mean vanishing of the outer horizon temperature. To avoid confusion, we clarify right away that we will never consider "extremality" in terms of vanishing of the inner horizons temperature.

(3.26). We then derive a set of thermodynamic quantities for each horizon, discussing the symmetry that relates the horizons. Using this symmetry, we prove the validity of the first law of thermodynamics for each horizon, and give a proposal for a definition of a grand-canonical potential for each horizon thermodynamics. This is equivalently obtained by imposing the validity of the QSR. We will not give an independent derivation of these generalized grand-potentials, accordingly, we will not rely much on them.

Based on these considerations, we conclude that the extremization principle of Sec. **3.1.4**, can be promoted to a *universal* extremization principle. In doing so, we derive the BPS entropies of all horizons *from one calculation*, and provide an independent derivation of the area product formula. In this framework, the equivalence between the area product formula and the BPS non-linear constraint is explained and is related to the factorization condition (**3.43**).

The results that we are going to prove represent our original contribution in the study of the above black hole solution.

3.2.1 Physical and virtual horizons

Following [32], we will consider as "horizon" any constant r_i hypersurface, where r_i is *any* root of the Δ_r radial function, being it real or complex. Hence the terms "horizon" or "root of Δ_r " can then be used interchangeably.

Formally, any horizon defined in this way is a null hypersurface $(g^{rr} = \frac{\Delta_r}{\rho^2})$ vanishes if evaluated at r_i), and it exists a killing vector $V = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^0}$, in an appropriate coordinate system, whose norm vanishes on all the horizons. To check this one has to consider the $g_{t't'}$ component of the metric (in the appropriate coordinate system where $V = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^0}$), and evaluate it at $r = r_i$. One realizes that $g_{t't'}(r_i) = 0$ whenever it holds $\Delta_r(r_i) = 0$, which is the definition of a general horizon. This is an instance of the symmetry that relates the horizons, the idea is that in many cases it is only needed that $\Delta_r(r_i) = 0$ is satisfied to perform a given calculation, this does not distinguish the horizons, which are then treated symmetrically.

An important comment has to be made now. Despite some horizons are associated with an imaginary, or even complex, root r_i this will generally not represent an obstruction for our calculations, which however should be treated as *formal*. An example has been given above when we stated that virtual horizons can be seen as null hypersurfaces at constant r_i . Despite being formally true (g^{rr} vanishes regardless of the fact that r_i can be complex), this implies to consider the metric for complex values of the radial coordinate, and hence consider an analytically continued solution (equivalently one can keep a real radial coordinate and complexify the parameters of the solution [8]). As already said in footnote 4, we are interested in considering these complex horizons as formal loci satisfying the $\Delta_r = 0$ condition, and in studying the properties of the generalized (complex) thermodynamics that can be defined for them. We are not going to directly address the problem of giving a physical interpretation for the complex horizons, and simply make some comments about it.

A similar discussion holds also for the various thermodynamic quantities that we are going to derive for them, which should be thought of as *formal* quantities. These quantities can be derived by simply using the properties of the Δ_r function and the symmetry that relates the horizons, starting from those of the outer horizon. However, these quantities are the same that one would derive by studying the complexified metric (e.g. by studying the near horizon metric).

In the following, we will refer to the complex horizons as *virtual* or *inner* horizons, while by *physical* horizons we mean the event or Cauchy horizons associated with real and positive roots of Δ_r .

Let us now quickly discuss what kind of horizons we may expect for the present black hole, we need to study the solutions of $\Delta_r(r) = 0$ (Eq. (3.4)) which is a cubic polynomial in the r^2 variable¹² meaning that there

¹²The metric (3.3) depends only on r^2 , hence it enjoys a symmetry under exchange of $r \rightarrow -r$ with curvature singularity located at

are three horizons. In Fig. 3.1, the curves $\Delta_r = 0$ are depicted in the (r^2, m) plane for a fixed value of the other parameters, whose specific value does not change the qualitative behaviour shown.

When $m > m_{ext}$ there are two physical horizons associated with the $r_+^2 > r_0^2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ roots, while a virtual horizon always exists and is associated with the $r_-^2 < 0$ root. For this reason this black hole solution is special, because the virtual horizon appears for a purely imaginary value of r_- , or better, a negative value of r_-^2 (and not for a genuine complex r_-). Notice that when m = q = 0, the inner horizon is associated with the root $r_-^2 = -\frac{1}{g^2}$, meaning that an inner horizon is present also in pure AdS_5 space. This can be trivially seen by considering that the metric (3.3) reduces to the one of AdS_5 space if one sets m = q = 0 and performs a suitable change of coordinates, which essentially removes the dependence on the (a, b) parameters [52]

$$ds_{AdS_5}^2 = -(1+g^2r^2)dt^2 + \frac{dr^2}{(1+g^2r^2)} + r^2d\Omega_3,$$
(3.46)

if we allow for $r^2 < 0$, a virtual horizon appears at $r^2 = -\frac{1}{g^2}$.

If one wants to take seriously the spacetime at $r^2 < 0$, one may first notice that the metric (3.46) has signature (-, +, -, -, -) for small values of $|r^2|$ and (+, -, -, -, -) for large values of $|r^2|$. When r^2 becomes negative the signature of the metric changes, this happens because one has to cross the $r^2 = 0$ point where the metric degenerates. One could interpret these two sections as separate spacetimes which both solve the Einstein equations and are connected to different spatial infinities for $r^2 \to +\infty$ or $r^2 \to -\infty$, the latter happens to also contain an event horizon. This observation could be relevant to give a physical meaning to the virtual horizon.

We can immediately realize that the inner horizon is characterized by an imaginary value of the area (or entropy with abuse of terminology). This immediately follows if one generalizes the formula of the entropy for the outer horizon (3.10), for $r_{-}^2 < 0$. Instead, interpreting the virtual horizon as a genuine hypersurface, one may notice that the determinant of the metric induced on the (θ, ϕ, ψ) coordinates:

$$det(g|_{\theta,\phi,\psi}) = \frac{\left(ab(ab+q) + (a^2+b^2)r^2 + r^4\right)^2 \cos^2\theta \sin^2\theta}{(1-a^2g^2)^2(1-b^2g^2)^2r^2},$$
(3.47)

is negative as soon as $r^2 < 0$. The area of the inner horizon evaluated at r_- is therefore necessarily imaginary¹³. Notice that at $r_-^2 = -g^{-2}$ the above determinant takes the value $det(g|_{\theta,\phi,\psi}) = -\frac{1}{g^6}\cos^2\theta\sin\theta^2$, which formally is the surface element of a three-sphere of radius $r_- = \frac{i}{g}$.

As a final comment, notice that if one wants to consider the extension of the black hole metric (3.3) for $r^2 < 0$ seriously, one has to face the problem that a new curvature singularity appears. Indeed, the function $\rho^2 = r^2 + a^2 \cos \theta^2 + b^2 \sin \theta^2$ can now vanish, producing some divergences in the metric. This is actually a genuine curvature singularity as one can see that the Ricci scalar diverges when $\rho^2 = 0$. Indeed, taking the trace of the Einstein equations, one gets the following expression for the Ricci scalar:

$$R = \frac{1}{12}F^2 - 20g^2 \quad \longrightarrow \quad R = -\left(20g + 2q^2\frac{\Delta_{\theta}^2}{\rho^4}\right),\tag{3.48}$$

however, one can show that the inner horizon never touches this new curvature singularity, as it holds:

$$\begin{cases} \rho^2 = 0 \\ r_+^2 + r_0^2 + r_-^2 = -(a^2 + b^2 + g^- 2) \end{cases} \longrightarrow \begin{cases} r^2 = -a^2 \cos^2 \theta - b^2 \sin^2 \theta \\ r_-^2 < -(a^2 + b^2) \end{cases} \longrightarrow \begin{cases} |r^2| < a^2 + b^2 \\ |r_-^2| > a^2 + b^2 \end{cases}$$
(3.49)

r = 0 [55], it is then reasonable to consider r^2 rather than r as a more natural radial coordinate.

¹³One may argue that one should consider the root of the modulus of the determinant of the metric so that a real value for the area is re-established. This however breaks the symmetry under exchange of horizon radius r_i .


As we have already said, we will not elaborate more on these considerations.

Figure 3.1: The solid lines represent the curves $\Delta_r(r^2; m) = 0$ in the (r^2, m) plane (for them the vertical axes represents m), for a fixed value of the other parameters and g = 1. The qualitative behaviour is not influenced much by the specific value of the parameters. The different colors differentiate the three horizons, one can recognize the extremal solution, where $r_0^2 = r_+^2$. Notice that an inner horizon $r_-^2 < 0$ always exists, even when m = 0 as we have previously observed. The dashed curves instead represent the behaviour of the temperature $T(r^2, a, b, q)$ Eq. (3.8), where r^2 should be thought of as one of the horizons radii, substituting m via Eq. (3.60) (for this curve the vertical axes represents T). When $r^2 < 0$ the imaginary part of T is shown, as the temperature is imaginary in this case. The specific value of the three horizons. Notice that at the extremal configuration, the temperature vanishes as expected, and is negative for the intermediate horizon.

3.2.2 Inner horizon radius and area in the BPS limit

Let us now consider again the supersymmetric and extremal (BPS) solution, we are interested in finding an expression for the area of the inner horizon in terms of only the conserved BPS charges. From now on, we will use "area" and "entropy" interchangeably assuming that $S = \frac{A}{4}$. Remember that the expression for A_{-} in the general solution is given by Eq. (3.10) with r_{-} substituting r_{+} . The idea now is to determine r_{-} in terms of the parameters (a, b, m, q), in this way one gets $A_{-}(a, b, m, q)$ and then use the definition of the conserved charges to write $A_{-}(E, J_{1}, J_{2}, Q)$. In the BPS solution this can be easily done.

Notice that by rewriting the radial function Δ_r as:

$$r^{2}\Delta_{r}(r) = (r^{2} + a^{2})(r^{2} + b^{2})(1 + g^{2}r^{2}) + q^{2} + 2abq - 2mr^{2} = g^{2}\prod_{i=0}^{2}(r^{2} - r_{i}^{2}),$$
(3.50)

one can obtain a system of equations that determine the horizon radii r_i :

$$\begin{cases} r_{+}^{2} + r_{0}^{2} + r_{-}^{2} = -(a^{2} + b^{2} + g^{-2}) \\ r_{+}^{2}r_{0}^{2} + r_{0}^{2}r_{-}^{2} + r_{-}^{2}r_{+}^{2} = g^{-2}(a^{2} + b^{2} + a^{2}b^{2}g^{2} - 2m) , \\ r_{+}^{2}r_{0}^{2}r_{-}^{2} = -g^{-2}(ab + q)^{2} \end{cases}$$
(3.51)

in the BPS case, this system can be solved analytically in terms of the two independent parameters (a, b), remember that q and m are fixed by Eqs. (3.18, 3.20), and are real being the BPS solution physical.

The BPS values of the inner and outer horizon radii are given by:

$$r^{\star} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{g}(a+b+abg)}$$
, $r^{\star}_{-} = \pm \frac{i}{g}(1+ag+bg)$, (3.52)

inserting this result in the formula for A_{-} , after some algebraic , one can prove that in the BPS limit it holds:

$$A_{-}^{\star} = -\frac{2\pi^2 i}{(1-ag)(1-bg)g^3} \Big[(1+ag+bg) + g(a+b+abg) \Big],$$
(3.53)

where we have chosen the plus sign in the expression for r_{-}^{\star} (3.52), the other sign choice can be obtained by sending $i \to -i$. As expected A_{-}^{\star} is imaginary as a, b, g are real.

Finally, using the definition of Q^{\star} (3.24) one is able to find the following expression for A_{-}^{\star} :

$$A_{-}^{\star} = -4\pi i \left(3Q^{\star} + \frac{\pi}{2g^3} \right), \tag{3.54}$$

notice that A_{-}^{\star} depends only on Q^{\star} and not on the angular momenta as we might have expected, and receives a constant contribution from the cosmological constant parameter g. This contribution survives in the $Q^{\star} = 0$ case where a = b = m = q = 0 and the metric trivially reduces to the one of static AdS_5 spacetime (3.46), which has a virtual horizon at $r^2 = -g^{-2}$ as we have seen before. A direct computation of the area of this virtual horizon in AdS_5 spacetime gives exactly $A_{-} = -\frac{2\pi^2 i}{g^3}$, which is the area of an S^3 sphere of radius $r = ig^{-1}$. It is not clear what the meaning of this contribution is, and whether it can be thought of as a contribution from empty AdS_5 spacetime. However, this observation might be an indication that we have to consider the spacetime with $r^2 < 0$ more seriously.

Notice also that the BPS value of the virtual horizon area (or entropy)(3.54) is quantized in terms of the electric charge, at the quantum level. This may indicate the possibility of finding a microscopic interpretation for this quantity, which could also explain why it turns out to be independent on the angular momenta J_1^*, J_2^* .

One could have somehow expected a similar result for A_{-}^{\star} , indeed, the BPS solution is described by only two independent parameters so it is natural to expect that BPS quantities depend only on (Q, J_1, J_2) up to the BPS non-linear condition. The only non trivial result in this sense is that we are actually able to invert the relations that define the charges, in terms of the other parameters, in a closed manner. This is easily done by noticing that one can obtain the following relations:

$$r^{\star} = \frac{\pi\sqrt{3(Q^{\star})^2 - \pi(J_1^{\star} + J_2^{\star})}}{\pi Q^{\star}}, \qquad r_{-}^{\star} = i\frac{Q^{\star}(12Q^{\star} + \pi) - 2\pi(J_1^{\star} + J_2^{\star})}{Q^{\star}(\pi + 4Q^{\star})}, \qquad (3.55)$$

from which one can obtain all other quantities in terms of the conserved charges, remembering the dependence of r^* and r^*_{-} on a and b, and from this all the results that we have found above follow.

3.2.3 Universal area product

We will now consider the area product formula obtained by [32], let us first give a review of how it can be derived in the general solution, and then discuss its implications when considering the BPS solution.

Following [32] one notices that the radial function Δ_r can be rewritten as in (3.50), this allows us to calculate products of the form $\prod_i (c^2 - r_i^2) = g^{-2}r^{-2}\Delta(c)$ which appear in the product of the three areas.

To exploit this observation, one rewrites the horizon areas as [32]:

$$A_{i} = \frac{2\pi^{2}[(r_{i}^{2} + a^{2})(r_{i}^{2} + b^{2}) + abq]}{\Xi_{a}\Xi_{b}r_{i}} = -\frac{2\pi^{2}(2m + abqg^{2})}{\Xi_{a}\Xi_{b}(1 + g^{2}r_{i}^{2})r_{i}} \left[\frac{q(q + ab)}{2m + abqg^{2}} - r_{i}^{2}\right],$$
(3.56)

the product of the areas can then be computed in terms of the parameters (a, b, q, m) using Eq. (3.50) to trade products of the roots r_i . Then, using the expressions for the conserved charges (3.5) one can show that the product of the areas can be rewritten in terms of only the (J_1, J_2, Q) charges, and takes the expression¹⁴:

$$A_{+}A_{0}A_{-} = -i(4\pi)^{3} \left(Q^{3} + \frac{2\pi}{g^{3}}J_{1}J_{2}\right), \qquad (3.57)$$

this result holds for the general non supersymmetric and non extremal solution.

Even if we will not use much this fact, it is important to stress that the product of the areas does not depend on the mass of the solution, as we have discussed in the introduction.

Equivalence between the universal area product and the BPS non-linear condition in the BPS limit

We are finally ready to prove one of the main results of this thesis. Consider the universal area product found above (3.57), in the BPS solution the areas of the physical horizons are equal $A_0^* = A_+^* = A^*$ and can be rewritten in terms of only the BPS charges using (3.25). We also found that the inner horizon BPS area A_-^* is a function of the BPS charges (3.54), if one inserts these informations in the area product formula one finds:

$$-i(4\pi)^3 \left((Q^\star)^3 + \frac{2\pi}{g^3} J_1^\star J_2^\star \right) = A_-^\star (A^\star)^2 = -i(4\pi)^3 \left(3Q^\star + \frac{\pi}{2g^3} \right) \left(3(Q^\star)^2 - \frac{\pi}{g^3} (J_1^\star + J_2^\star) \right), \quad (3.58)$$

the RHS is precisely the BPS non-linear constraint (3.26).

We have shown that considering the universal area product formula in the BPS limit allows to *derive* the BPS non-linear constraint in a different way. One could have somehow expected this result as in the BPS solution the universal area product formula represents a constraint on J_1, J_2, Q , once we rewrite the areas in terms of them. However, we might have found that this constraint was trivially satisfied, for example $A_-^*(A^*)^2$ might have been identically equal to the RHS of (3.57) after having expressed the BPS horizons areas in terms of the BPS charges and finding the less exciting result 1 = 1.

For this reason, this is a non trivial result, this is also true because we had to consider the virtual inner horizon on the same footing as the physical event and Cauchy horizons, indeed the explicit expression of A_{-}^{*} in terms of the charges is crucial to obtain the equivalence between the area product and the BPS non-linear constraint.

The main task we will pursue now is to understand if this relation between the area product formula and the BPS non-linear constraint can be obtained from an independent, and more fundamental calculation. As we have anticipated, this will lead us to discover that the extremization principle can be promoted to an *universal* extremization principle, which is able to reproduce the BPS thermodynamics of all horizons in a unified way.

It is worth mentioning that the results we have found above are valid in the BPS limit, moreover, part of what we will find in the following depends crucially on the presence of supersymmetry, or better, on the constraint that supersymmetry imposes. However, remember that when supersymmetry is present, there is also a relation of the type (**3.19**), meaning that the mass-independence of certain quantities (for example the BPS entropies) is a less striking result. In any case, the mass-independence implies the quantization of such quantities at the quantum level. It would be interesting to understand if in the BPS solution, one could account for the (quantized) entropies of all horizons (and not only the outermost one) starting from a microscopic description, similarly as it was done for black holes with two horizons or, in this case, by considering the description in terms of the dual field theory on the boundary.

However, we need to remember that the area product formula remains mass-independent also in the non-

¹⁴The result found in [32] is different with respect to the one we present here due to the different normalization choice regarding the electric charge used in [8].

supersymmetric solution, in this case, this is a non trivial result. It would then be interesting to explore the implications of this fact without having to resort on supersymmetry, which forces all quantities to be mass independent by means of (**3.19**). The price to pay is that in this case a holographic description (in terms of the boundary field theory) is not well established. A possible way to study this problem could be to consider different BPS limits along different trajectories that do not preserve supersymmetry, as we have discussed in Sec. **3.1.3**. In this way, at least in the BPS limit, one recovers the holographic description and may be able to understand something about the non supersymmetric solutions.

As for the microscopic accounting of all BPS entropies, we may leave a possible answer to these questions for future works.

3.2.4 Thermodynamics quantities and relations for the other horizons

Chemical potentials and first law for the other horizons

We are now going to give a definition for a set of thermodynamic quantities, specifically chemical potentials, associated with each horizon. The conserved charges are instead considered *universal*, hence, the same for all horizons.

Inspired by [30, 31] the idea is that once we get the thermodynamic quantities associated with the outer horizon, the ones associated with the other horizons can be obtained simply by swapping r_+ with r_i . This only regards the chemical potentials $(T, \Omega_1, \Omega_2, \Phi)$ and the area, which are intrinsic properties of the horizons, while the charges (E, J_1, J_2, Q) are the same for all horizons, indeed, they are calculated with suitable integrals at infinity so it is natural to assume their independence with respect to the horizon we consider. Accordingly, one notices from Eqs.(3.5) that the conserved charges can be expressed without the need to use the horizons radii r_i , unlike the chemical potentials. This identification of the horizons' properties seems standard in the literature up to a sign difference in the definition of the temperature, which we will discuss briefly.

In our case, the chemical potentials for the outer horizon are given by Eqs. (3.7) to (3.9), the dependence on r_+ is already explicit and allows to get the chemical potentials for the other horizons without further work.

We can be more precise about this statement. Take the temperature as an example. It can be calculated from the surface gravity, which is obtained from the following scalar function, where V is the null killing vector on the horizon

$$\kappa(r,\theta;m,a,b,q) = \sqrt{-\frac{1}{2}\nabla_{\mu}V_{\nu}\nabla^{\mu}V^{\nu}}, \qquad (3.59)$$

which also depends on the parameters of the black hole solution. The surface gravity of (say) the outer horizon is obtained by taking the limit $r \to r_+(m, a, b, q)$ and one gets a constant depending only on the parameters of the solution.

In our case, we do not know the explicit form of $r_+(m, a, b, q)$, we solve this problem by trading one of the parameters of the solution with r_+ using the defining condition of the horizon position $\Delta_r(r_+) = 0$, in this way we trivially get:

$$m = \frac{(r_+^2 + a^2)(r_+^2 + b^2)(1 + g^2 r_+^2) + q^2 + 2abq}{2r_+^2},$$
(3.60)

the surface gravity of the outer horizon is then evaluated by the limit¹⁵:

$$\kappa_{+}(r_{+}, a, b, q) = \lim_{r \to r_{+}} \kappa(r, \theta; m(r_{+}, a, b, q), a, b, q),$$
(3.61)

¹⁵Generally, it is sufficient to naively impose the condition (3.60) and substitute r with r_+ to get the correct result, but in some cases, like the calculation of the surface gravity, one needs to take the limit with care, for example by setting $\Delta_r = \epsilon$ and $m = (\cdots) - \frac{\epsilon}{2}$ and taking the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit at the end.

providing the result in Eq. (3.8).

Notice that there are two "sources" for the r_+ dependence in the final expression for κ_+ coming from the explicit r dependence in the scalar function Eq. (3.59) and from the exchange $m \leftrightarrow r_+$. Turning to the evaluation of the surface gravity for the other horizons, we can still use Eq. (3.59) and take the suitable $r \rightarrow r_{0;-}$ limit in Eq. (3.61), the dependence on r_+ that still remains in $m(r_+)$ can be traded with a dependence on $r_{0;-}$ by noticing that Eq. (3.60) holds regardless of which solution of $\Delta_r(r_i) = 0$ is used.

In this sense, the surface gravity (and consequently the temperature) of each horizon is obtained simply by replacing r_+ with r_0 or r_- .

$$\kappa_i(r_i, a, b, q) = \lim_{r \to r_i} \kappa(r, \theta; m(r_i, a, b, q), a, b, q),$$
(3.62)

The same argument can also be made for the other chemical potentials.

Notice that we only have to use the symmetry under the exchange of the horizons and the properties of the Δ_r polynomial, to define the chemical potentials for each horizon. However, if we consider the Cauchy horizon, these quantities are exactly the ones that can be derived from the metric, and the same would still be true for the inner horizon if we regard it as an hypersurface in the space with $r_{-}^2 < 0$.

One may notice a sign difference in the definition of the temperature with respect to the usual identifications found in literature ([28, 31]) which we will discuss later. The chemical potentials on each horizon are then defined starting from those of the outer horizon as:

$$T_i = T_+(r_+ \to r_i), \qquad \Omega_{1/2;i} = \Omega_{1/2;+}(r_+ \to r_i), \qquad \Phi_i = \Phi_+(r_+ \to r_i),$$
(3.63)

Verification of the validity of the first law for each horizon

Having clarified how to evaluate the thermodynamic quantities on each horizon, we are now ready to verify the first law of thermodynamics for each horizon. This can actually be done almost effortlessly as follows.

Let us consider a generic horizon i, first we trade the parameter m with r_i from the definition of the charges (3.5) then it is only a matter of using the chain rule to rewrite the first law that we want to check as:

$$dE = T_i \, dS_i + \Omega_{1;i} \, dJ_1 + \Omega_{2;i} \, dJ_2 + \Phi_i \, dQ$$

$$= \frac{dE}{dr_i} \, dr_i + \frac{dE}{da} \, da + \frac{dE}{db} \, db + \frac{dE}{dq} \, dq, \qquad (3.64)$$

one immediately realizes that checking the first law for a given horizon is only a matter of relabelling the r_i parameter¹⁶ on the various chemical potentials and on the entropy appearing in the above equation, then the same relabelling can be made also in the charges as m is equivalently expressed in terms of each r_i . This means that checking the first law for each horizon can be made equivalent to a global relabelling of the r_i parameter in the above equations which cannot alter its validity.

From this discussion, one can conclude that the first law is in some sense a *universal* relation valid for each horizon. The key relation that one has to satisfy is $\Delta_r(r) = 0$ which is independent on the particular solution r_i we choose, this independence ultimately reflects on the first law, provided that we identify the chemical potentials of the horizons as done above.

Notice also that these arguments are valid only if we assume as first law for the intermediate and inner horizons the one in Eq. (3.64) and not the modified first law that is most commonly found in the literature,

¹⁶Remember that even if we could have a complex value for r_i , all quantities that are involved depend only on r_i and not \bar{r}_i , hence are holomorphic functions of r_i which can be differentiated without problems.

which, for the intermediate horizon would read:

$$dE = -TdS + \cdots, (3.65)$$

the reason for this difference is that the temperature for the intermediate horizon (usually referred to as "inner horizon" [28, 30, 31] for black holes with only two physical horizons) should be negative. An intuitive reason is that the intermediate and outer horizons have *mirroring* behaviours. Think for example about what happens to the areas of the two horizons when the black hole approaches extremality [31].

This implies that along the same thermodynamic transformation, dS_+ and dS_0 have an opposite sign, which also implies that the first law of the intermediate horizon is satisfied with a negative value of the temperature, see also [63] for a discussion. In the literature, it is usually chosen to keep the temperature positive, which forces to use the modified first law Eq. (3.65).

In our case, from the definition of the intermediate horizon temperature in Eq. (3.63), one actually finds that T_0 is negative. This can be seen, for example, graphically in Fig. (3.1).

A similar analysis can be done for the inner horizon, associated with $r_{-}^2 < 0$. In this case, the first law is verified provided that the inner horizon temperature is taken to be purely *imaginary* as can be easily seen from the dependence of T_{-} on $\frac{1}{r_{-}}$. Again, insisting on having a positive temperature also for the inner horizon would force us to modify the first law in a similar way as before, introducing an *i* factor.

Recalling that also S_{-} is purely imaginary, we can then recover a first law involving purely real quantities. Remember that all other thermodynamic quantities depend on r_{-}^{2} only

$$dE = \pm i |T_{-}| dS_{-} + \dots = \pm |T_{-}| d|S_{-}| + \dots$$
(3.66)

Area product formula and first laws

The first law for the three horizons, allows to get another interesting relation by starting from the universal area product formula (3.57), in particular the fact that the product of the areas is independent of the energy of the BH can be equivalently expressed as a relation involving $S_i T_i$ terms.

To get this relation, one considers the variation of the product of the areas with respect to variations of the conserved charges:

$$d(S_{+}S_{0}S_{-}) = \left(\frac{dS_{+}}{dE}S_{0}S_{-} + S_{+}\frac{dS_{0}}{dE}S_{-} + S_{+}S_{0}\frac{dS_{-}}{dE}\right)dE + \cdots , \qquad (3.67)$$

using the first laws (3.64), we have the standard relation $\frac{dS_i}{dE} = \frac{1}{T_i}$. The independence of the area product from the energy can then be rewritten as the following condition:

$$0 = \frac{S_0 S_-}{T_+} + \frac{S_+ S_-}{T_0} + \frac{S_+ S_0}{T_-} = \frac{(S_0 T_0)(S_- T_-) + (S_+ T_+)(S_- T_-) + (S_+ T_+)(S_- T_-)}{T_+ T_0 T_-},$$
(3.68)

where the temperatures are those defined through Eq. (3.63), again using the positive temperatures would require to modify the above relation with suitable signs or *i* factors.

We want to check if the above relation holds in the present case, to do that we notice that the product T_iS_i is explicitly given by:

$$T_i S_i = \frac{\pi}{4\Xi_a \Xi_b} \frac{r_i^4 [1 + g^2 (2r_+^2 + a^2 + b^2)] - (ab + q)^2}{r_i^2},$$
(3.69)

then, using Eqs. (3.51) which define the horizon positions we can substitute in the above expression $a^2 + b^2 = -(r_+^2 + r_0^2 + r_-^2 + g^{-2})$ and $(ab + q)^2 = -g^2 r_+^2 r_0^2 r_-^2$.

After some easy simplifications, one gets the following result

$$T_{+}S_{+} = \frac{g^{2}\pi}{4\Xi_{a}\Xi_{b}} \left(r_{+}^{4} - r_{+}^{2}r_{0}^{2} - r_{+}^{2}r_{-}^{2} + r_{0}^{2}r_{-}^{2}\right) = \frac{g^{2}\pi}{4\Xi_{a}\Xi_{b}} \left(r_{+}^{2} - r_{0}^{2}\right) \left(r_{+}^{2} - r_{-}^{2}\right), \tag{3.70}$$

the relations for the other horizons are easily obtained by appropriately permuting the indices. Using this result, one can easily verify the validity of the condition Eq. (3.68) as the numerator of the RHS vanishes identically.

In [30, 63], similar relations appeared for black holes with two horizons for which the area product is independent of the mass, in that case, it reads $T_+S_+ + T_-S_- = 0$.

Notice also that Eqs. (3.68, 3.70) agree with the ones shown in [63] (Eqs. 5.34, 5.35) for the Wu black hole with three independent electric charges and two angular momenta once we reduce to the solution that we are studying here, after some basic algebraic manipulations.

Grand-canonical potential for each horizon and quantum statistical relations

The *universality* of the thermodynamic properties of each horizon described above, allows us to give a proposal for a definition of the thermodynamic potential for each horizon, this is essentially obtained by imposing that a suitable quantum statistical relation holds.

To do so, one can start from the grand-canonical potential of the outer horizon (3.16), and trivially substitute r_+ with r_i , then our proposal for the *universal* grand-canonical potentials $T_i I_i$ is:

$$T_i I_i = \frac{\pi}{4\Xi_a \Xi_b} \left[m - g^2 (r_i^2 + a^2) (r_i^2 + b^2) - \frac{q^2 r_i^2}{(r_i^2 + a^2) (r_i^2 + b^2) + abq} \right],$$
(3.71)

this definition could be equivalently obtained by imposing that the following QSR holds:

$$I_i = -S_i - \Omega_{1,i} J_1 - \Omega_{2,i} J_2 - \Phi_i Q, \qquad (3.72)$$

once we trade the m parameter with the horizon radius r_i in the definition of the charges.

Notice that with this definition, one should be careful about the sign of the potential for the intermediate horizon, and one would definitely get an imaginary value for the potential of the inner horizon, due to our definition of β_i we have $\beta_0 < 0$ and β_- is imaginary.

It would be useful if we were actually able to get Eq. (3.71) from an independent calculation, in the same way as we can get I_+ as the Euclidean on-shell action on the appropriate regular Euclidean section, hoping also to be able to develop a physical interpretation of these new quantities in the process. We have explored the possibility of performing such a calculation, but we have not found a simple way to do it. We leave for a future work the task of finding a better explanation of these generalized grand-potentials I_i . However, we can make some considerations.

To calculate I_0 it may be possible to follow a similar strategy as for I_+ . In this case, one should also consider the spacetime between these two horizons and evaluate the Euclidean on-shell action from r_0 to infinity. The reason why one should integrate up to infinity and not up to r_+ , for example, can be guessed from the fact that the chemical potentials for r_0 are all relative to their value at infinity, following the definitions in Eq. (3.63), similarly the conserved charges are evaluated from integrals at infinity.

One should also remember that in Euclidean signature, the spacetime "comes to an end" on the horizons, in the sense that the Euclidean time circle shrinks to a point. Integrating from r_0 to infinity then means to consider the Euclidean section contained between r_0 and r_+ plus the one from r_+ to infinity, the on shell action evaluated on the latter gives the known result I_+ in [60], so we should only evaluate the on shell action in the intermediate Euclidean section $I_{0\rightarrow+}$ and so:

$$I_0 = I_{0 \to +} + I_+, \tag{3.73}$$

this calculation must be done carefully as, despite not having long range divergences as the spacetime is finite between r_0 and r_+ , there are two horizons and hence two sets of regularity conditions to impose on the Euclidean time circle to avoid conical singularities. This can be done only if the temperatures and the other chemical potentials of the two horizons are the same¹⁷, which however should not be the case as one can easily see by looking at the behaviour of the temperatures for the two horizons in Fig. **3.1**. Another fact to take in consideration is that, when performing the Wick rotation $t \rightarrow -i\tau$ the spacetime between the two horizons has signature (-, -, +, +, +). Clearly, we expect $I_{0\rightarrow r_+}$ to vanish in the extremal limit.

The situation is much trickier for I_- , as the inner horizon is located at $r_-^2 < 0$, this means that integrating from r_-^2 to infinity one encounters the black hole (ring) singularity, but also the other singularity appearing at $\rho = 0$. A possible way out could be to analytically continue the solution and smoothly change the integration path in such a way to avoid the singularity, but it is not clear how to do it. A physical interpretation of the nature of the inner horizon would be helpful in this case.

3.2.5 Universality of the extremization principle

We are finally ready to discuss the generalization of the extremization principle as a *universal* extremization principle, able to reproduce the thermodynamics of all horizons in the BPS solution (but also formally in the supersymmetric but not extremal one).

The idea now is that we can repeat the procedure discussed in Sec. **3.1.3** separately for each horizon¹⁸. By virtue of the symmetry under the exchange of horizons radii r_i as parameters, the results that we have already discussed generalize to all horizons. However, there are some caveats that one has to take care.

The first step is to parametrize the supersymmetric trajectory whose limit is the BPS solution in terms of r_i , this can be done by simply trading r_+ for r_i in the supersymmetric constraint (3.28):

$$q = \frac{m}{1+a+b} = -ab + (1+a+b)r_i^2 \pm ir_i(r_i^2 - r^{\star 2}), \qquad (3.74)$$

where r^{\star} is the BPS value of the outer horizon radius.

We have already seen that if we want to keep r_+ (but also r_0) real, then one is forced to introduce a complex q parameter [8]. However, if we use the inner horizon radius r_- in (3.74) one would get a *real* q parameter because r_- is imaginary. One can understand why this happens by looking at Fig. 3.1. In practice, the condition $\Delta_r(r^2) = 0$ can always be solved for any *real* value of the parameters if one considers $r^2 < 0$, hence, one can always find $r_-^2 < 0$ which produces any given real value of m (also in the supersymmetric solution where m is fixed by q, a, b) this, however, is not always true for the outer or intermediate horizons, for example if one considers the supersymmetric but non-extremal solution.

This produces an apparent contradiction with what we have said so far, as it seems that using r_+ (or r_0) as a parameter and using r_- produces different results (complex or real q parameter,) breaking the symmetry under the exchange of r_i . This is solved if one remembers that the symmetry exists only among the roots of Δ_r and we clearly cannot compare the roots of different Δ_r polynomials. What was done in [8] was to consider a

¹⁷This is true provided that the regularity conditions on the intermediate horizon are related to its chemical potentials in the same way as it is for the outer horizon. This may be checked by a near horizon limit analysis, but one can expect that this is actually the case due to the symmetry under exchange of r_+ and r_0 .

¹⁸we are going to change perspective in a moment and rather think in terms of *universal* quantities instead of treating each horizon separately. For now, it is useful to proceed in this way.

family of supersymmetric solutions with complex q and m parameters, in such a way that the complexified Δ'_r radial function had two real positive roots r'_+ and r'_0 , but in this case the third root r'_- is not purely imaginary but complex, so that also q from Eq. (3.74) is complex.

The other possibility is instead to *keep all parameters real*, this forces us to consider complex conjugated r_+ and r_0 variables which produce a real value of q from Eq. (3.74), which is the same that we would obtain using the imaginary root r_- .

For a simple matter of convenience, we are going to to consider the second choice and keep real a, b, q, mparameters, which also allows to maintain a real value of the conserved charges in the supersymmetric and non-extremal solution, the entropies $S_{+,0}$ are still complex. It is important to stress that this is only a matter of choosing a parametrization to describe the supersymmetric trajectory, and accordingly, the complex variables r_+ and r_0 should be thought of as the *parameters describing such supersymmetric trajectories*, or equivalently as "convenient parameters" that can be used instead of m, rather than an analytically continued radial coordinate. We will briefly discuss what constraints one has to impose on these parameters to truly parametrize our supersymmetric solutions. Clearly, the BPS solution is obtained when $r_+ = r_0 \rightarrow r^*$ or equivalently $r_- \rightarrow r_-^*$.

Coming back to our discussion, notice that if we impose q to be real in (3.74), then the requirement $q = \bar{q}$ implies that once we choose the sign convention for r_+ , we also fix the sign convention for r_0 to be the opposite. The same happens for r_- because $\sqrt{(r_-^2 - r^{\star 2})^2} = -(r_-^2 - r^{\star 2})$. We choose the negative sign for r_+ as in [8], then Eq. (3.74) for the other parameters reads:

$$q = \begin{cases} -ab + (1+a+b)r_{+}^{2} - ir_{+}(r_{+}^{2} - r^{\star 2}) \\ -ab + (1+a+b)r_{0,-}^{2} + ir_{0,-}(r_{0,-}^{2} - r^{\star 2}) \end{cases},$$
(3.75)

we can now fully generalize the results of Sec. **3.1.3**, and for each horizon we can parametrize the various supersymmetric thermodynamic quantities in terms of (a, b, r_i) , the expressions that one would find are exactly equal to Eqs. (**3.29**, **3.30**), we can then define the "lower case" chemical potentials:

$$\omega_{1,i} = \beta_i (\Omega_{1,i} - 1), \qquad \omega_{2,i} = \beta_i (\Omega_{2,i} - 1), \qquad \phi_i = \beta_i \left(\Phi_i - \frac{3}{2} \right), \tag{3.76}$$

$$\omega_{1,i} + \omega_{2,i} - 2\phi_i = \pm 2\pi i, \tag{3.77}$$

the upper sign is related to the outer horizon quantities, while the lower one is related to the intermediate and inner ones.

For the inner horizon, this redefinition of the chemical potentials would not be needed, indeed, one can check that $\Omega_{i,-}^{\star}, \Phi_{-}^{\star}$ do not take fixed values in the BPS solution, as happens for the outer and intermediate horizons, so the interpretation of these new chemical potentials that we have developed in Sec. **3.1.3**, does not hold if we consider the inner horizon.

This redefinition is useful as it allows to rewrite all the grand-potentials I_i as we have already seen (3.34)

$$I_{i} = \frac{2\pi}{27} \frac{\phi_{i}^{3}}{\omega_{1,i} \,\omega_{2,i}}, \qquad I_{i} = -S_{i} - \omega_{1,i} \,J_{1} - \omega_{2,i} \,J_{2} - \phi_{i} \,Q_{i}, \tag{3.78}$$

one can explicitly check these results, but they are automatically true starting from those of the outer horizon.

Combining Eqs. (3.77, 3.78) one may repeat the extremization procedure singularly for each horizon, the calculations that one has to do are exactly the same as those that we have already discussed in Sec. 3.1.4, and one should recover the BPS thermodynamics for each horizon.

We are now going to show this, but adopting a different point of view. Notice that in the discussion above we have distinguished between each horizon (essentially, we have kept the i indices). However, one does not need

to do so, as we have seen that we eventually arrive at expressions that are *universal* (3.77, 3.78). Then, instead of performing three separate extremizations for each horizon, we will define an *universal* supersymmetric grandpotential I defined in terms of *universal* chemical potentials (ω_1, ω_2, ϕ), these have to be thought of as not associated with a specific horizon and satisfy the relations found above.

We will then perform one *universal* extremization procedure considering the universal quantities given above (this has essentially already been done in Sec. 3.1.4), and we will be able to reproduce the BPS thermodynamics of all horizons at once. This has the advantage that one does not have to necessarily use the I_i grand-potentials, instead one simply needs to consider the universal quantities.

Let us see how this works.

Proof of the universality of the extremization principle

The starting point is given by the universal relations:

$$I = \frac{2\pi}{27} \frac{\phi^3}{\omega_1 \omega_2}, \qquad I = -S - \omega_1 J - \omega_2 J_2 - \phi Q, \qquad \omega_1 + \omega_2 - 2\phi = \pm 2\pi i, \qquad (3.79)$$

from the extremization procedure discussed in Sec. 3.1.4, the entropy is given by:

$$S = ext_{\Lambda} [\pm 2\pi i\Lambda], \tag{3.80}$$

where Λ has to be taken from the solutions of the cubic polynomial (3.39):

$$\Lambda^3 + p_2 \Lambda^2 + p_1 \Lambda + p_0 = 0, \tag{3.81}$$

where the coefficients can be found in (3.40).

Our claim now is that the three roots Λ_i reproduce the thermodynamics of the three horizons, for example, the entropies are given by:

$$S_{+} = 2\pi i \Lambda_{1}, \qquad S_{0} = -2\pi i \bar{\Lambda}_{1}, \qquad S_{-} = -2\pi i \Lambda_{3},$$
(3.82)

the sign difference is related to the one in (3.74).

Notice that with our choice of parametrization of the supersymmetric solution, the charges and hence the coefficients of the cubic polynomial are real, meaning that there will always be a real root Λ_3 and two complex conjugated roots Λ_1 . It is natural to associate Λ_3 to the inner horizon as it always produces an imaginary entropy as we expect.

Following our claim, the three roots Λ_i of (3.39) also determine the supersymmetric chemical potentials of each horizon $(\omega_{1,i}, \omega_{2,i}, \phi_i)$ as, possibly complex, functions of the charges. This can be seen by starting with the universal supersymmetric chemical potentials $(\omega_1, \omega_2, \phi)$, which, upon solving the extremization equations, can be written as functions of the charges and Λ (see [8]). Inserting one of the three roots Λ_i in these functions reproduces the chemical potentials of the horizon associated with the Λ_i root:

$$\omega_{1,i} = \omega_1(Q, J_1, J_2, \Lambda_i), \qquad \omega_{2,i} = \omega_2(Q, J_1, J_2, \Lambda_i), \qquad \phi_i = \phi_i(Q, J_1, J_2, \Lambda_i)$$
(3.83)

To verify the validity of our claim (considering for example the entropies), we should compare the expressions that we get from the extremization principle (Eq. (3.82)), with the ones that we already know in the supersymmetric (3.10) or BPS case (3.25, 3.54). The same check should be performed on the supersymmetric chemical potentials.

It is easier to do these checks in the BPS case, where the entropies and the chemical potentials for each horizon acquire distinct expressions in terms of the parameters (a, b). In this case, one can easily distinguish between the various horizons. Instead, in the supersymmetric but not extremal case, the above quantities are expressed in terms of the r_i parameters. Then, the symmetry under the exchange of r_i does not allow to distinguish the horizons, unless one is able to find an *explicit* expression for the r_i radii in terms of the other parameters in the supersymmetric solution. Luckily, one needs less to distinguish the horizons in the susy case, we will discuss this later.

Notice that by assuming the validity of Eqs. (3.82), the universal area product formula immediately follows:

$$S_{+}S_{0}S_{-} = (2\pi i)^{3}\Lambda_{1}\bar{\Lambda}_{1}\Lambda_{3} = -(2\pi i)^{3}p_{0} = -i\pi^{3}\left(Q^{3} + 2\pi J_{1}J_{2}\right).$$
(3.84)

Validity of our claim in the BPS case

As we have already discussed, the BPS solution can be recovered from the extremization principle if one imposes the condition (3.43), which makes the cubic polynomial in Λ factorize as:

$$p_0 = p_1 p_2 \longrightarrow \begin{cases} (\Lambda + p_2)(\Lambda^2 + p_1) = 0\\ (Q^*)^3 + 2\pi J_1^* J_2^* = \left(3Q^* + \frac{\pi}{2}\right) \left(3(Q^*)^2 - \pi (J_1^* + J_2^*)\right) &, \end{cases}$$
(3.85)

the charges are real, meaning that the two roots $\Lambda = \pm i \sqrt{p_1}$ are purely imaginary. By means of our definition of the entropies S_+ and S_0 (3.82) one gets the same positive real value¹⁹ for them as expected.

The other root of the cubic polynomial instead is real and is given by $\Lambda = -p_2$ and has to be associated with the inner horizon entropy. By substituting the explicit expression of the parameters p_i in terms of the charges (Eqs. (3.40)), one gets for the three entropies:

$$S_{+}^{\star} = S_{0}^{\star} = 2\pi\sqrt{p_{1}} = \pi\sqrt{3(Q^{\star})^{2} - \pi(J_{1}^{\star} + J_{2}^{\star})}, \qquad S_{-}^{\star} = 2\pi i p_{2} = -\pi i \left(3Q^{\star} + \frac{\pi}{2}\right), \qquad (3.86)$$

remarkably, these are precisely the BPS entropies for the various horizons that we have already found before (3.25, 3.54), this result was already known for the outer horizon but is new for the outer horizons.

Notice also that if we define the entropies as in (**3.82**), we automatically derive the universal area product formula, but we also automatically find that in the BPS solution the area product formula and the BPS non-linear constraint are equivalent due to the factorization condition (**3.85**).

As anticipated, the extremization principle is able to reproduce all the horizon entropies in the BPS limit. Furthermore, one can explicitly check that the extremization equations Eqs. (3.37) for a given horizon are satisfied in the BPS limit if one chooses the correct root Λ_i . This can be quite easily checked as the BPS value of every relevant quantity is easily expressed in terms of (a, b) using Eqs. (3.24), (3.55) and (3.34), this proves that the full thermodynamics of each horizon is reproduced.

Validity of our claim in the supersymmetric but non extremal case

One can show that the universality of the extremization principle discussed above also holds in the supersymmetric but not extremal case (which we will refer to as simply "supersymmetric" now on), meaning that the thermodynamic quantities for each horizon are all reproduced at once by the extremization principle, also in this case. These results must be interpreted as *formal* results, as the pure supersymmetric configurations are non physical if one does not impose extremality. However, there are cases where proving the validity of

¹⁹For this to happen, it is important that the S_+ and S_0 entropies have an opposite sign in their definition in terms of the Λ_1 roots (3.82), this happens precisely due to the sign difference in (3.74)

the universality of the extremization principle *along the full trajectory and not only in the BPS limit*, may be physically relevant. This is the case if the BPS solution is reached via a trajectory that always contains physical solutions (that are causally well-behaved and do not allow for naked singularities). For an example, see [62].

In the pure susy case there is no constraint on the coefficients of the cubic polynomial (3.39), and generally there are two complex conjugate roots and one real root Λ_i as we have already discussed.

To compare the definitions of the entropies obtained from the Λ roots with the expected supersymmetric expressions for the entropies (3.30), we should formally find the explicit solutions for the three horizon radii r_i . Indeed, to make the comparison, both (3.30) and the Λ_i have to be expressed in terms of the same parameters (r_i, a, b) , but the symmetry under exchange of r_i would not allow us to truly differentiate between the horizons, and we could not check which of the three roots Λ_i have to be associated with which horizon.

Luckily, it turns out that it is sufficient to find the range of validity for each horizon radius r_i interpreted as a parameter describing the solution. This information is sufficient to differentiate the various horizons. For example, the simple requirement that r_- should be imaginary and r_+, r_0 complex allows to differentiate these two sets of horizons. To find the range of validity for each parameter r_i we can use the requirement that the relation $m = m(r_i)$ is a bijective function.

Let us start with the inner horizon, one can immediately associate the real Λ_3 root with the inner horizon, as in this way one correctly gets an imaginary value of the inner entropy. Λ_3 is given in terms of the conserved supersymmetric charges (J_1, J_2, Q) via the complicated cubic root formula, and by using Eqs. (3.30) one gets Λ_3 in terms of the parameters (r_-, a, b) , which can be directly compared with (3.30):

$$S_{-} = \frac{-i\pi^{2}(a+ir_{-})(b+ir_{-})(r^{\star 2}-ir_{-})}{2(1-a^{2})(1-b^{2})},$$
(3.87)

the two expressions do not agree if one allows r_{-} to take any imaginary value, see Fig. (3.2) on the left. The problem is that for small values of m the condition $\Delta_r = 0$ admits three imaginary r_i (or equivalently negative r_i^2) roots²⁰. This can be immediately seen in the $q = 0 \rightarrow m = 0$ case, where $\Delta_r = 0$ has the three trivial solutions: $r^2 = -1$, $r^2 = -a^2$, $r^2 = -b^2$, or by looking at Fig. 3.2 where the behaviour of the $\Delta_r(r, m) = 0$ supersymmetric curves has been shown for small values of m and for imaginary values of r.

If we associate *all* the pure imaginary roots of $\Delta_r = 0$ with the inner horizon r_- , the function $m(r_-)$ would not be invertible. We can make it invertible by restricting the range of validity for $Im[r_-] = -ir_-$ as shown by the green curve in Fig. 3.2 in the center, where remember that the BPS solution is located at $Im[r_-] = 1 + a + b > 1$ hence on the right branch of the curve.

From a direct computation, we find that:

$$Im[r_{-}] \in (-\infty, r_{C}) \cup (r_{A}, \infty), \quad \text{where:} \quad \begin{cases} r_{A} = \frac{1}{3} \left(1 + a + b + \sqrt{a^{2} + b^{2} - ab - a - b + 1} \right) \\ r_{C} = \frac{1}{3} \left(1 + a + b - 2\sqrt{a^{2} + b^{2} - ab - a - b + 1} \right) \end{cases},$$

$$(3.88)$$

by taking this into account one finds a perfect agreement between the two definitions of the entropies, as shown in Fig. (**3.2**).

The same check can be performed for the complex root Λ_1 which is associated with either the outer or intermediate horizon. Let us consider the intermediate horizon, as the $m(r_0)$ relation has the same sign choice as for the inner one (3.74). Again, Λ_1 can be rewritten in terms of the parameters (r_0, a, b) and the expression we get can be compared to the expected supersymmetric entropy of the intermediate horizon, which has exactly the same form as Eq. (3.87) (after we substitute r_{-} for r_0).

²⁰This means that for small values of the *m* parameter, there are three imaginary values that satisfy the relation $m = m(r_i)$.

In this case, one has to take into account only the complex values of r_0 that produce real m, q parameters. In other words, we have to take r_0 such that it solves $\Delta_r = 0$ with real coefficients. The requirement that m, q are real imposes a constraint between the real and imaginary parts of r_0 (that can be obtained by studying $q(r_0)$ (3.74)). By taking this into account, r_0 is given in terms of a variable $x \in \mathbb{R}$ as:

$$r_0 = \pm \sqrt{ab + a + b - 2x(1 + a + b) + 3x^2} + ix, \quad \longrightarrow \quad q = \frac{m}{1 + a + b} = (a + 1 - 2x)(b + 1 - 2x)(a + b - 2x)$$
(3.89)

if x = 0, and choosing the positive sign in front of the root, one gets the BPS outer horizon radius $r^* \in \mathbb{R}$, and the BPS value of the q parameter as expected. The sign of q does not depend on the sign of the real part of r_0 .

Notice that r_0 becomes purely imaginary if $x \in [r_B, r_A]$, where:

$$r_B = \frac{1}{3} \Big(1 + a + b - \sqrt{a^2 + b^2 - ab - a - b + 1} \Big), \tag{3.90}$$

because the term under the square root is negative, meaning that $x = Im[r_0]$ only if $x \notin [r_B, r_A]$.

One can see that the function $m(r_0(x))$ (3.89) is not injective as a function of x precisely when $x \in [r_B, r_A]$, meaning that in this region, x is not a good parameter to use. Instead of x one can use $Im[r_0] = -ir_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ when $x \in [r_B, r_A] \to r_0 \in i\mathbb{R}$. This is shown in Fig. 3.2 on the right, representing the function:

$$m\Big(r_0\big(Im[r_0])\Big) = \begin{cases} m\big(r_0(x)\big), & \text{when: } x \notin [r_B, r_A] \\ m\big(-ir_0\big), & \text{when: } x \in [r_B, r_A] \end{cases},$$
(3.91)

hence, the mass parameter interpreted as a function of $Im[r_0]$. It is demonstrated graphically that this is indeed a bijective function, hence $Im[r_0]$ can be used as a good, real parameter to trade m.

Moreover, we immediately see that in the region where r_0 is purely imaginary (blue line) the plot of $m(r_0)$ exactly matches the corresponding piece that we have found when discussing the inner horizon as a parameter, this confirms the fact that not all purely imaginary roots r_i have to be associated with the inner horizon.

Keeping in mind the above considerations, one finds that the definition of the entropy from Λ_1 and from Eq. (3.87) agree, provided that one chooses the right sign for the real part of r_0 , which turns out to be positive for the left branch of the curve at $Im[r_0] < r_B$ (this is also required to recover the BPS horizon radius when $Im[r_0] = 0$), and negative for the right branch for $Im[r_0] > r_A$



Figure 3.2: (*Left plot:*) Comparison between the definitions of the inner horizon supersymmetric entropy, from Λ_3 (dashed curve), and from Eq. (**3.87**) (solid red curve), the two definitions agree only for the expected values of $Im[r_-]$. (*Central plot:*) behaviour of m(r) when $r \in i\mathbb{R}$. For small values of m there are three imaginary roots r_i , these must be associated with r_- (green curve), r_0 (blue curve) and r_+ (red curve), in order for the three horizons radii to be good parameters. Notice that when m = 0 there appear the three expected solutions: $r_- = i$, $r_0 = ai$, $r_+ = bi$. (*Right plot:*) Plot of Eq. (**3.91**), the black line being the $m(r_0(x))$ function and the blue line being $m(-ir_0)$. This definition is needed for $m(r_0)$ to be bijective. When $r_0 \in i\mathbb{R}$ (blue line) the $m(r_0)$ curve matches the corresponding piece

in the central plot, meaning that those imaginary values of r_i must be associated with the intermediate horizon.

Similar considerations hold true for the outer horizon. When r_0 is imaginary also r_+ must be imaginary

and its imaginary part must take values in $[r_C, r_B]$ (red curve in the central plot of Fig. 3.2.

Discussion

As we have claimed, the thermodynamics of all the horizons can be reproduced from one *universal* extremization principle, which is also able to reproduce the area product formula, the BPS non-linear constraint, and explain the equivalence between these two formulas in the BPS limit. These are interpreted by means of the factorization condition (**3.43**) for the cubic polynomial, which allows to get real entropies. As new results, we have derived the inner and intermediate horizons areas, the universal area product, and its equivalence with the BPS non-linear constraint, *directly from the extremization principle*.

A key role is played by the constraint on the chemical potentials (3.32), this makes the Legendre transform determining the entropy a *constrained Legendre transform*, which can be carried over by introducing the Lagrange multiplier Λ which, being determined by the roots of a cubic polynomial, reproduces all horizons thermodynamics.

The constraint (3.32) takes that specific form because we are considering a BPS limit along trajectories that preserve supersymmetry. The advantage of preserving supersymmetry is that the action I in terms of chemical potentials takes a rather simple form (3.71). This makes it much easier to solve the constrained Legendre transform. Moreover, remember that the Euclidean on-shell action I, has been reproduced from the dual field theory only in a supersymmetric setting up to now [8].

Another comment regards the possibility of finding the cubic polynomial (3.39) in a different way. Indeed, one could generalize the procedure to derive the product of the areas of Sec. (3.2.3), and derive formulas for the sum and mixed products of the entropies $S_- + S_0 + S_+$, and $S_+S_0 + S_+S_- + S_0S_-$ in terms of the charges. This would allow one to derive a Christodulou-Ruffini-like formula:

$$(S - S_{-})(S - S_{0})(S - S_{+}) = 0, \qquad \xrightarrow{\text{BPS}} \qquad (S - S_{-}^{\star})(S - S^{\star})^{2} = 0,$$
 (3.92)

this relation holds regardless of supersymmetry or extremality and will generally be mass-dependent. Moreover, in the BPS limit, this formula should be equivalent (but not the same due to (3.82)) to the cubic polynomial (3.39). A Christodulou-Ruffini formula has been given in [63] for a class of 4D black holes, by manipulating the horizon equation. This may be possible to do also in the 5D case, but one has to deal with rather complicated expressions of the (m, a, b, q) parameters, which means that rewriting the sum and partial products of the entropies in terms of only the charges would be difficult.

Another comment regards the expression of the BPS inner horizon entropy as a function of the charges. We have already noted that it does not depend on the angular momenta $A_{-}^{\star} = -4\pi i (3Q^{\star} + \frac{\pi}{2})$, this can be understood by looking at the structure of the cubic polynomial (3.39) and the fact that A_{-}^{\star} is related to the p_2 parameter, which is the coefficient of the quadratic term. One can immediately see from the factorized form of the polynomial in Eq. (3.44) that the angular momenta can only appear in the p_1 and p_0 coefficients.

This is a consequence of the structure of the Euclidean action, which is related to the fact that this particular black hole solution only allows for two independent angular momenta. Moreover, the electrostatic potential must appear cubed in the Euclidean action (for a reason that we will explain briefly). Then the requirement of having an homogeneous function of degree 1 of the chemical potentials, as it is found in the supersymmetric case, fixes the form of the action, which in turn determines the cubic polynomial.

To see why the electrostatic potential must appear cubed, one has to view this black hole solution as a particular class of solutions of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, $U(1)^n$ gauged supergravity (See [47, 64]), whose general black hole solutions admit n independent charges and two angular momenta. Our case can be obtained by setting the n charges equal.

It has then been conjectured in [13] that the BPS outer horizon entropy, can be obtained by extremizing the following function of the chemical potentials $(I, J, K = \{1, \dots, n\})$

$$I = \mu \frac{C_{IJK} \phi^I \phi^J \phi^K}{\omega_1 \omega_2}, \qquad (3.93)$$

where ϕ^{I} is the electrostatic potential associated with the n - th gauge field A^{I} .

We also have to impose the usual constraint²¹ $\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \sum_I \phi^I = 1$, here μ is an arbitrary parameter that depends on the normalization of the chemical potentials, while C_{IJK} is the completely symmetric tensor appearing in the Chern-Simons term, which fixes the structure of the whole Lagrangian. The extremization procedure in this case has been carried out in [15], showing that the outer horizon entropy is the same as the one originally found in [65].

The structure of the supersymmetric Euclidean action I in Eq. (3.93) is fixed by the supergravity theory properties, in particular the C_{IJK} tensor, which imposes that I depends on cubic monomials of the potentials ϕ^{I} . This ultimately reflects in the way the entropies depend on the various conserved charges.

As a final comment, notice that *the extremization principle gives a method to derive the thermodynamic properties of all horizons (in the supersymmetric case), starting from the dual field theory via the AdS/CFT correspondence*. The reason is that the universal Euclidean action *I*, which appears in the extremization principle, can be computed in a supersymmetric setting from the dual CFT on the boundary. This is arguably one of our most important observations, as it may directly connect the properties of all horizons with the dual field theory description.

This concludes the analysis of the single charged black hole solution. In the next sections, we are going to extend the results we found to other black hole solutions, following a similar logic. The next case we are going to consider is the single spinning black hole solution with three electric charges of $U(1)^3$ gauged D = 5 supergravity. Before analizing it, we consider the consequences of the universality of the extremization principle for the general solution with three charges and two angular momenta. Then we specialize to the single spinning case, showing that the results obtained via the universal extremization principle are correct.

3.3 Universality of the extremization principle and $U(1)^3$ gauged supergravity general black hole solution

The extremization principle has been derived for a large class of black hole solutions, see [8, 15] for the $U(1)^3$ and $U(1)^n$ gauged cases. It is always able to correctly reproduce the outer horizon BPS entropy, but what about the other horizons? Luckily, generalizing the results found above is quite straightforward. We discuss the case of the general $U(1)^3$ gauged black hole solution, concentrating on the BPS case²².

The supersymmetric Euclidean action and the supersymmetric constraint now read ([8, 12]):

$$\begin{cases} I = 2\pi \frac{\phi^1 \phi^2 \phi^3}{\omega_1 \omega_2} \\ \omega_1 + \omega_2 - 2\phi^1 - 2\phi^2 - 2\phi^3 = \pm 2\pi i \end{cases},$$
(3.94)

where ϕ^{I} are the electrostatic potentials associated with the A^{I}_{μ} independent gauge fields.

The coefficient μ and the normalization of the chemical potentials has been fixed in such a way that by

²¹Remember that one can always rescale the chemical potentials in order to make the constraint have the same form as the one discussed here.

²²To study the pure supersymmetric case one would have to find the range of validity of each horizon radius r_i intended as a parameter. This would require studying the properties of the metric, which we are not going to do here.

setting $\phi^1 = \phi^2 = \phi^3 = \frac{1}{3}\phi$, one recovers the previous results for the one charge case (Eqs. (3.34, 3.31)). Instead, by setting $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = \frac{1}{2}\omega$ and $\phi_i \rightarrow \frac{\phi_i}{2}$ one recovers the case with three charges and one angular momentum discussed in [15] (Eqs. (2.51, 2.53)).

The extremization procedure goes through as before [15], and we simply review the main steps. First, one defines the entropy function whose extrema give the entropy as a function of the charges, the supersymmetric constraint is taken into account by adding the usual Lagrange multiplier:

$$S = ext_{\{\omega_i,\phi_i,\Lambda\}} \left[-I - \omega_i J_i - \phi^I Q_I - \Lambda(\omega_1 + \omega_2 - 2\phi^1 - 2\phi^2 - 2\phi^3 \pm 2\pi i) \right],$$
(3.95)

at this stage, one should admit the possibility of having complex charges. Then, by imposing that the physical quantities are real, we can recover the BPS limit.

One should now write the chemical potentials and Λ as functions of the conserved charges using the extremization equations, however Λ can be obtained by exploiting the identity:

$$0 = (2\Lambda - Q_1)(2\Lambda - Q_2)(2\Lambda - Q_3) - 2\pi(\Lambda + J_1)(\Lambda + J_2),$$
(3.96)

which is a cubic equation for Λ :

$$\Lambda^3 + p_2 \Lambda^2 + p_1 \Lambda + p_0 = 0, (3.97)$$

with coefficients:

$$\begin{cases} p_2 = -\frac{1}{2} \left(Q_1 + Q_2 + Q_3 + \frac{\pi}{2} \right) \\ p_1 = \frac{1}{4} \left(Q_1 Q_2 + Q_2 Q_3 + Q_3 Q_1 - \pi (J_1 + J_2) \right) \\ p_0 = -\frac{1}{8} \left(Q_1 Q_2 Q_3 + 2\pi J_1 J_2 \right) \end{cases}$$
(3.98)

the homogeneity of degree 1 of the Euclidean action I simplifies the calculation of the entropy, which is given by $S = ext_{\Lambda}[\pm 2\pi i\Lambda]$, where Λ has to be chosen among the solutions of the cubic polynomial. The claim is that the three roots represent the entropies of the three horizons following Eqs. (3.82).

Let us now specialize to the BPS case, the entropies obtained from the roots of the cubic polynomial are generally complex, in order to get a real value for the outer and intermediate horizons entropies, one has to impose the factorization condition:

$$p_{0} = p_{1}p_{2} \rightarrow \begin{cases} (\Lambda + p_{2})(\Lambda^{2} + p_{1}) = 0\\ Q_{1}^{\star}Q_{2}^{\star}Q_{3}^{\star} + 2\pi J_{1}^{\star}J_{2}^{\star} = \left(Q_{1}^{\star} + Q_{2}^{\star} + Q_{3}^{\star} + \frac{\pi}{2}\right) \left(Q_{1}^{\star}Q_{2}^{\star} + Q_{2}^{\star}Q_{3}^{\star} + Q_{3}^{\star}Q_{1}^{\star} - \pi(J_{1}^{\star} + J_{2}^{\star})\right),$$

$$(3.99)$$

this condition is the generalization of the BPS non-linear condition to the three charges, two angular momenta case, this indicates that requiring reality for the entropies is equivalent to considering the BPS case.

The three BPS entropies are then given by:

$$\begin{cases} S_{+}^{\star} = S_{0}^{\star} = 2\pi\sqrt{p_{1}} = \pi\sqrt{Q_{1}^{\star}Q_{2}^{\star} + Q_{2}^{\star}Q_{3}^{\star} + Q_{3}^{\star}Q_{1}^{\star} - \pi(J_{1}^{\star} + J_{2}^{\star})} \\ S_{-}^{\star} = 2\pi i p_{2} = -\pi i \left(Q_{1}^{\star} + Q_{2}^{\star} + Q_{3}^{\star} + \frac{\pi}{2}\right) \end{cases}$$

$$(3.100)$$

In the general supersymmetric case, the universal area product is also derived, and from the factorization condition (**3.99**) follows its equivalence with the BPS constraint in the BPS limit.

$$S_{+}S_{0}S_{-} = -(2\pi i)^{3}p_{0} = -i\pi^{3} \left(Q_{1}^{\star}Q_{2}^{\star}Q_{3}^{\star} + 2\pi J_{1}^{\star}J_{2}^{\star} \right),$$
(3.101)

this result for the area product formula, agrees with the one found in [66].

In the next section (3.4), we verify the validity of these results for the black hole solution with three charges and one angular momenta. In particular, we re-derive the BPS horizons entropies, the BPS non-linear constraint, and the universal area product formula. Then, from the discussion made in this section, the proof of the universality of the extremization principle directly follows.

Remember that the original results that we find, are related to the fact that we consider all horizons rather than just the outer horizon, as was done in the literature.

3.4 Single spinning $U(1)^3$ charged AdS_5 black hole solution

Motivated by the observations of the previous sections, we want to verify if those results hold for the black hole solution with one angular momentum and three unequal charges, arising from the $\mathcal{N} = 2, 5D, U(1)^3$ gauged supergravity theory, also known as STU model.

We follow the same logic as for the single charged solution, and for this reason we are not going to go at the same level of detail. First, we give a review of the general black hole solution of [50], following the discussion of [15]. We then discuss the generalization of the thermodynamics of all the horizons and derive the formulae involving the TS products. Then we obtain the area product formula, which has not been directly derived yet but follows from the analysis of [66], showing that it agrees with the result that we have obtained from the extremization principle of Sec. **3.3**.

Next, we move on studying the BPS solution, deriving the relation $A^{\star}_{-}(J^{\star}, Q_{I}^{\star})$. In the process, we show that the properties of all three BPS horizons, the area product formula, and the BPS non-linear constraint, are the same as those derived from the universal extremization principle, hence proving the validity of our claim also in this case.

3.4.1 Review of the solution

The bosonic part of the Lagrangian is [42, 43](following the conventions of [15, 50]):

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int \left[\left(R + 4g^2 \sum_{I=1}^3 (X^I)^{-1} - \frac{1}{2} \partial \vec{\phi}^2 \right) \star 1 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{I=1}^3 (X^I)^{-2} F^I \wedge \star F^I - \frac{1}{6} |\epsilon_{IJK}| A^I \wedge F^J \wedge F^k \right], \quad (3.102)$$

The A^I fields are three Abelian gauge fields and the $\vec{\phi} = (\phi^1, \phi^2)$ are the real physical scalars, while the $\{X^I\}$ are the auxiliary scalars given by:

$$X^{1} = e^{-\frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}\phi^{1} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\phi^{2}}, \qquad X^{2} = e^{-\frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}\phi^{1} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\phi^{2}}, \qquad X^{3} = e^{\frac{2}{3}\phi^{1}}, \tag{3.103}$$

the scalar field manifold is given by the submanifold in the $\{X^I\}$ field space given by $X^1X^2X^3 = 1$.

The black hole solution with three independent electric charges and one angular momentum can be obtained by setting the two independent angular momenta equal. The solution can be expressed in terms of coordinates $(t, r, \theta, \phi, \psi)$, these coordinates are different from the ones used in the previous section ("old") and are related by:

$$\phi = \psi^{\text{old}} - \phi^{\text{old}}, \qquad \psi = \psi^{\text{old}} + \phi^{\text{old}}, \qquad \theta = \frac{1}{2}\theta^{\text{old}}, \qquad (3.104)$$

with this set of coordinates the rotation only occurs along the ψ coordinate.

It is convenient to use the following left-invariant 1-forms of S^3 :

$$\sigma_1 + i\sigma_2 = e^{-i\psi}(d\theta + i\sin\theta d\phi),$$

$$\sigma_3 = d\psi + \cos\theta d\phi.$$
(3.105)

The black hole solution is given by:

$$ds_5^2 = \left(H_1 H_2 H_3\right)^{1/3} \left[-\frac{r^2 Y}{f_1} dt^2 + \frac{r^4}{Y} dr^2 + \frac{r^2}{4} (\sigma_1^2 + \sigma_2^2) + \frac{f_1}{4r^4 H_1 H_2 H_3} \left(\sigma_3 - \frac{2f_2}{f_1} dt\right)^2 \right], \quad (3.106)$$

$$X^{I} = \frac{(H_{1}H_{2}H_{3})^{1/3}}{H_{I}}, \qquad A^{I} = A^{I}_{t}dt + A^{I}_{\psi}\sigma_{3}, \qquad (3.107)$$

and it depends on the parameters $(m, a, \delta_1, \delta_2, \delta_3)$. If one sets $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = \delta_3$ this black hole solution reduces to the one with one angular momentum and one electric charge of minimal $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity [50], as the three gauge fields A^I become equal, and the three auxiliary scalars X^I become constants.

The functions (H_I, f_1, f_2, f_3, Y) are defined as:

$$\begin{split} H_{I} &= 1 + \frac{2ms_{I}^{2}}{r^{2}}, \\ f_{1} &= r^{6}H_{1}H_{2}H_{3} + 2ma^{2}r^{2} + 4m^{2}a^{2}\Big[2(c_{1}c_{2}c_{3} - s_{1}s_{2}s_{3})s_{1}s_{2}s_{3} - s_{1}^{2}s_{2}^{2} - s_{2}^{2}s_{3}^{2} - s_{3}^{2}s_{1}^{2}\Big], \\ f_{2} &= 2ma\big(c_{1}c_{2}c_{3} - s_{1}s_{2}s_{3}\big)r^{2} + 4m^{2}as_{1}s_{2}s_{3}, \\ f_{3} &= 2ma^{2}(1 + g^{2}r^{2}) + 4g^{2}m^{2}a^{2}\Big[2(c_{1}c_{2}c_{3} - s_{1}s_{2}s_{3})s_{1}s_{2}s_{3} - s_{1}^{2}s_{2}^{2} - s_{2}^{2}s_{3}^{2} - s_{3}^{2}s_{1}^{2}\Big], \\ Y &= f_{3} + g^{2}r^{6}H_{1}H_{2}H_{3} + r^{4} - 2mr^{2}, \end{split}$$
(3.108)

with $s_I = \sinh \delta_I$, $c_I = \cosh \delta_I$. The components of the A^I fields will not be needed and can be found in [15].

The position of the outer horizon is given by the largest root r_+ of the Y function, this is a Killing horizon associated with the killing vector:

$$V = \partial_t + 2 \frac{f_2(r_+)}{f_1(r_+)} \partial_\psi,$$
(3.109)

it is trivial to check that this vector has a vanishing norm on the horizon. As anticipated, rotation occurs only along psi in these coordinates.

Thermodynamics

The solution has five conserved charges (E, J, Q_I) , in [50] the electric charges and angular momentum were obtained from the usual Komar integrals, while the energy from the integration of the first law. The same results were obtained in the framework of holographic renormalization by [15] up to a constant shift of the conserved energy, this shift is related to the renormalization scheme that is used to regulate the divergent integral defining the energy.

The conserved charges are found to be:

$$E = E_0 + \frac{m\pi}{4} \Big(3 + a^2 g^2 + 2s_1^2 + 2s_2^2 + 2s_3^2 \Big), \qquad J = \frac{m\pi}{2} (c_1 c_2 c_3 - s_1 s_2 s_3), \qquad Q_I = \frac{m\pi}{2} s_I c_I, \quad (3.110)$$

 E_0 is the constant shift cited above, it can be interpreted as a contribution to the energy from empty AdS_5 space, as it survives when m = 0.

Again, the chemical potentials for the black hole thermodynamics are expressed in terms of the outer horizon radius r_+ as:

$$T = \frac{dY(r_{+})}{dr} \left(4\pi r_{+} \sqrt{f_{1}(r_{+})} \right)^{-1}, \quad \Omega = 2\frac{f_{2}(r_{+})}{f_{1}(r_{+})}, \quad \Phi^{I} = \frac{2m}{r_{+}^{2}H_{I}(r_{+})} \left(s_{I}c_{I} + \frac{1}{2}a\,\Omega(c_{I}s_{J}s_{K} - s_{I}c_{J}c_{K}) \right),$$
(3.111)

where T is obtained as usual from the surface gravity, Ω is the horizon angular velocity relative to a non rotating observer at infinity, and Φ^I are the electrostatic potentials, defined as $\Phi^I = \iota_V A^I |_{r_+}^{\infty}$.

Finally, the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the outer horizon is:

$$S = \frac{\pi^2}{2}\sqrt{f_1(r_+)},$$
(3.112)

notice that one has to require $f_1(r_+) > 0$ in order to have a real value for the temperature and entropy.

These quantities satisfy the first law of thermodynamics:

$$dE = T \, dS + \Omega \, dJ + \Phi^I \, Q_I, \tag{3.113}$$

and the quantum statistical relation, in the following form [15]:

$$I = \beta E - S - \beta \Omega J - \beta \Phi^I Q_I, \qquad (3.114)$$

where the Euclidean on-shell action was calculated in [15] using holographic renormalization. They showed that also in the definition of the action it appears a constant term $I_0 = \beta E_0$, that is interpreted as the on-shell action of the empty AdS_5 space.

From the same considerations that we did in the single charge case, we can interpret the on-shell action I as minus the logarithm of the grand-canonical partition function.

Supersymmetry and setup of the extremization principle

In [11], it was found that the solution preserves one quarter of the original supersymmetry if the parameters satisfy:

$$ag = e^{-(\delta_1 + \delta_2 + \delta_3)},$$
 (3.115)

this condition is equivalent to the following one on the charges:

$$E - E_0 = 2gJ + g(Q_1 + Q_2 + Q_3), (3.116)$$

which is obtained by requiring that the Bogomol'nyi matrix has at least one vanishing eigenvalue [11].

For simplicity, we set g = 1 now on. Supersymmetric solutions are naturally parametrized by the four parameters (m, δ_I) . Equivalently, one can trade the δ_I for the new parameters μ_I defined as [15]:

$$e^{4\delta_1} = \frac{\mu_1(\mu_2 + 2)(\mu_3 + 2)}{(\mu_1 + 2)\mu_2\mu_3}, \quad e^{4\delta_2} = \frac{\mu_2(\mu_3 + 2)(\mu_1 + 2)}{(\mu_2 + 2)\mu_3\mu_1}, \quad e^{4\delta_3} = \frac{\mu_3(\mu_1 + 2)(\mu_2 + 2)}{(\mu_3 + 2)\mu_1\mu_2}, \quad (3.117)$$

in terms of these parameters the susy condition (3.115) becomes:

$$a = \left(\frac{\mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3}{(\mu_1 + 2)(\mu_2 + 2)(\mu_3 + 2)}\right)^{1/4}.$$
(3.118)

In anticipation of performing the extremization principle, we want to parametrize the supersymmetric so-

lutions with the r_+ parameter by trading m using the Y = 0 condition²³. In doing this, one faces the problem that Y is of third order in m, making the relation $m(r_+, \delta_I)$ quite complicated. The situation improves if one defines the new radial coordinate [15]:

$$r^{2} = R^{2} + \frac{m}{m^{\star}} \left(r^{\star 2} - \mu_{1} \right), \tag{3.119}$$

where m^* is the BPS value of the *m* parameter which will be given below. Because of this coordinate redefinition, Y(R) is only quadratic in *m*, so that one can more easily invert the Y = 0 relation:

$$Y(R,\delta_I;m) = 0 \quad \longrightarrow \quad m = m(R,\delta_I), \tag{3.120}$$

notice that the symmetry under exchange of horizon radius r_i is not altered by the change of coordinates given above, and in any case, the condition Y(R) = 0 still does not differentiate between the roots R_i . Therefore, all the results discussed by [15] generalize for all horizons, as we have seen before.

Again, one finds that either m or R_+ are generally complex. In particular, this happens close to the BPS solution $R_+^{\star 2} = \mu_1$, and one has to choose which variable to complexify. For large values of R_+ instead, both m and R_+ can be chosen real, However, when moving towards the BPS solution, one always needs to complexify one of the two parameters. We will not study the pure susy case for this black hole solution, so we will not elaborate more on this.

It was then shown in [15], that the modified supersymmetric chemical potentials (ω, ϕ^I) satisfy the key relation:

$$\omega - \phi^1 - \phi^2 - \phi^3 = \mp 2\pi i$$
, where: $\omega = \beta(\Omega - 2), \quad \phi^I = \beta(\Phi^I - 1),$ (3.121)

where the sign ambiguity is a reflection of the sign ambiguity in the definition of $m(R_+, \delta_I)$ as the root of a quadratic polynomial, it is important to remember that once the sign choice for the outer horizon is fixed, the sign choice for the other two horizons is fixed as well, and one has to take the opposite sign.

The supersymmetric action takes the form:

$$I - I_0 = \pi \frac{\phi^1 \phi^2 \phi^3}{\omega^2}, \qquad I - I_0 = -S - \omega J - \phi^I Q_I, \qquad (3.122)$$

these quantities allow to define a non-trivial thermodynamics in the BPS limit.

Remember that even if we have derived these quantities for the outer horizon, we prefer to think about these as *universal* quantities, not related to a specific horizon yet. The distinction emerges only after having performed the extremization principle. Our results are also true if one performs the three extremizations distinguishing each horizon from the beginning. This implies, however, to rely on the non-fundamental definitions of I_0 and I_- .

This serves as the setup for the extremization principle. Then, the entropy of the outer horizon is given by the following constrained Legendre transform, as shown in [8, 15]:

$$S = ext_{\{\omega,\phi^{I},\Lambda\}} \Big[-(I - I_{0}) - \omega J - \phi^{I} Q_{I} - \Lambda \big(\omega - \phi^{1} - \phi^{2} - \phi^{3} \pm 2\pi i \big) \Big].$$
(3.123)

Following our claim, this constrained Legendre transform should also reproduce the entropies of the other horizons. We have already explored the consequences of this assumption in Sec. 3.3, where we notice that the general relation Eq. (3.95) reduces to the one relevant for this black hole solution (3.123) once we set $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = \frac{\omega}{2}$ and rescale $\phi^I \rightarrow \frac{\phi^I}{2}$ and also $Q_I \rightarrow 2Q_I$. This will allow us to compare the results obtained in

²³Notice that it would be easier to trade *a* instead of *m* for r_+ , due to the structure of the *Y* function. However, *a* is fixed by the susy condition (3.115).

Sec. 3.3 with those that we are going to obtain by studying the solution directly, in the next sections.

The BPS solution

General supersymmetric solutions have causal pathologies, these can be avoided by imposing other conditions on the parameters, which also make the solution extremal.

In particular, one finds that CTCs can be avoided by imposing the constraints [47]:

$$m = m^{\star} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3 (\mu 1 + 2)(\mu_2 + 2)(\mu_3 + 2)}, \qquad \mu_I > 0,$$

$$4\mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3 (\mu_1 + \mu_2 + \mu_3 + 1) > (\mu_1 \mu_2 + \mu_2 \mu_3 + \mu_3 \mu_1)^2, \qquad (3.124)$$

one can see that by imposing also this condition one gets an extremal solution and that the outer horizon position is real and positive $r_* > 0$.

The BPS value of the charges is given by [47]:

$$J^{\star} = \frac{\pi}{8} (2\mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3 + \mu_1 \mu_2 + \mu_2 \mu_3 + \mu_3 \mu_1),$$

$$Q_1^{\star} = \frac{\pi}{8} (2\mu_1 + \mu_1 \mu_2 + \mu_1 \mu_3 - \mu_2 \mu_3),$$
 (3.125)

the other electric charges Q_I^{\star} , can be obtained from the expression of Q_1^{\star} by cyclic permutations of the indices, while the conserved energy can be obtained by using the susy constraint on the charges (3.116).

The BPS outer horizon entropy reads:

$$S^{\star} = \frac{\pi^2}{4} \sqrt{4\mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3 (\mu_1 + \mu_2 + \mu_3 + 1) - (\mu_1 \mu_2 + \mu_2 \mu_3 + \mu_3 \mu_1)^2},$$

= $2\pi \sqrt{Q_1^{\star} Q_2^{\star} + Q_2^{\star} Q_3^{\star} + Q_3^{\star} Q_1^{\star} - \frac{\pi}{2} J^{\star}},$ (3.126)

the chemical potentials take the fixed values $\Omega^* = 2$ and $\Phi^{I*} = 1$, justifying the definition of the modified supersymmetric chemical potentials (ω, ϕ^I) given in (3.121).

A non-linear relation between the three BPS electric charges and the angular momentum can also be found in this case. Indeed, after imposing susy and extremality, only three independent parameters are left, meaning that only three conserved charges are independent. The non-linear relation can be found to be:

$$Q_{1}^{\star}Q_{2}^{\star}Q_{3}^{\star} + \frac{\pi}{4}J^{\star 2} = \underbrace{\left(Q_{1}^{\star}Q_{2}^{\star} + Q_{2}^{\star}Q_{3}^{\star} + Q_{3}^{\star}Q_{1}^{\star} - \frac{\pi}{2}J^{\star}\right)}_{S^{\star 2}/(2\pi)^{2}} \left(Q_{1}^{\star} + Q_{2}^{\star} + Q_{3}^{\star} + \frac{\pi}{4}\right).$$
(3.127)

Notice that the outer horizon BPS entropy (**3.126**) is the same as the one found via the extremization principle (**3.100**) upon suitably manipulating the charges, and the same holds true for the BPS non-linear condition (**3.127**) as compared to (**3.99**).

Notice that in the RHS of Eq. (3.127) it appears the BPS entropy squared $(S^*)^2$. This has been explained in Sec. 3.3 as being a consequence of the equivalence between the universal area product formula (LHS of (3.127)), and the BPS non-linear constraint.

We now proceed to study the properties of the general horizons of this solution. In particular, we want to show that the universal area product formula and the BPS inner horizons entropies, as obtained by studying the solution directly, agree with the definitions given in Sec. **3.3**.

3.4.2 Properties of the general horizons

Let us start by giving a brief analysis of what kind of horizons we may expect for the above black hole solution. The situation is similar to the single charged case (Sec. **3.2.1**) but we will find some qualitative differences.

As Y is a cubic polynomial in r^2 , there will be three horizons once more. The usual set of relations that determine the three radii r_i can be found by rewriting:

$$Y(r) = g^2 \prod_{i=1}^{3} (r^2 - r_i^2), \qquad (3.128)$$

by matching the coefficients with the expression in Eq. (3.108) one gets:

$$\begin{cases} r_{+}^{2} + r_{0}^{2} + r_{-}^{2} = -2m(s_{1}^{2} + s_{2}^{2} + s_{3}^{2}) - g^{-2} \\ r_{+}^{2}r_{0}^{2} + r_{-}^{2}r_{+}^{2} + r_{-}^{2}r_{+}^{2} = 4m^{2}(s_{1}^{2}s_{2}^{2} + s_{2}^{2}s_{3}^{2} + s_{3}^{2}s_{1}^{2}) + 2m(a^{2} - g^{-2}) \\ r_{+}^{2}r_{0}^{2}r_{-}^{2} = -8m^{3}s_{1}^{2}s_{2}^{2}s_{3}^{2} - g^{-2}f_{3}(r = 0) \end{cases}$$
(3.129)

To understand what kind of horizons we may expect, consider the curves $Y(r^2, m) = 0$ in the (r^2, m) plane. In this case, these curves are qualitatively different from those of the single charged solution because Y is cubic in m and not linear, see Fig. **3.3**. In particular, for appropriate fixed values of the (δ_I, a) parameters, there are two extremal configurations $m_{ext,\pm}$ associated with a minimum and maximum value of m. When these two extremal values coincide, the BPS solution is obtained. To see this, we can fix the δ_I parameters, which parametrize the general BPS solution, and follow a trajectory where a approaches its BPS value (**3.115**). This is shown in Fig. **3.3**, where the black dot represents the BPS solution for the given δ_I parameters.

If one considers any possible value of (δ_I, a) , one would find qualitatively different behaviours for the Y = 0 curves. However, we shall only consider the ones described above, as they generally admit a BPS limit. In this case, there are two physical horizons located at real and positive radii r_+ and r_0 (the event and Cauchy horizons), and a virtual horizon located at a negative value of r_-^2 . Similarly to the single charged black hole solution, an inner horizon with $r_-^2 < 0$ always exists for every value of the parameters²⁴. This is not true for the outer and intermediate horizons, for example, in the supersymmetric but not extremal solutions.

Giving a complete analysis of the regularity conditions for this black hole solution is quite involved [50], and goes beyond the scopes of our work. For this reason, we limit ourselves to the points discussed above, which are sufficient for what we are going to show next.

Thermodynamics of the other horizons and TS product formulae

The same reasoning used in the single charged case can also be applied here. The chemical potentials and the entropies of each horizon can be obtained from those of the outer horizon (3.111, 3.112) by the replacement: $r_+ \rightarrow r_i$. The same holds for the on-shell action, so we could give a proposal for an "on-shell" action, or better, a thermodynamic potential, for each horizon but we will not use these generalized definitions as already discussed.

The conserved charges are the same for each horizon. This is confirmed by looking at the definitions (3.110) where one does not need to use r_i as parameter.

Then, proving the validity of the first law and the QSR for each horizon is only a matter of relabelling the r_+ parameter in the expressions associated with the outer horizon. This is true after we have traded one of the

²⁴Because Y(r) is a cubic polynomial in r^2 , there must be at least one real root, provided that the parameters of the solution are kept real.



Figure 3.3: The solid (blue) lines represent the curves $Y(r^2; m) = 0$ in the (r^2, m) plane for a fixed value of the δ_I parameters, while the *a* parameter tends to the BPS value, which in this case is approximately given by $a \approx 0.368$. The BPS solution is represented by the black dot. The solid (red) line represents the locus where $T(r^2; m) = 0$. The qualitative behaviour of the Y = 0 curves is different from that of the single charged black hole in Fig. **3.1**. In this case, there are two physical horizons for suitable values of the (δ_I, a) parameters, if *m* is contained between two extremal values $m_{ext,\pm}$. For both of these extremal configurations, the temperature vanishes. This behaviour does not appear for every possible value of the (δ_I, a) parameters. However, in these cases, we find that the solutions do not admit a BPS limit, or they are characterized by the presence of a naked singularity.

parameters for a given horizon radius r_i using the condition Y(r) = 0. Y(r) is linear in²⁵ a^2 , so we can easily trade a in favour of r_i :

$$Y(r; a, m, \delta_I) = 0 \longrightarrow a^2 = a^2(r_i, m, \delta_I).$$
(3.130)

With these definitions, we should find a negative temperature for the intermediate horizon, and an imaginary temperature for the inner horizon.

The validity of the first law for each horizon allows us to derive a relation of the form of Eq. (3.68), which expresses the mass-independence of the product of the areas in an equivalent way. Indeed, the products $(T_i)(S_i)$ can be rewritten as in Eq. (3.69):

$$T_i S_i = \frac{\pi}{8} \frac{Y'(r_i)}{r_i} = \frac{\pi g^2}{4} \left(r_i^2 - r_j^2 \right) \left(r_i^2 - r_k^2 \right), \quad \text{with:} \quad j, k \neq i,$$
(3.131)

this is the analogue of Eq. (5.34) of [63], and were also found in [15]. Using this result and the first laws, it is trivial to check that it holds:

$$0 = \underbrace{\frac{S_0 S_-}{T_+} + \frac{S_+ S_-}{T_0} + \frac{S_+ S_0}{T_-}}_{d(S_+ S_- S_0)/dE} = \frac{(S_0 T_0)(S_- T_-) + (S_+ T_+)(S_- T_-) + (S_+ T_+)(S_- T_-)}{T_+ T_0 T_-}.$$
 (3.132)

3.4.3 Area product formula

We now turn our attention to the area product formula. This has not been directly derived yet but can be easily obtained as a special case of [66] and Eq. (3.101). In particular, by setting $J_1 = J_2$ and rescaling $Q_I \rightarrow 2Q_I$ in Eq. (3.101), one expects to find the following entropy product formula for this case:

$$S_{-}S_{0}S_{+} = -i\left(\frac{2\pi}{g}\right)^{3}\left(Q_{1}Q_{2}Q_{3} + \frac{\pi}{4}J^{2}\right),$$
(3.133)

 $^{^{25}}$ for each value of the parameters one finds two solutions $\pm a$ related to R/L handed rotating Black Holes

as expected, the product of the areas does not depend on the mass of the solution, which is exactly what is expressed by Eq. (3.132).

We now verify the validity of Eq. (3.133) following the procedure of [32]. From the definitions of Y, f_1 , f_3 in Eqs. (3.108), we can rewrite the Y function as follows:

$$Y(r) = f_3 + g^2 r^6 H_1 H_2 H_3 + r^4 - 2mr^2 = g^2 f_1(r) + r^4 + 2m(a^2 - r^2),$$
(3.134)

if we evaluate the above equality on a given root r_i of Y we immediately find the following result:

$$g^{2}f_{1}(r_{i}) = -r_{i}^{4} + 2m(r_{i}^{2} - a^{2}) = -(c^{2} - r_{i}^{2})(d^{2} - r_{i}^{2}), \qquad (3.135)$$

where, in the second equality we have rewritten $g^2 f_1(r_i)$, which is a quadratic polynomial in r_i^2 , in terms of its roots (c^2, d^2) , which then satisfy:

$$\begin{cases} c^2 d^2 = 2ma^2 \\ c^2 + d^2 = 2m \end{cases}, \qquad \begin{cases} Y(c) = g^2 f_1(c) + c^4 - 2m(c^2 - a^2) = g^2 f_1(c) \\ Y(d) = g^2 f_1(d) + d^4 - 2m(d^2 - a^2) = g^2 f_1(d) \end{cases},$$
(3.136)

the second set of equations is obtained because (c^2, d^2) are the roots of the polynomial that appears in the definition of Y(r), if we use (3.134). Eq. (3.135) allows us to rewrite the entropy of a general horizon as:

$$S_i = \frac{\pi^2}{2} \sqrt{f_1(r_i)} = \frac{\pi^2}{2g} \sqrt{-(c^2 - r_i^2)(d^2 - r_i^2)} , \qquad (3.137)$$

therefore:

$$S_{-}S_{0}S_{+} = -\frac{\pi^{6}i}{8g^{3}}\prod_{i}(c^{2} - r_{i}^{2})^{1/2}(d^{2} - r_{i}^{2})^{1/2} = -\frac{\pi^{6}i}{8g^{5}}\sqrt{Y(c)Y(d)} = -\frac{\pi^{6}i}{8g^{3}}\sqrt{f_{1}(c)f_{1}(d)}, \quad (3.138)$$

where we have used Eqs. (3.128, 3.136).

The expression obtained in this way is rather complicated, but it can be explicitly checked that it agrees with the expected formula in terms of charges (3.133). To see this, it is convenient to trade the (m, a) parameters for the (c^2, d^2) in the definition of the charges. This can be done easily using Eqs. (3.136).

3.4.4 Independent derivation of S_{-}^{\star}

The final step to prove the universality of the extremization principle, is the derivation of S_{-}^{\star} by directly studying the black hole solution. We should recover the result in Eq. (3.100), once we put $J_{1}^{\star} = J_{2}^{\star}$.

We need to find the BPS value of the inner horizon r_{-}^{\star} . First, it is convenient to find the expression of the s_I parameters in terms of the μ_I . After a bit of algebra, we find:

$$s_1^2 = \frac{1}{4} \left(\sqrt{\frac{\mu_1(\mu_2 + 2)(\mu_3 + 2)}{(\mu_1 + 2)\mu_2\mu_3}} + \sqrt{\frac{(\mu_1 + 2)\mu_2\mu_3}{\mu_1(\mu_2 + 2)(\mu_3 + 2)}} - 2 \right), \tag{3.139}$$

the RHS is always positive because of the condition (3.124). The other s_I parameters are found via obvious permutations of the indices.

Then, using the known value of the outer horizon BPS radius:

$$r^{\star 2} = \frac{1}{2} \bigg(\sqrt{\mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3 (\mu_1 + 2)(\mu_2 + 2)(\mu_3 + 2)} - \mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3 - \mu_1 \mu_2 - \mu_2 \mu_3 - \mu_3 \mu_1 \bigg),$$
(3.140)

and exploiting the first of Eqs. (3.129), one is able to derive the following expression for the inner horizon radius:

$$r_{-}^{\star 2} = \frac{1}{2} \bigg(\sqrt{\mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3 (\mu_1 + 2)(\mu_2 + 2)(\mu_3 + 2)} - \mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3 - \mu_1 \mu_2 - \mu_2 \mu_3 - \mu_3 \mu_1 - 2\mu_1 - 2\mu_2 - 2\mu_3 - 2 \bigg),$$
(3.141)

Setting $\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \mu_3 = 0$ and thus reducing to empty AdS_5 spacetime, we find $r_-^{\star 2} = -1$ in g = 1 units, which is the radius of the virtual horizon appearing in the AdS_5 space discussed in the single charged case.

To evaluate the inner horizon entropy, we can use the same trick that we used in the discussion of the universal area product, this allows to simplify the expression for the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy initially given in Eq. (3.112), to the one in Eq. (3.137):

$$S_i = \frac{\pi^2}{2} \sqrt{-r_i^4 + 2m(r_i^2 - a^2)},$$
(3.142)

Specializing to the inner horizon, using the definition (3.142) for the entropy and remembering the BPS value of the *a* and *m* parameters in Eqs. (3.118, 3.124), one can show that:

$$S_{-}^{\star} = -2\pi^{2}i \Big[1 + \mu_{1} + \mu_{2} + \mu_{3} + \frac{1}{2} \big(\mu_{1}\mu_{2} + \mu_{2}\mu_{3} + \mu_{3}\mu_{1} \big) \Big],$$

$$= -2\pi i \Big(Q_{1}^{\star} + Q_{2}^{\star} + Q_{3}^{\star} + \frac{\pi}{4} \Big), \qquad (3.143)$$

proving the validity of the result that we have already found from the extremization principle.

As a final test of the validity of the extremization principle's universality, we have checked that the extremization equations are actually solved in the BPS case. From Eq. (3.123) the equations that one has to verify are:

$$\frac{\partial(I-I_0)}{\partial\omega} = -2\pi \frac{\phi^1 \phi^2 \phi^3}{\omega^3} = -J - \Lambda, \qquad \qquad \frac{\partial(I-I_0)}{\partial\phi^I} = \pi \frac{\phi^J \phi^K}{\omega^2} = -Q_I + \Lambda, \tag{3.144}$$

if one considers the explicit expression for a given root (in the BPS solution) $\Lambda_i(J^*, Q_I^*)$, and the expressions of the chemical potentials (ω_i, ϕ_i^I) that can be obtained from Eqs. (3.111, 3.121), then, the extremization equations are found to hold in the BPS solution, after we express all quantities in terms of only the μ_I parameters.

This concludes the explicit proof of the universality of the extremization principle for the single spinning, triple charged black hole solution. We are now going to turn our attention to a different class of (AdS) black holes in four dimensions.

Chapter 4

Asymptotically AdS_4 black holes in 4D, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged supergravity

In this chapter, we are going to turn our attention to some special cases of the general asymptotically AdS_4 black hole solutions of $U(1)^4$ gauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$, D = 4 supergravity.

This supergravity theory arises as a consistent truncation of SO(8) gauged $\mathcal{N} = 8$, D = 4 supergravity [4], the procedure reduces the original SO(8) gauge group to its Cartan $U(1)^4$ subgroup. Furthermore, the $\mathcal{N} = 8$ theory can be obtained as a consistent truncation on S^7 of D = 11 supergravity on $AdS_4 \times S^7$. By means of the AdS/CFT correspondence [3], the thermodynamics of the black holes that we are going to consider should be reproduced by a dual three-dimensional conformal field theory [6, 67].

The most general black hole solution is described by six conserved charges [68]: the energy E, one angular momentum J, and four electric charges associated with the four U(1) gauge symmetries. We are going to directly consider the solution with two independent charges of [68], and the one with one charge [69] which is also a solution of pure $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity. We are also going to consider the generalization with acceleration and magnetic charge [16, 70] of the latter.

We discuss the three black hole solutions separately, first giving a review of the known properties of the solutions and then generalizing the results that we have found in the previous sections to the current ones. For the black hole solution with acceleration, we also derive the area product formula, which has never been discussed before. We also discuss the consequences of the universality of the extremization principle in the general solution with four charges, starting from the supersymmetric entropy function proposed by [14]. In this case, we will not provide an explicit proof of the universality of the extremization principle.

4.1 Review of the single charged, spinning AdS_4 black hole solution

Let us start discussing the single charged solution of pure $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged supergravity. This was originally found in [71], but we will follow the presentation of [69].

The bosonic part of the action for D = 4 minimal $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged supergravity is given by:

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(R + 6 - \frac{1}{4} F^2 \right), \tag{4.1}$$

where we have fixed the cosmological constant so that the AdS_4 solution has radius 1 [69].

This theory admits an electrically charged, spinning, asymptotically AdS_4 black hole solution parametrized by three constants (m, a, δ) . In Boyer-Lindquist type coordinates (t, r, θ, ϕ) , the metric and the graviphoton gauge field describing the solution are given by:

$$ds_4^2 = -\frac{\Delta_r}{W} \left(dt - \frac{a\sin^2\theta}{\Xi} d\phi \right)^2 + W \left(\frac{dr^2}{\Delta_r} + \frac{d\theta^2}{\Delta_\theta} \right) + \frac{\Delta_\theta \sin^2\theta}{W} \left(adt - \frac{(\tilde{r}^2 + a^2)}{\Xi} d\phi \right)^2,$$

$$A = \frac{2m\tilde{r}\sinh 2\delta}{W} \left(dt - \frac{a\sin^2\theta}{\Xi} d\phi \right),$$
(4.2)

where the gauge field can always be modified by adding a pure gauge term of the form αdt , which is required when discussing the regularity of the solution in the Euclidean signature.

The functions that appear in the metric and the gauge field are defined as:

$$\tilde{r} = r + 2m \sinh^2 \delta, \qquad \Delta_r = r^2 + a^2 - 2mr + \tilde{r}^2(\tilde{r}^2 + a^2), \qquad \Xi = 1 - a^2,$$

 $\Delta_\theta = 1 - a^2 \cos^2 \theta, \qquad W = \tilde{r}^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta, \qquad (4.3)$

the position of the horizons is given by the roots of the Δ_r quartic polynomial.

We need to assume $a^2 < 1$ so that the Einstein universe on the conformal boundary does not rotate faster than the speed of light [53], and we can assume without loss of generality that all parameters are non negative [69], $a, m, \delta \ge 0$.

The black hole solution is characterized by three conserved charges, its energy E, charge Q and angular momentum J which are given by:

$$E = \frac{m\cosh 2\delta}{\Xi^2}, \qquad Q = \frac{m\sinh 2\delta}{\Xi}, \qquad J = \frac{ma\cosh 2\delta}{\Xi^2}, \tag{4.4}$$

these are all positive, due to our assumptions on the parameters.

The Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the outer horizon is:

$$S = \frac{\pi(\tilde{r}_{+}^{2} + a^{2})}{\Xi},$$
(4.5)

where clearly r_+ is the outer horizon radius, hence the largest real root of the Δ_r polynomial.

The chemical potentials of the outer horizon are given by:

$$T = \frac{\Delta'_r(r_+)}{4\pi(\tilde{r}_+^2 + a^2)}, \qquad \Omega = \frac{a(1 + \tilde{r}_+^2)}{\tilde{r}_+^2 + a^2}, \qquad \Phi = \frac{m\tilde{r}_+ \sinh 2\delta}{\tilde{r}_+^2 + a^2}, \tag{4.6}$$

where one needs to remember that the angular velocity relevant for the thermodynamics is not directly the one of the horizon Ω_H , obtained by requiring the vanishing of the norm of the killing vector $V = \partial_t + \Omega_H \partial_\phi$ on the horizon, but rather the difference between Ω_H and the angular velocity of the asymptotic observer $\Omega = \Omega_H - \Omega_\infty$ [53]. Similarly, the electrostatic potential is defined as $\Phi = V^{\mu}A_{\mu}|_{\infty}^{r_+}$.

With these definitions, one can easily show that the first law of thermodynamics is satisfied, together with the quantum statistical relation:

$$dE = T \, dS + \Omega \, dJ + \Phi \, dQ, \qquad I = \beta \, E - S - \beta \, \Omega \, J - \beta \, \Phi \, Q, \tag{4.7}$$

where the Euclidean on-shell action is given by:

$$I = \frac{\beta}{2(a^2 - 1)} \left[r_+^3 + 6ms^2 r_+^2 + r_+ \left(a^2 + 12m^2 s^4 \right) + 2ms^2 \left(a^2 + 4m^2 s^4 - 1 \right) - m + \frac{4m^2 c^2 s^2 \tilde{r}_+}{R_+^2 + a^2} \right]$$
(4.8)

with s, c used as a shorthand notation for $\sinh \delta$ and $\cosh \delta$. This can be obtained from the more general black hole solution discussed in [15] with two pairwise equal charges, by setting $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = \delta$ in such a way to reduce to the present one charged solution.

4.1.1 Supersymmetric and BPS solution

It can be shown that half of the total $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry can be restored by imposing the following constraint on the conserved charges [72] :

$$E = J + Q \iff \begin{cases} a = \frac{2}{e^{4\delta} - 1} \\ e^{\delta} > \sqrt[4]{3} \end{cases}$$
(4.9)

this follows as usual from the requirement that the Bogomol'nyi matrix has a vanishing eigenvalue.

It can be shown [69] that by imposing the supersymmetry constraint (4.9) in the definition of the chemical potentials Eqs. (4.6) one finds that they satisfy the usual constraint:

$$\beta(1+\Omega-2\Phi) = \pm 2\pi i,\tag{4.10}$$

in the spirit of [8], these should be thought of as functions of the (r_+, δ) parameters, where *m* has been traded for r_+ using the $\Delta_r(r) = 0$ condition. We discuss this in more detail later. This will also allow us to explain the origin of the sign ambiguity in the above relation.

As usual, one defines the modified chemical potentials (ω, ϕ) as:

$$\omega = \beta(\Omega - 1) = \pm \frac{2\pi i (a - 1)}{1 + a \pm 2i\tilde{r}_{+}}, \qquad \phi = \beta(\Phi - 1) = \pm \frac{2\pi i (a \pm i\tilde{r}_{+})}{1 + a \pm 2i\tilde{r}_{+}},$$

$$\omega - 2\phi = \pm 2\pi i, \qquad (4.11)$$

these provide the non-trivial intensive parameters describing the thermodynamics of the BPS solution.

The quantum statistical relation and the supersymmetric action for each horizon now take the form:

$$I = S - \omega J - \phi Q, \qquad \qquad I = \mp \frac{i}{2} \frac{\phi^2}{\omega}$$
(4.12)

from this, one can develop the extremization principle, and obtain the black hole entropy from the constrained Legendre transform:

$$S(Q,J) = ext_{\{\omega,\phi,\Lambda\}} \Big[-I - \omega J - \phi Q + \Lambda(\omega - 2\phi \mp 2\pi i) \Big].$$
(4.13)

It was shown in [69] that this extremization principle correctly reproduces the outer horizon thermodynamics in the supersymmetric solution. The same result can also be obtained from the discussion of [14] after having reduced to the present solution.

Extremality and BPS solution

Pure supersymmetric solutions are characterized by causal pathologies in Lorentzian signature, as usual. Moreover, the function Δ_r does not have positive real zeros. However, one can obtain a regular and supersymmetric solution free from causal pathologies, by imposing also the condition [69]:

$$m = a(1+a)\sqrt{2+a} = \frac{2\sqrt{2}e^2\left(e^4+1\right)}{\left(e^4-1\right)^{5/2}},$$
(4.14)

in this limit, one can show that the Δ_r polynomial has a double real root corresponding to the physical outer horizon, and the black hole is extremal.

In this case, one can check that the outer horizon chemical potentials take a fixed value¹ $\Omega^* = \Phi^* = 1$ and $T^* = 0$.

In the BPS limit, the charges are given by:

$$Q^{\star} = \frac{\sqrt{2}\sqrt{e^4 - 1}}{e^4 - 3}, \qquad J^{\star} = \frac{2\sqrt{2}\sqrt{e^4 - 1}}{\left(e^4 - 3\right)^2}, \qquad (4.15)$$

and they satisfy the following constraint:

$$J^{\star} = \frac{Q^{\star}}{2} \Big(\sqrt{1 + 4Q^{\star 2}} - 1 \Big), \tag{4.16}$$

in addition to (4.9).

The Bekenstein Hawking entropy for the outer horizon can be shown to be equal to:

$$S^{\star} = \frac{\pi}{2} \Big(\sqrt{1 + 4Q^{\star 2}} - 1 \Big). \tag{4.17}$$

One may notice that now the BPS constraint (4.16) has a different structure with respect to the ones that we have found in the five-dimensional case. However, the equivalence between the area product formula and the BPS constraint continues to hold, the only difference being that in this case it is not directly evident.

4.2 **Properties of the general horizons of the single charged solution**

Let us now turn to our original analysis of the properties of the general horizons of this black hole solution. The main task of this section is to show the validity of our claim regarding the *universality* of the extremization principle also for this solution. This universality holds true also in this case.

We also discuss the relation between the universal area product, which we have directly derived, and the BPS condition, showing again that in the BPS limit they are equivalent, provided that one knows the expressions of the BPS entropies of all the horizons.

4.2.1 Physical and virtual horizons

Let us consider the Δ_r polynomial (4.3) and rewrite it as:

$$\Delta_r = r^2 + a^2 - 2mr + \tilde{r}^2(\tilde{r}^2 + a^2) = \prod_i (r - r_i),$$
(4.18)

where remember that $\tilde{r} = r + 2ms^2$.

As we have already noticed, there are four roots r_i of Δ_r , which satisfy (using r or \tilde{r}):

$$\begin{cases} r_1 + r_2 + r_3 + r_4 = -8ms^2 \\ r_1 r_2 + r_1 r_3 + \dots = 1 + a^2 + 24m^2 s^4 \\ r_1 r_2 r_3 + \dots = 2m(1 - 2a^2s^2 - 16m^2s^6) \\ r_1 r_2 r_3 r_4 = a^2 + 4m^2s^4(1 + 4m^2s^4) \end{cases}, \qquad \begin{cases} \tilde{r}_1 + \tilde{r}_2 + \tilde{r}_3 + \tilde{r}_4 = 0 \\ \tilde{r}_1 \tilde{r}_2 + \tilde{r}_1 \tilde{r}_3 + \dots = a^2 + 1 \\ \tilde{r}_1 \tilde{r}_2 \tilde{r}_3 + \dots = 2m(1 + 2s^2) \\ \tilde{r}_1 \tilde{r}_2 \tilde{r}_3 \tilde{r}_4 = a^2 + 4m^2s^2(1 + s^2) \end{cases},$$
(4.19)

¹This justify the definition in Eq. (4.11).

from the first equation, involving the sum of the roots, we conclude that at least one root must be negative. However, it is easy to see that the polynomial $\Delta_r(r)$ is strictly positive if r < 0 and we assume all parameters to be non negative, as we did at the beginning. This means that there are no real negative roots. The only possibility is that there are at least two complex conjugated roots whose real part is negative.

This means that there will always be at most two physical horizons associated with the real positive roots (r_0, r_+) , and at least two virtual horizons associated with a couple of complex conjugated roots (r_-, \bar{r}_-) . Giving a physical meaning to these complex roots is even more difficult than it would be in the five-dimensional case, where the virtual horizon is associated with the real root $r_-^2 < 0$. However, we will see that some of the observations that we have made for the inner horizon in relation to the spacetime with $r^2 < 0$ are also valid here.

We could argue, for example, that the virtual horizons are somehow associated with the virtual horizon that appears in the empty AdS_4 spacetime when we allow r^2 to be negative. Indeed, notice that when we set $m = \delta = 0$, so that to recover empty AdS_4 spacetime², the polynomial Δ_r reduces to a quadratic in the r^2 coordinate, with $r_-^2 = -1$ and $r^2 = -a$ as zeroes. The latter can be removed via the change of coordinates [52] that removes the *a* parameter and puts the metric (4.2) into the standard form of static AdS_4 spacetime. Instead, $r_-^2 = -1$ is the genuine virtual horizon (remember that we have set the AdS_4 radius to 1), notice that it is associated with the complex conjugate pair of roots $r_- = \pm i$.

As soon as we let m > 0, the polynomial (4.18) becomes of quartic order in r, and one can check that already at first order in m the root r_{-}^2 splits into two complex conjugate solutions of $\Delta_r = 0$, given by:

$$r_{-} = \pm i - \frac{m(2s^{2}(1-a^{2})+1))}{1-a^{2}} + O(m^{2}), \qquad (4.20)$$

notice that the real part of r_{-} is negative as expected.

Similarly to the five-dimensional case, the virtual horizons reduce to the one of pure AdS_4 space in the $m \to 0$ limit. The difference being that in the five-dimensional case, the polynomial determining the horizon radii is always cubic in r^2 , allowing us to use it as a coordinate. In this way, even if there are two complex conjugated horizons also in the five-dimensional case, at $r_- = \pm i(\cdots)$, we can regard them as the same horizon, related to the same value of r_-^2 .

From a more detailed analysis of the roots of the Δ_r polynomial, one realizes that there are two physical horizons if $m \in [m_{ext,-}, m_{ext_+}]$ meaning that there are two extremal values for the *m* parameter. When *m* takes one of the extremal values, the solution is extremal. This is similar to what we saw for the five-dimensional black hole solution with three independent charges in Sec. **3.4.2**, and happens because the $\Delta_r(r)$ polynomial is of fourth order in *m*.

This can be seen more easily by passing to the \tilde{r} radial coordinate, which makes $\Delta_r(\tilde{r})$ only quadratic in m. The condition $\Delta_r(\tilde{r};m) = 0$ can be equivalently expressed by considering the relation $m = m(\tilde{r})$ given by:

$$m(\tilde{r}) = \frac{\tilde{r}^2 \left(2s^2 + 1\right) \pm \sqrt{\tilde{r}^2 \left(2s^2 + 1\right)^2 - 4s^2 \left(s^2 + 1\right) \left(\tilde{r}^2 + 1\right) \left(a^2 + \tilde{r}^2\right)}}{4s^2 \left(s^2 + 1\right)},$$
(4.21)

plotting these curves, one finds the behaviour shown in Fig. 4.1 which is similar to what we have seen in Fig. 3.3. where one can also see that for $m = m_{extr,\pm}$ the solution is extremal. For other values of m there are always four complex roots if we keep the parameters of the solution real.

As a final note, one can explicitly check that the BPS solution can be equivalently obtained by simultane-

²As previously discussed in the five-dimensional case, by setting $m = \delta = 0$ one gets the metric of AdS_4 spacetime but in nonstandard coordinates due to the presence of the *a* parameter (and hence rotation). The standard metric of the AdS_4 spacetime can be obtained via a suitable change of coordinates [52].



Figure 4.1: Behaviour of the $\Delta_r(r; m) = 0$ curves (solid line) in the (r, m) plane, for a fixed value of the *s* parameter, while *a* tends to the BPS value, which in this case is approximately $a \approx 0.88$. The dashed line represents the locus where $T_+(r_+; m) = 0$, while the black dot represents the BPS solution associated with the given value of the *s* parameter. The situation is the same as for the five-dimensional black hole solution with three charges **3.3**. There are two extremal configurations associated with $m_{ext,\pm}$, which coincide and produce the BPS solution once $a = a_{\star}$. The qualitative behaviour does not change if we consider different ranges of the parameters.

ously requiring that $m_{ext,+} = m_{ext,-} = m_{\star}$ by using the general relation (4.21) and imposing extremality.

Supersymmetric and BPS horizons

From now on we will use R instead of \tilde{r} to make the notation lighter.

It is important to consider what happens in the supersymmetric case, following [8] we want to use an horizon radius \tilde{r}_i as a parameter describing the supersymmetric solutions, we need to study Eq. (4.21) after having imposed the constraint (4.9), in this way the relation³ $m = m(R_i)$ becomes:

$$m = \frac{2e^2 \left[R_i (1+e^4) \pm i \left(R_i^2 (e^4 - 1) - 2 \right) \right]}{R_i^4 - 1},$$
(4.22)

remember that $e = e^{\delta}$.

If one forces the horizon radius to be real, then one must introduce a complexified family of solutions characterized by a complex value of the m parameter, one also has to pass to Euclidean signature for consistency. This is analogous to what we have seen in the five-dimensional case [8].

However, we will follow the same conventions that we used when discussing the five-dimensional case and keep the parameters of the solution *real*. This implies that in the general supersymmetric solution we will have four virtual horizons, associated with two pairs of complex conjugated roots (R, \overline{R}) and (R_-, \overline{R}_-) . This is only a choice of parametrization that is more convenient to us, as it allows us to keep a real value of the charges. Moreover, in this way we keep the symmetry under exchange of horizon radius R_i when used as a parameter describing the solution.

Notice that by keeping m real and fixing one of the two signs in (4.22) when using one of the complex roots R, we are forced to choose the opposite sign when considering the same relations in terms of \bar{R}_i . This happens in order to satisfy $m = \bar{m}$. The sign differences in Eq. (4.22) propagates in many places when discussing the universal extremization principle, and determines which sign appears in the expression determining a given horizon entropy in terms of the corresponding Λ root.

³Remember that this relation does not distinguish between the horizons, meaning that all roots solving $\Delta_r(R;m) = 0$ can be used here.

Finally, notice that in the BPS solution, obtained after having imposed both (4.9) and (4.14), one is able to explicitly find all the roots of the Δ_r polynomial, which are given by:

$$R^{\star} = \sqrt{a}, \qquad R^{\star}_{-} = -\sqrt{a} \pm i(a+1),$$
(4.23)

clearly R^* is a double root. This solution corresponds to the point in Fig.4.1. Having found the explicit value of R^*_{-} , we can directly derive the expressions of the inner horizons entropies, which are obtained as usual from the generalization of Eq. (4.5). Remembering the expression of the BPS electric charge (4.15) we find:

$$S^{\star} = \frac{\pi}{2} \Big(\sqrt{1 + 4Q^{\star 2}} - 1 \Big), \qquad S^{\star}_{-} = -\frac{\pi}{2} \Big(1 + 4iQ^{\star} + \sqrt{1 + 4Q^{\star 2}} \Big), \qquad (4.24)$$

where we have also given the BPS value of the physical BPS entropy for completeness.

Notice that when we set $Q^* = 0$, hence reducing to empty AdS_4 spacetime, the BPS entropies reduce to $S^* = 0$ and $S^*_- = -\pi$. The latter is precisely one quarter of the area of a 2-sphere with radius $r^2 = -1$ that appears in empty AdS_4 space when we allow $r^2 < 0$. This is the same observation that we made in the five-dimensional case in Sec. **3.2.2**. This observation reinforces the idea that we might have to treat the spacetime with $r^2 < 0$ more seriously, as it seems to be a general feature for these AdS black holes which does not depend on the number of dimensions of the spacetime, nor on the number of independent charges that characterize the solution.

These results can be used to show the equivalence between the BPS constraint (4.14) with the universal area product, which we are now going to derive.

4.2.2 Universal area product formula

The universal area product has not been derived yet for this specific solution, however, it should trivially follow from the results of [32] for the pairwise equal charged case.

We can proceed as in Sec. 3.4.3, first notice that the condition $\Delta_r(r) = 0$ is equivalent to:

$$\tilde{r}^2 + a^2 = \frac{-r^2 + 2mr - a^2}{(r + 2ms^2)^2} = -\frac{(r - b)(r - d)}{(r + 2ms^2)^2},$$
(4.25)

where:

$$b+d=2m, \qquad bd=a^2 \tag{4.26}$$

moreover, Δ_r evaluated on either b or d reads:

$$\Delta_r(b) = (b + 2ms^2)^2 ((b + 2ms^2)^2 + a^2), \qquad (4.27)$$

exploiting this result, the product of the four entropies can be rewritten as (using $S_i = \frac{\pi}{\Xi} (\tilde{r}_i^2 + a^2)$, Eq. (4.5)):

$$\prod_{i=1}^{4} S_i = \left(\frac{\pi}{1-a^2}\right)^4 \prod_{i=1}^{4} \frac{(\tilde{r}_i - b)(\tilde{r}_i - d)}{(\tilde{r}_i + 2ms^2)^2} = \left(\frac{\pi}{1-a^2}\right)^4 \prod_{i=1}^{4} \frac{\Delta_r(b)\Delta_r(d)}{\Delta_r(-2ms^2)^2},\tag{4.28}$$

rearranging the above expression in such a way that only terms depending on bd and b + d appear one finds that the product of the entropies reads (also using Eqs. (4.4)):

$$\prod_{i=1}^{4} S_i = \frac{4m^2 \pi^4}{(1-a^2)^4} \Big(4m^2 s^4 c^4 + a^2 (s^2 + c^2) \Big) = \pi^4 \Big(Q^4 + 4J^2 \Big), \tag{4.29}$$

this result agrees with the expected one found in [32] for the pairwise equal case, once we reduce to the one charged case and suitably rescale (Q, J).

We can now specialize to the BPS solution, where $S_{+}^{\star} = S_{0}^{\star} = S^{\star}$ and the BPS entropies are given by Eqs. (4.24). By inserting these informations in the area product formula one finds:

$$\pi^4 Q^{\star 2} \Big(2 + 5Q^{\star 2} - 2\sqrt{1 + 4Q^{\star 2}} \Big) = S_-^{\star} \bar{S}_-^{\star} S^{\star 2} = \pi^4 \Big(Q^{\star 4} + 4J^{\star 2} \Big), \tag{4.30}$$

this is precisely the BPS constraint (4.14). To see this, one can view the above equation as an equation for J^* , whose solution is precisely (4.14).

In anticipation of what we have shown, also in this case the equivalence of the area product formula and the BPS constraint can be interpreted by means of a factorization condition, needed to obtain real entropies from the extremization principle.

4.2.3 Thermodynamics of all the horizons

Following the logic of the five dimensional case, we will now proceed to define the generalized thermodynamics for each horizon. Again, we can do this in such a way that the first law and the quantum statistical relations are automatically satisfied. This, will also prepare the ground to show the universality of the extremization principle.

Following Sec. (3.2.4) it is quite easy to define the relevant thermodynamic quantities for the other horizons. In particular, the conserved charges remain fixed while the chemical potentials, the entropy, and the on-shell action are simply obtained by replacing the explicit dependence on r_+ with the appropriate r_i root in the various definitions associated with the outer horizon (4.5, 4.6, 4.8). Clearly, the two virtual horizons are characterized by a complex value of these quantities, which we treat as formal quantities.

The first law of thermodynamics and the QSR for each horizon, are immediately derived from those of the outer horizon once we trade one parameter of the solution with a given R_i (e.g. we can trade m using Eq. (4.21)). It does not matter which horizon radius is used until $\Delta_r = 0$ is satisfied, and again checking the first law or the QSR for each horizon is only a matter of relabelling the r_i parameter. For the intermediate horizon at r_0 one would get a negative temperature.

We can now easily generalize equations (**3.68**, **3.69**). From the mass-independence of the entropy product formula, combined with the generalized first law for each horizon, we get:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d(S_1 S_2 S_3 S_4)}{dE} = 0\\ \frac{dS_i}{dE} = \frac{1}{T_i} \end{cases}, \quad \text{At fixed } Q \text{ and } J, \tag{4.31}$$

implying the following identity which generalizes Eq. (3.68) in the case where there are 4 horizons:

$$(S_2T_2)(S_3T_3)(S_4T_4) + (S_1T_1)(S_3T_3)(S_4T_4) + (S_1T_1)(S_2T_2)(S_4T_4) + (S_1T_1)(S_2T_2)(S_3T_3) = 0, \quad (4.32)$$

this relation can be easily checked by noticing that the products $T_i S_i$ for a given horizon can be rewritten as (using Eqs. (4.19)):

$$T_1 S_1 = \frac{m(1+2s^2) - R_1(2R_1^2 + 1 + a^2)}{2\Xi} = \frac{1}{4\Xi} \Big((R_1 - R_2)(R_1 - R_3)(R_1 - R_4) + 3R_1^2 \underbrace{(R_1 + R_2 + R_3 + R_4)}_{0} \Big)$$
(4.33)

this generalizes Eq. (3.69) and allows to easily check the validity of Eq. (4.32).

Supersymmetric case and setup of the universal extremization principle

As a final step, before moving on proving the universality of the extremization principle, let us consider the supersymmetric chemical potentials for each horizon. These are obtained by imposing the supersymmetric constraint and trading m for the appropriate R_i parameter in Eqs. (4.6), one gets:

$$T_{i} = \frac{e^{8}R_{i}^{2}\left(2R_{i}\mp i\right) + e^{4}\left(-4R_{i}^{3} - 4R_{i}\pm 2i\right) + 2R_{i}^{3} + 4R_{i}\pm i(R_{i}^{2}+2)}{2\pi\left(\left(e^{4} - 1\right)^{2}R_{i}^{2} + 4\right)},$$
(4.34)

$$\Omega_{i} = \frac{2\left(e^{4}-1\right)\left(R_{i}^{2}+1\right)}{\left(e^{4}-1\right)^{2}R_{i}^{2}+4}, \qquad \Phi_{i} = \frac{\left(e^{4}-1\right)\left(1\pm iR_{i}\right)R_{i}}{\left(e^{4}-1\right)R_{i}\pm2i}, \qquad \frac{1+\Omega_{i}-2\Phi_{i}}{T_{i}} = \mp 2\pi i, \qquad (4.35)$$

the sign ambiguity is correlated to the one in the $m = m(R_i)$ relation (4.22). As we have already discussed, once we choose a sign convention for a given horizon, we have to choose the opposite sign for the conjugated horizon. These relations are the same *in form* if we choose to work with complex horizons radii R_i and real mor if we force (R_0, R_+) to be real and complexify m (as done in [8]). However, the two choices give different chemical potentials, because the two possibilities above correspond to two different ways that can be used to parametrize the supersymmetric solution.

Next we introduce the usual modified chemical potentials (ω_i, ϕ_i) :

$$\omega_i = \beta_i (\Omega_i - 1), \qquad \phi_i = \beta_i (\Phi_i - 1), \qquad \omega_i, -2\phi_i = \pm 2\pi i, \tag{4.36}$$

by virtue of the symmetry under exchange of horizon radius R_i , these have the same expression as the ones given in Eq. (4.11). Remember that only for the outer and intermediate horizons these represent, in the $T_+ \rightarrow 0$ or $T_0 \rightarrow 0$ limit, the subleading order contributions in the expansion of the potentials around the BPS solution, following a supersymmetric trajectory.

The quantum statistical relation and the supersymmetric action for each horizon now take the form:

$$I_i = S_i - \omega_i J - \phi_i Q, \qquad I_i = \mp \frac{i}{2} \frac{\phi_i^2}{\omega_i}.$$
(4.37)

We are now ready to define the universal action I, depending on the universal chemical potentials (ω, ϕ) not associated with any particular horizon. As we have already discussed in the five-dimensional case, this allows us to not depend on the definitions of the I_i actions.

Notice that the sign ambiguity appearing in the relation $m = m(R_i)$, which we have seen to be fixed between two conjugated horizons, has propagated to the supersymmetric constraint (4.36), but also to the action I_i (4.37), this means that one has to formally define two universal actions, one associated with the horizons located at (R, R_-) and one, with opposite sign, associated with the conjugated horizons at (\bar{R}, \bar{R}_-) .

We are now ready to prove the universality of the extremization principle.

4.2.4 Universal extremization principle

In [69] the extremization principle was briefly discussed (concentrating only on the outer horizon). We are going to consider their discussion, extending their calculations and taking all the horizons in considerations.

The starting point is given by the following universal relations:

$$\omega - 2\phi = \mp 2\pi i, \qquad I = \mp \frac{i}{2} \frac{\phi^2}{\omega}, \qquad (4.38)$$

the fact that the two couples of conjugated horizons (R, R_{-}) and $(\overline{R}, \overline{R}_{-})$ have a sign difference in the definition

of the action, implies that we should formally treat the two couples separately. This is different from what we have done in the five-dimensional case and, indeed, the procedure is slightly different in this case. However, we are going to show that one can derive the properties of all four horizons from one calculation, which directly generalizes what we have done in the five-dimensional case.

The entropy S = S(Q, J) can be obtained from the following constrained Legendre transform:

$$S = ext_{\{\omega,\phi,\Lambda\}} \Big[-I - \omega J - \phi Q + \Lambda(\omega - 2\phi \pm 2\pi i) \Big], \tag{4.39}$$

following our choice of parametrization, the charges are real.

The extremization equations are:

$$\frac{\partial I}{\partial \omega} = -J + \Lambda, \qquad \frac{\partial I}{\partial \phi} = -Q - 2\Lambda,$$
(4.40)

together with the supersymmetric constraint, they should be used to determine the chemical potentials and Λ .

Combining the second extremization equation and the supersymmetric constraint gives:

$$\phi = \frac{2\pi i}{2(Q+2\Lambda) - i}, \qquad \omega = 2\pi i \left(\frac{2 - 2(Q+2\Lambda) - i}{2(Q+2\Lambda) - i}\right), \tag{4.41}$$

these depend on J through Λ , once we have solved the extremization equations to determine $\Lambda = \Lambda(Q, J)$.

The Lagrange multiplier can be obtained by noticing that the following combination of derivatives of the supersymmetric action vanishes:

$$\left(\frac{\partial I}{\partial \phi}\right)^2 \mp 2i \frac{\partial I}{\partial \omega} = 0 \quad \longrightarrow \quad \left(Q + 2\Lambda\right)^2 \mp 2i \left(-J + \Lambda\right) = 0, \tag{4.42}$$

the Euclidean action is an homogeneous function of degree one of the chemical potentials, meaning that it still holds:

$$S_i = \pm 2\pi i \Lambda_i, \tag{4.43}$$

where Λ_i is a root of the polynomial in Eq. (4.42).

To associate the right root Λ_i to its corresponding horizon, one should choose the root that satisfies the extremization equations Eqs. (4.40), once we consider the explicit expressions for the chemical potentials associated with that given horizon, and we express everything in terms of the (a, e) parameters. This can be easily done in the BPS limit and, with some care, also in the general supersymmetric case. The discussion is similar to that of the five-dimensional solution.

Notice that in this case, we have two quadratic polynomials determining the Lagrange multiplier Λ . The two pairs of roots (Λ, Λ_{-}) and $(\bar{\Lambda}, \bar{\Lambda}_{-})$ are separately associated with the horizons at (R, R_{-}) and (\bar{R}, \bar{R}_{-}) . This happens because of the sign difference in the definition of the supersymmetric action.

However, we can recover a completely unified description of all four horizons by considering the following quartic polynomial determining the Λ roots:

$$(Q+2\Lambda)^4 + 4(-J+\Lambda)^2 = 0 \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad \left[\left(Q+2\Lambda\right)^2 - 2i\left(-J+\Lambda_i\right) \right] \left[\left(Q+2\Lambda\right)^2 + 2i\left(-J+\Lambda_i\right) \right] = 0.$$
(4.44)

Even if one could formally work by using only the quadratic polynomial in Λ it is worth considering also the procedure with the quartic polynomial, which directly generalizes the one discussed in the five-dimensional case. Moreover, we will need it in the following, when discussing the extremization principle for the general solution with four charges.
Extremization principle using the quadratic polynomial

Let us choose the + sign in Eq. (4.42), one gets the following:

$$\Lambda^2 + \Lambda \frac{1}{2}(2Q - i) + \frac{1}{4}(2iJ + Q^2) = 0, \qquad (4.45)$$

the roots are given by:

$$\Lambda = \frac{1}{4} \Big(-2Q + i \pm i\sqrt{1 + 4i(Q + 2J)} \Big), \tag{4.46}$$

these are complex, as the charges are real, but this is coherent with the fact that in the general supersymmetric solution all horizons are complex. The BPS case is obtained by imposing that at least one of the two Λ roots is purely imaginary, we cannot require to have two conjugated imaginary roots as the quadratic polynomial has complex coefficients, this confirms our interpretation that each quadratic polynomial reproduces either (R, R_{-}) or its conjugated pair of horizons, as one of the two must always be complex.

One can see that only the root with the - sign in (4.46) can be made purely imaginary by requiring⁴

$$Im\left[\sqrt{1+4i(Q+2J)}\right] = 2Q \longrightarrow \left(1+16(Q+2J)^2\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \sin\left[\frac{1}{2}\arctan\left[4(Q+2J)\right]\right] = 2Q. \quad (4.47)$$

A solution can be found by exploit the trigonometric identities $\sin(\frac{x}{2}) = \sqrt{\frac{1-\cos x}{2}}$ and $\cos[\arctan x] = (x^2 + 1)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$. This allows us to rewrite the above condition as the following quadratic equation in J:

$$J^{2} + JQ - Q^{4} = 0, \quad \longrightarrow \quad J = \frac{Q}{2} \left(\sqrt{1 + 4Q^{2}} - 1 \right),$$
 (4.48)

whose solution is exactly the BPS condition (4.15). Imposing the above constraint, the two roots of the quadratic polynomial becomes⁵:

$$\Lambda^{\star} = -\frac{i}{4} \Big(\sqrt{1 + 4Q^{\star 2}} - 1 \Big), \qquad \Lambda^{\star}_{-} = \frac{i}{4} \Big(1 + 4iQ^{\star} + \sqrt{1 + 4Q^{\star 2}} \Big), \tag{4.49}$$

by using the definition of the entropy in terms of the Lagrange multiplier $S = 2\pi i \Lambda$, we immediately see that we correctly reproduce the results already found in the BPS solution for the entropies Eqs. (4.17). The results for the conjugated horizons can be easily obtained by replacing $i \rightarrow -i$ in all expressions.

Finally, notice that exploiting Eqs. (4.49), the expressions for the BPS charges (4.15) and the expressions for the BPS chemical potentials for the two horizons, one can check that the extremization equations are solved, this confirms that the two roots Λ are correctly associated with the expected horizon.

The product formula for the entropies can also be derived from the extremization principle, the constant term in the quadratic polynomial gives the product of two horizons meaning that:

$$\prod_{i} S_{i} = (4\pi)^{4} \Lambda \Lambda_{-} \bar{\Lambda} \bar{\Lambda}_{-} = \pi^{4} (Q^{2} + 2iJ)(Q^{2} - 2iJ) = \pi^{4} [Q^{4} + 4J^{2}].$$
(4.50)

Supersymmetric but non extremal case

Eq. (4.46) allows us to find a formal expression for the supersymmetric entropies S, S_{-} as a function of only the conserved charges. The entropy product formula is always satisfied by means of Eq. (4.50).

We can check if the entropies obtained from this definition agree with the ones that one would get from the

⁴Remember that we have initially fixed the parameters to be positive, meaning that also the charges are positive. One finds that the other root can become, real but only if the charges are negative.

⁵To find the expression for the complex root one needs to exploit the identity $1 + 4iQ\sqrt{1 + 4Q^2} = (2iQ + \sqrt{1 + 4Q^2})^2$.

formula of the area Eq. (4.5). As we have seen in the five-dimensional case, to correctly associate each Λ root to the corresponding horizon entropy:

$$\Lambda = \frac{1}{4} \Big(-2Q + i - i\sqrt{1 + 4i(Q + 2J)} \Big) \Big|_{Q(e,R),J(e,R)} \longleftrightarrow \pi \frac{(R^2 + a^2)}{1 - a^2}$$
$$\Lambda_- = \frac{1}{4} \Big(-2Q + i + i\sqrt{1 + 4i(Q + 2J)} \Big) \Big|_{Q(e,R_-),J(e,R_-)} \longleftrightarrow \pi \frac{(R^2_- + a^2)}{1 - a^2}, \tag{4.51}$$

we need to find the range of validity for R and R_{-} interpreted as "good" parameters that substitute m, where with "good" we simply mean that the inverting relation $m = m(R_i)$ is bijective, remember also that m > 0.

With our parametrization, we have $m \in \mathbb{R}$. This requirement imposes a constraint on the real and imaginary part of the complex horizon radii, in particular, using the inversion relation Eq. (4.22) one easily finds that it must hold:

$$R = \sqrt{\frac{(e^4 - 1)x^2 - (e^4 + 1)x + 2}{e^4 - 1}} + ix, \qquad R_- = -\sqrt{\frac{(e^4 - 1)x^2 - (e^4 + 1)x + 2}{e^4 - 1}} + ix \qquad (4.52)$$

The + sign is associated with the R root while the - sign is associated with the R_{-} root whose real part must be negative. Setting x = 0 we recover the real BPS solution for the physical outer horizon radius $R^{\star} = \sqrt{a}$, and similarly setting x = 1 + a we recover the BPS solution for the virtual horizon radius $R_{-}^{\star} = -\sqrt{a} + i(1 + a)$.

The roots become purely imaginary if the radical is negative, this happens if $x \in (\frac{2}{e^4-1}, 1)$, this is similar to what happened to the r_0 root in the five-dimensional case. However, we cannot allow x to take these values as it would produce an imaginary m = m(R). To see this, let us insert Eqs. (4.52) into the inverting relation (4.22), obtaining:

$$m(R_i(x)) = \pm \frac{2e^2\sqrt{(x-1)((e^4-1)x-2)(e^4(1-2x)+2x+1)}}{(e^4-1)^{5/2}},$$
(4.53)

the sign depends on which horizon radius R or R_{-}) is considered. Notice that precisely when $x \in (\frac{2}{e^4-1}, 1)$ the mass parameter is imaginary, hence we should exclude those values from the range of validity of x. There are two separate branches of allowed values for the x parameter, one finds that each branch must be associated with either R or R_{-} in such a way to satisfy the condition m > 0 see Fig. (4.2).



Figure 4.2: Behaviour of $m = m(R_i(x))$ in Eq. (4.53), associated with R in red, and R_- in black. We see that, imposing m > 0 implies that the two allowed regions for the $x = Im[R_i]$ parameter are associated with either one of the two horizons. Notice that the BPS value for m (4.14) (with e = 1.5 we have $m_{\star}(e) \approx 1.16$) is obtained precisely when R is real (x = 0) and when $Im[R_-] = x = 1 + a_{\star}(e)$.

In particular, one finds that the complex variable R(x) (associated with the outer horizon) is related to a

positive value for m if $x < \frac{2}{e^4-1}$. Instead, $R_-(x)$ (associated with the inner horizon), produces a positive value for m if x > 1.

After having understood which numerical (complex) values R and R_{-} can take, one can easily check numerically that the relations in Eqs. (4.51) are satisfied, provided that one evaluates them in the correct range of the x parameter.

Extremization principle using the quartic polynomial

Consider now the quartic polynomial obtained by multiplying the two quadratic polynomials generating the two couples of roots, from this the thermodynamics of all four horizons can be reproduced at once.

$$(Q+2\Lambda)^{4} + 4(-J+\Lambda)^{2} = \left[(Q+2\Lambda)^{2} - 2i(-J+Q)\right]\left[(Q+2\Lambda)^{2} + 2i(-J+Q)\right], \quad (4.54)$$

explicitly, it is given by:

$$\Lambda^{4} + p_{3}\Lambda^{3} + p_{2}\Lambda^{2} + p_{1}\Lambda + p_{0}, \quad \text{where:} \quad \begin{cases} p_{3} = 2Q \\ p_{2} = \frac{1}{4}(1+6Q^{2}) \end{cases}, \quad \begin{cases} p_{1} = \frac{1}{2}(Q^{3} - J) \\ p_{0} = \frac{1}{16}(Q^{4} + 4J^{2}) \end{cases}.$$
(4.55)

The entropy product formula can be immediately read off from the p_0 parameter. Proceeding as usual, the BPS solution can be imposed requiring that the quartic polynomial has two conjugated imaginary roots, this can be done as the polynomial has real coefficients. This is achieved by imposing the following condition on the p_i coefficients:

$$\frac{p_1}{p_3} + \frac{p_0 p_3}{p_1} = p_2 \quad \to \quad \frac{\left(4Q^2 + 1\right)\left(J^2 + JQ - Q^4\right)}{4\left(Q^4 - JQ\right)} = 0 \tag{4.56}$$

and again, one easily sees that this condition is equivalent to imposing the BPS constraint (4.15). The above condition is the factorization condition which puts the quartic polynomial in the form:

$$\left(\Lambda^2 + \frac{p_1}{p_3}\right) \left(\Lambda^2 + p_3\Lambda + p_2 - \frac{p_1}{p_3}\right),\tag{4.57}$$

then in the BPS limit one finds for the outer physical horizon that⁶:

$$S^{\star} = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{p_1}{p_3}} = \frac{\pi}{2} \left(\sqrt{1 + 4Q^{\star 2}} - 1 \right)$$
(4.58)

while the BPS value of the two virtual horizons entropies, are obtained by considering the roots Λ_{-} of the quadratic polynomial⁷ $\Lambda^2 + p_3\Lambda + p_2 - \frac{p_1}{p_3}$:

$$S_{-}^{\star} = \pm \pi i \left(-p_3 \pm \sqrt{4\frac{p_1}{p_3} - 4p_2 + p_3} \right) = -\frac{\pi}{2} \left(1 \pm 4iQ + \sqrt{1 + 4Q^2} \right). \tag{4.59}$$

These are exactly the results found in Eqs. (4.24), moreover, the extremization equations can be found to be satisfied for each horizon by choosing the appropriate root for Λ , this has essentially already been checked when discussing the case generated by the quadratic polynomial.

As a final comment, notice that the equivalence between the universal area product formula and the BPS constraint, can be derived using the definitions of the BPS entropies in terms of the p_i parameters (4.58, 4.59),

⁶One needs to use $(\sqrt{1+4Q^2}-1)^2 = -1 - 2Q^2 + \sqrt{1+4Q^2}$. ⁷One needs to use: $(\sqrt{1+4Q^2}+1)^2 = 2 + 4Q^2 + 2\sqrt{1+4Q^2}$.

and rewriting the factorization condition (4.56) as:

$$p_0 = \frac{p_1}{p_3} \left(p_2 - \frac{p_1}{p_3} \right) \longrightarrow p_0 = S^{\star 2} S_-^{\star} \bar{S}_-^{\star}.$$
(4.60)

This concludes our discussion for the present black hole solution.

4.3 Pairwise equal charged, spinning AdS_4 black hole solution

In this section, we are going to generalize some of the previous results also to the pairwise equal charged solution. We will mostly concentrate on the properties of the BPS horizons in order to prove the universality of the extremization principle. We will not elaborate on the details of the solution as it does not bring any novelty with respect to the single charged case, which can be trivially obtained from the present solution.

Let us start with an overview of the properties of the solution.

Review of the black hole solution

Consider the black hole solution of [68], we simply give a review the relevant features of the solution skipping all the details that are not directly needed.

This is a particular solution of $U(1)^4$ gauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity, the bosonic fields of this theory are: the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, four Abelian gauge fields A^I which are then set pairwise equal $A^1 = A^2$ and $A^3 = A^4$ and two real scalar fields, the axion and the dilaton⁸. One can find in [15, 68] the specific expressions for the metric and the other fields characterizing the solution.

The solution is given using coordinates (t, r, θ, ϕ) , with $\theta \in [0, \pi]$ and $\phi \sim \phi + 2\pi$ parametrizing a 2sphere, and depends on four parameters $(m, a, \delta_1, \delta_2)$ which can be roughly associated with the mass, angular momenta, and the two independent electric charges. It is interesting to notice that the scalar fields depend on the combination $r_1 - r_2$ where $r_i = r + 2m \sinh^2 \delta_i$, meaning that by setting $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = \delta$ the two scalar fields can be set to zero, while the two gauge fields become equal. One can easily check that in this way one recovers the single charged solution discussed in Sec. **4.1**.

The function determining the position of the horizons is now given by:

$$\Delta_r = r^2 + a^2 - 2mr + r_1 r_2 (r_1 r_2 + a^2), \tag{4.61}$$

where we have set the AdS_4 radius to 1 as usual, notice that it trivially reduces to (4.3) if $\delta_1 = \delta_2$.

The solution has four independent conserved charges:

$$E = \frac{m}{\Xi^2} (1 + s_1^2 + s_2^2), \qquad J = \frac{ma}{\Xi^2} (1 + s_1^2 + s_2^2),$$
$$Q_1 = Q_2 = \frac{m s_1 c_1}{2\Xi}, \qquad Q_3 = Q_4 = \frac{m s_2 c_2}{2\Xi},$$
(4.62)

where $s_i = \sinh \delta_i$, $c_i = \cosh \delta_i$ and $\Xi = 1 - a^2$. These have been obtained via the standard Maxwell and Komar integrals, and by integrating the first law to get the energy in [11], or via holographic renormalization in [15].

The chemical potentials of the outer horizon, which is located at the largest positive root r_+ of Δ_r , are

⁸The original $U(1)^4$ gauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity theory is obtained by coupling the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity multiplet with three vector multiplets, hence the theory would contain a total of three complex scalars, or equivalently, six real scalars. After having set the four gauge fields pairwise equal, one also sets four of the total scalar fields to constants so that only two non-trivial real scalar fields [68] remain. Equivalently, one realizes that the field content described above is consistent with the one that one gets when considering pure supergravity coupled to one vector multiplet

given by the following expressions:

$$T = \frac{\Delta'_r(r_+)}{4\pi(r_1r_2 + a^2)}, \quad \Omega = \frac{a(1+r_1r_2)}{r_1r_2 + a^2}, \quad \Phi^1 = \Phi^2 = \frac{2m\,s_1\,c_1\,r_2}{r_1\,r_2 + a^2}, \quad \Phi^3 = \Phi^4 = \frac{2m\,s_2\,c_2\,r_1}{r_1\,r_2 + a^2}, \quad (4.63)$$

these have been calculated in a non-rotating frame at infinity with coordinates $(t' = t, \phi' = \phi + at)$ (see [15]) hence the angular velocity is both the horizon angular velocity (the killing vector generating the horizon is $V = \partial_{t'} + \Omega \partial_{\phi'}$) and the thermodynamic one. Moreover, having set the gauge fields pairwise equal, also makes the electrostatic potentials pairwise equal as they are defined via the usual relation $\Phi^I = \iota_V A^I \Big|_{r_+}^{\infty}$.

Finally the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy is:

$$S = \frac{\pi (r_1 \, r_2 + a^2)}{\Xi}.\tag{4.64}$$

Notice that all the thermodynamic quantities reduce to the ones of Sec. 4.1 upon setting $\delta_1 = \delta_2$, with the exception of the electric charges that reduce to $Q_1 = Q_3 = \frac{Q}{4}$ where Q has been defined in (4.4).

The above thermodynamic quantities satisfy the first law of thermodynamics in the form:

$$dE = T \, dS + \Omega \, dJ + 2\Phi^1 \, dQ_1 + 2\Phi^3 \, dQ_3, \tag{4.65}$$

and the quantum statistical relation:

$$I = \beta E - S - \beta \Omega J - 2\beta \Phi^1 Q_1 - 2\beta \Phi^3 Q_3,$$
(4.66)

where I is the Euclidean on-shell action that was calculated in [15] by using holographic renormalization.

Supersymmetric solutions

Supersymmetry is (partially) restored if the above solution satisfies the condition⁹ [15]:

$$a = \frac{2}{e^{2(\delta_1 + \delta_2)} - 1},\tag{4.67}$$

again, one finds that the supersymmetric chemical potentials and charges satisfy the standard supersymmetric constraints:

$$\beta(1+\Omega-\Phi^1-\Phi^3) = \mp 2\pi i, \qquad E - J - 2Q_1 - 2Q_3 = 0, \tag{4.68}$$

where as usual, one should think of these quantities as parametrized by the $(r_+, \delta_1, \delta_2)$ parameters, with r_+ substituting m by using the $\Delta_r(r_+) = 0$ condition. Also in this case Δ_r (4.61) is quartic in m so to effectively trade m for the outer horizon radius, one needs to introduce the new coordinate $R = r + 2m s_1^2$ which makes $\Delta_r(R)$ only quadratic in m. This is similar to what we did before (Sec. (4.1.1)) and was discussed in [15].

One can introduce the modified chemical potentials:

$$\omega = \beta(\Omega - 1), \qquad \phi^{I} = \beta(\Phi^{I} - 1), \qquad \omega - \phi^{1} - \phi^{3} = \mp 2\pi i,$$
(4.69)

in terms of which, the supersymmetric Euclidean action and the QSR take the usual form:

$$I = \mp \frac{i}{2} \frac{\phi^1 \phi^3}{\omega}, \qquad I = -S - \omega J - 2 \phi^1 Q_1 - 2 \phi^3 Q_3.$$
(4.70)

⁹Notice that if we impose to have real parameters, this condition satisfies the bound $a^2 < 1$ only provided that a > 1 because $e^{2(\delta_1 + \delta_2)} > 0$, moreover one has to impose $\delta_1 + \delta_2 > \log(\sqrt{3})$.

The quantities (4.69, 4.70) remain well defined in the BPS limit and allow to describe a non trivial BPS thermodynamics. Moreover, starting from these relations it can be shown [14] that the constrained Legendre transform of the supersymmetric action I, with respect to all chemical potential is able to reproduce the BPS entropy, after having imposed the usual reality condition.

Extremality and BPS solution

As usual, supersymmetric solutions have causal pathologies, and the condition $\Delta_r(r) = 0$ determining the position of the horizons only has complex roots. One can obtain a well-behaved solutions by imposing another constraint on the parameters¹⁰ [11]:

$$m^{2} = m_{\star}^{2} \equiv \frac{\cosh^{2}(\delta_{1} + \delta_{2})}{4e^{\delta_{1} + \delta_{2}}\sinh^{3}(\delta_{1} + \delta_{2})c_{1}s_{1}c_{2}s_{2}},$$
(4.71)

it can be shown that in this way the solution becomes extremal and Δ_r has a real double root at:

$$r_{\star} = \frac{2m_{\star} \, s_1 \, s_2}{\cosh(\delta_1 + \delta_2)},\tag{4.72}$$

the chemical potentials of the outer horizon take the fixed values: $\Omega^* = 1$, $\Phi^{1*} = \Phi^{3*} = 1$ and T = 0, while the charges now depend only on (δ_1, δ_2) and satisfy the constraint [14]:

$$J^{\star} = (Q_1^{\star} + Q_3^{\star}) \Big(\sqrt{1 + 64Q_1^{\star}Q_3^{\star}} - 1 \Big), \tag{4.73}$$

together with the one in (4.68).

The BPS outer horizon entropy is given in terms of the charges as [14]:

$$S^{\star} = \frac{\pi}{2} \Big(\sqrt{1 + 64Q_1^{\star}Q_3^{\star}} - 1 \Big), \tag{4.74}$$

again the results for the single charged case in Sec. 4.1.1 can be recovered by setting $Q_1^{\star} = Q_3^{\star} = \frac{Q^{\star}}{4}$.

4.3.1 Properties of the BPS horizons

In this section, we are going to derive the BPS entropies and radii for the virtual inner horizons. Notice that also in this case the Δ_r function (4.61) is a quartic polynomial in r, hence there are four horizons (possibly complex conjugated).

It is useful to work with the parameters $e_i = e^{\delta_i}$. In terms of these, one can easily find that the supersymmetry and BPS conditions on the (a, m) parameters (4.67, 4.71) become:

$$a = \frac{2}{e_1^2 e_2^2 - 1}, \qquad m = \frac{2\sqrt{2} e_1 e_2 (1 + e_1^2 e_2^2)}{(e_1^2 e_2^2 - 1)^{\frac{3}{2}} \sqrt{(e_1^4 - 1)(e_2^4 - 1)}}.$$
(4.75)

We need to find the BPS value for the inner horizon radius $R_{-}^{\star} = r_{-}^{\star} - 2m s_1^2$. This can be done by rewriting: $\Delta_r(R) = \prod_i (R - R_i)$, where R_i are the general horizons radii. In this way, one gets the usual

¹⁰A real mass parameter is obtained provided that $\delta_1 \delta_2 > 0$ so that $s_1 s_2 > 0$, and remember that $\delta_1 + \delta_2$ has already been set positive when considering the supersymmetry condition (4.67). The combination of these 2 bounds forces δ_1 and δ_2 to be positive. Then, if we also require $r_* > 0$ this forces also m to be positive, meaning that the BPS solution is characterized by a positive value of all parameters and hence charges from Eqs. (4.62).

relations between the roots:

$$\begin{cases} R_{1} + R_{2} + R_{3} + R_{4} = 4m(s_{1}^{2} - s_{2}^{2}) \equiv A_{0} \\ R_{1}R_{2} + \dots = 1 + a^{2} + 4m^{2}(s_{1}^{2} - s_{2}^{2})^{2} \equiv A_{1} \\ R_{1}R_{2}R_{3} + \dots = 2m(1 + 2s_{1}^{2} + a^{2}(s_{1}^{2} - s_{2}^{2})) \equiv A_{2} \\ R_{1}R_{2}R_{3}R_{4} = a^{2} + 4m^{2}s_{1}^{2}(1 + s_{1}^{2}) \equiv A_{3} \end{cases} \xrightarrow{\text{BPS}} \begin{cases} 2Re[R_{-}^{\star}] + 2R^{\star} = A_{0} \\ |R_{-}^{\star}|^{2} + 2Re[R_{-}^{\star}]R^{\star} + R_{-}^{2\star} = A_{1} \\ 2|R_{-}^{\star}|^{2}R^{\star} + 2Re[R_{-}^{\star}]R^{\star} + R_{-}^{2\star} = A_{1} \\ 2|R_{-}^{\star}|^{2}R^{\star} + 2Re[R_{-}^{\star}]R^{2\star} = A_{2} \\ |R_{-}^{\star}|^{2}R^{\star} = A_{2} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.76)$$

where clearly one should impose the constraints (4.75) on the A_i coefficients, and we have written the inner virtual horizons radii as $R_1 = \bar{R}_2 = R_-$.

Combining the first and the last equations above, one gets:

$$|R_{-}^{\star}|^{2} = \frac{A_{3}}{R^{\star 2}}, \qquad Re[R_{-}^{\star}] = \frac{1}{2}A_{0} - R^{\star}, \qquad (4.77)$$

which, after some calculations, and using the known result for R^* that follows from Eq. (4.72), one finds that:

$$R^{\star} = \frac{e_2 \sqrt{2(e_1^4 - 1)}}{e_1 \sqrt{(e_2^4 - 1)(e_1^2 e_2^2 - 1)}}, \qquad R_{-}^{\star} = -\frac{e_1 \sqrt{2(e_2^4 - 1)}}{e_2 \sqrt{(e_1^4 - 1)(e_1^2 e_2^2 - 1)}} + i\frac{e_1^2 e_2^2 + 1}{e_1^2 e_2^2 - 1}, \qquad (4.78)$$

the other equations hold with these definitions. Everything reduces to the previous single charged BPS solution upon setting $\delta_1 = \delta_2$.

Inserting the result for R_{-}^{\star} in the definition of the entropy (4.64), one finds an expression for the virtual horizons BPS entropies in terms of the (e_1, e_2) parameters. We will not explicitly show it as it is quite long, but it can be used to explicitly check that the virtual horizon BPS entropy is equivalent to the following expression:

$$S_{-}^{\star} = -\frac{\pi}{2} \Big[1 + 8i(Q_1^{\star} + Q_3^{\star}) + \sqrt{1 + 64Q_1^{\star}Q_3^{\star}} \Big].$$
(4.79)

Also in this case, one can notice that by setting $Q_1^* = Q_3^* = 0$ and reducing to AdS_4 space, one obtains $R_-^* = \pm i$ and $S_-^* = -\pi$. As we have seen in the single charged case.

As a final comment, notice that by using the universal area product formula, which was derived in [32] for this solution, and the expressions for the BPS horizons entropies one can recover the BPS constraint (4.73):

$$S_{-}^{\star}\bar{S}_{-}^{\star}S^{2\star} = (2\pi)^{4} \left[\frac{J^{\star 2}}{4} + 16Q_{1}^{\star 2}Q_{3}^{\star 2} \right] \longrightarrow J^{\star} = J^{\star} \left(Q_{i}^{\star}, S_{i}^{\star}(Q_{i}^{\star}) \right).$$
(4.80)

Instead of discussing the universality of the extremization principle for this solution, which is a rather trivial generalization of the procedure discussed in **4.2.4**, we are going to discuss it for the more general four-charged solution in the next section, and then reducing those results to the pairwise equal case.

4.4 Universal extremization principle for the four-charge black holes

The extremization principle for the general black hole solution was discussed in [14] who concentrated, as usual, on the physical outer horizon. We are going to revisit their discussion following a different procedure, analogous to the one in Sec. **4.2.4**, and extending their results by explicitly solving the extremization equations and deriving the universal area product and BPS constraint on the charges for the general four-charged solution. We will also consider the inner horizons. Finally, we will reduce to the pairwise equal case showing the validity of our claim for this solution as well.

The form of the supersymmetric on-shell action proposed in [14] is the following:

$$I = \pm 2i \frac{\sqrt{\phi^1 \phi^2 \phi^3 \phi^4}}{\omega},\tag{4.81}$$

here we work in units where the Newton's constant and the AdS_4 radius are both one, we also consider a different proportionality constant with respect to [14].

The proposed action depends on the (ϕ^I, ω) variables, which we interpret as the supersymmetric chemical potentials generalizing the ones defined in Eq. (3.32), and satisfying the usual constraint given by:

$$\omega - \phi^1 - \phi^2 - \phi^3 - \phi^4 = \pm 2\pi i, \tag{4.82}$$

the ambiguity in the signs has been clarified when discussing the single charged solution, remember that of the four supersymmetric horizons, two are associated with the complex roots (R, R_-) for which one can choose one of the two sign conventions. Then, the conjugated horizons at (\bar{R}, \bar{R}_-) must be associated with the opposite sign convention¹¹.

The entropies of all horizons should then be reproduced by the following constrained Legendre transform:

$$S = ext_{\{\omega,\phi^{I},\Lambda\}} \Big[-I - \omega J - \phi^{I} Q_{I} + \Lambda(\omega - \phi^{1} - \phi^{2} - \phi^{3} - \phi^{4} \mp 2\pi i) \Big],$$
(4.83)

where clearly J and Q_I are the supersymmetric charges of the black hole, which at this stage should be allowed to be complex, similarly as for the chemical potentials.

Performing the extremization principle with respect to the chemical potentials requires solving the following extremization equations:

$$\frac{\partial I}{\partial \omega} = \Lambda - J, \qquad \frac{\partial J}{\partial \phi^I} = -\Lambda - Q_I,$$
(4.84)

plus the constraint (4.82), in order to find the chemical potentials and Λ in terms of the charges. We find a solution to the above equations to be:

$$\omega = \frac{2\pi \sqrt{\tilde{Q}_1 \tilde{Q}_2 \tilde{Q}_3 \tilde{Q}_4}}{\Theta}, \qquad \phi^I = -\frac{\tilde{Q}_J \tilde{Q}_K \tilde{Q}_L}{\Theta}, \quad \text{with:} \qquad I \neq J \neq K \neq L,$$
$$\Theta = \sum_{I < J < K} \tilde{Q}_I \tilde{Q}_J \tilde{Q}_K \mp i \sqrt{\tilde{Q}_1 \tilde{Q}_2 \tilde{Q}_3 \tilde{Q}_4} \tag{4.85}$$

where $\tilde{Q}_I = Q_I + \Lambda$, the dependence on J is hidden in the definition of $\Lambda = \Lambda(Q_I, J)$.

As before, one can find an equation that determines Λ by noticing that a suitable combination of derivatives of the action I vanishes, this observation leads to the following equation determining Λ :

$$0 = (\Lambda + Q_1)(\Lambda + Q_2)(\Lambda + Q_3)(\Lambda + Q_4) + \frac{1}{4}(\Lambda - J)^2 = \Lambda^4 + p_3\Lambda^3 + p_2\Lambda^2 + p_1\Lambda + p_0, \quad (4.86)$$

notice that in the general case it is not possible to find a quadratic equation determining Λ as for the single charged case.

¹¹This should be true also in the four-charged solution, for which we don't have the explicit solution. However, the condition $\Delta_r = 0$ should still be of quartic order in r, and moreover, by making the usual choice of keeping the parameters of the solution real in the pure supersymmetric solution, the structure described above for the four roots should hold.

The coefficients of the quartic polynomial are given by:

$$\begin{cases} p_{3} = P_{1} \\ p_{2} = \frac{1}{4} + P_{2} \\ p_{1} = -\frac{J}{2} + P_{3} \\ p_{0} = \frac{J^{2}}{4} + P_{4} \end{cases}, \text{ where:} \begin{cases} P_{1} = Q_{1} + Q_{2} + Q_{3} + Q_{4} \\ P_{2} = \sum_{I < J} Q_{I}Q_{J} \\ P_{3} = \sum_{I < J < K} Q_{I}Q_{J}Q_{K} \\ P_{4} = Q_{1}Q_{2}Q_{3}Q_{4} \end{cases}.$$

$$(4.87)$$

Being the Euclidean action I an homogeneous function of degree 1 of the chemical potentials, it still holds:

$$S_i = \pm 2\pi i \Lambda_i, \tag{4.88}$$

where Λ_i should be taken among the roots of Eq. (4.86). Notice that by assuming the validity of this definition for the supersymmetric entropies of each horizon, one immediately derives the universal area product formula, but formally only in the supersymmetric case:

$$\prod_{i} S_{i} = (2\pi)^{4} \left(Q_{1} Q_{2} Q_{3} Q_{4} + \frac{J^{2}}{4} \right).$$
(4.89)

Generally, the roots of the quartic polynomial (4.86) are complex, arranged in conjugated pairs if we work in a parametrization that leaves the charges real. Following the same procedure of Sec. (4.2.4) we should recover the BPS solution by requiring that the quartic polynomial admits two conjugated purely imaginary roots (when the charges are all real). This is always the case provided that we can factorize the polynomial as in (4.56):

$$\left(\Lambda^2 + \frac{p_1}{p_3}\right) \left(\Lambda^2 + p_3\Lambda + p_2 - \frac{p_1}{p_3}\right),\tag{4.90}$$

this is possible provided that on requires the factorization condition:

$$\frac{p_1}{p_3} + \frac{p_0 p_3}{p_1} = p_2 \quad \longrightarrow \quad \frac{1}{4} P_1^2 \left(J^2 + 4P_4 \right) - \frac{1}{8} P_1 (4P_2 + 1)(2P_3 - J) + \left(P_3 - \frac{J}{2} \right)^2 = 0, \quad (4.91)$$

which, as we know, allows us to derive the BPS constraint on the charges. Indeed, this is a quadratic equation in J which can be solved to give:

$$J = \frac{8P_3 - 4P_1P_2 - P_1 \pm |P_1|\sqrt{X}}{4(1+P_1)^2},$$
(4.92)

where:

$$X = \left[\left(1 + 4(Q_2 + Q_3)(Q_1 + Q_4) \right) \left(1 + 4(Q_1 + Q_3)(Q_2 + Q_4) \right) \left(1 + 4(Q_1 + Q_2)(Q_3 + Q_4) \right) \right], \quad (4.93)$$

remember that imposing Eq. (4.92), one should recover the BPS solution where the charges are real, and hence one must have $X \ge 0$. Moreover, we will see that the correct BPS constraint is reproduced in the pairwise equal and single charged case provided that one choose the plus sign in Eq. (4.92).

The BPS entropy of the outer horizon is then obtained from the imaginary root $\Lambda_i = i \sqrt{\frac{p_1}{p_3}}$

$$\Lambda^2 = \frac{p_1}{p_3} = \frac{1 + 4P_2 + 8P_1P_3 - \sqrt{X}}{8(1 + P_1^2)},$$
(4.94)

where the BPS condition (4.92) has already been imposed.

Finally, one can find the entropies of the remaining two horizons by solving the quadratic equation $\Lambda^2 + p_3\Lambda + p_2 - \frac{p_1}{p_3} = 0$. The virtual horizons entropies (S_-, \bar{S}_-) are then proportional to the roots:

$$\Lambda_{-} = \frac{1}{2} \left[-p_3 \pm \sqrt{4\frac{p_1}{p_3} - 4p_2 + p_3} \right] = \frac{1}{2} \left[-P_1 \mp i \sqrt{\frac{1 - 2P_1^4 + 8P_2P_1^2 - 8P_3P_1 + 4P_2 + \sqrt{X}}{2P_1^2 + 2}} \right], \quad (4.95)$$

again we have already imposed the BPS condition (4.92).

Finally, following the same logic as in (4.60) one can show that the universal area product and the BPS constraint are equivalent in the BPS solution.

Reduction to the pairwise equal and single charged cases

Let us see what results we find when we reduce to the pairwise equal or single charged solutions. We can get these cases by imposing the following redefinitions for the pairwise equal case:

$$\begin{cases} \phi^{1} = \phi^{2} \to \frac{1}{2}\phi^{1}, & \phi^{3} = \phi^{4} \to \frac{1}{2}\phi^{3} \\ Q_{1} = Q_{2} \to 2Q_{1}, & Q_{3} = Q_{4} \to 2Q_{3} \end{cases} \longrightarrow \begin{cases} I = \pm \frac{i}{2}\frac{\phi^{1}\phi^{3}}{\omega}, & \omega - \phi^{1} - \phi^{3} = \pm 2\pi i \\ I = -S - \omega J - 2\phi^{1}Q_{1} - 2\phi^{3}Q_{3} \end{cases},$$

$$(4.96)$$

while the single charged case is obtained by imposing the redefinitions:

$$\begin{cases} \phi^{I} \to \frac{1}{2}\phi \\ Q_{I} \to \frac{1}{2}Q \end{cases} \longrightarrow \begin{cases} I = \pm \frac{i}{2} \frac{(\phi)^{2}}{\omega}, \quad \omega - 2\phi = \pm 2\pi i \\ I = -S - \omega J - \phi Q \end{cases}, \quad (4.97)$$

in these two cases, the main results that we have found above simplify a lot. Starting from the BPS condition (4.92) one gets:

$$J = (Q_1 + Q_3) \left(\sqrt{1 + 64Q_1Q_3} - 1 \right), \qquad J = \frac{Q}{2} \left(\sqrt{1 + 4Q^2} - 1 \right)$$
(4.98)

which are exactly the results found in (4.15, 4.73), then the outer horizon BPS entropy is found to be proportional to the purely imaginary root $\Lambda = \pm i \sqrt{\frac{p_3}{p_1}}$ which is given by:

$$\Lambda^{2} = \frac{1}{8} \left(1 + 32Q_{1}Q_{3} - \sqrt{1 + 64Q_{1}Q_{3}} \right) = \frac{1}{16} \left(\sqrt{1 + 64Q_{1}Q_{3}} - 1 \right)^{2}, \tag{4.99}$$

$$\Lambda^{2} = \frac{1}{8} \left(1 + 2Q - \sqrt{1 + 4Q^{2}} \right) = \frac{1}{16} \left(\sqrt{1 + 4Q^{2}} - 1 \right)^{2}.$$
(4.100)

Similarly, one finds that also the roots associated with the virtual horizons Λ_{-} simplify, they are given by:

$$\Lambda_{-} = -2(Q_1 + Q_3) \mp \frac{i}{4} \Big(\sqrt{1 + 64Q_1Q_3} + 1 \Big), \qquad \Lambda_{-} = -Q \mp \frac{i}{4} \Big(\sqrt{1 + 4Q^2} + 1 \Big), \qquad (4.101)$$

for the pairwise equal case one can easily check that Λ_{-} correctly reproduces the expected value for the BPS inner horizon entropy Eq. (4.80).

This proves the universality of the extremization principle also for the pairwise equal charged solution.

4.5 Single charged, spinning AdS_4 black hole with acceleration

As our last example, we are going to consider the generalization of the black hole solution of minimal $D = 4, \mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged supergravity discussed in Sec. 4.1, with acceleration and magnetic charge [70]. This

solution depends on two more parameters p, α related to the magnetic charge and acceleration.

The presence of the acceleration makes the event horizon, and more generally all constant (t, r) slices have conical singularities, these stretch up to the AdS boundary and are usually referred to as *cosmic strings* [16]. These singularities can be completely removed if one embeds the D = 4 solution in D = 11 supergravity [73] and imposes some constraints on the parameters of the D = 4 solution. In particular, one needs to *quantize* the conical deficits on the north and south poles of the horizon, this makes the horizon a *spindle* whose topology is determined by two different integers n_{\pm} , related to the N/S pole singularities. For the purposes of our discussion, the only new property that we are going to use about the horizon geometry is its Euler characteristics χ . Other details about the geometry of the horizons will not be needed.

From the constraints that one has to impose to get a regular solution, after the uplifting, one finds that the magnetic charge is fixed and depends on the properties of the spindle, in particular $G_{(4)}Q_m = (n_- - n_+)/(4n_-n_+)$ where $G_{(4)}$ is the four-dimensional Newton's constant. This implies that one necessarily has to consider a magnetically charged solution (to have regularity after the uplifting). We will also see that the presence of the magnetic charge is necessary in order to impose supersymmetry.

Unless explicitly stated, we will work with fixed spindle topology, hence fixed n_{\pm} parameters, and in the assumption that the solution is regular under the uplifting. In this way, it has been shown [70] that the new parameters p, α are fixed in terms of the spindle topology. This means that the solution we are going to consider is described by the same three parameters (or charges) of Sec. **4.1**, plus two *fixed* constants n_{\pm} or equivalently $(G_{(4)}Q_m, \chi)$ which are treated on the same footing as the AdS radius¹² g. However, some of the results that we are going to find are true also in the general case, where we do not make any assumption on the new parameters or the horizon topology.

In this framework, we want to see if the results of Sec. **4.1** generalizes to the present case, we will give first a review of the solution and explain the role of the new parameters, next we will discuss the properties of all the horizons of this solution and prove the universality of the extremization principle. We will also derive the universal area product formula which has never appeared before in the literature for this solution.

4.5.1 Review of the solution

We will quickly review the black hole solution following [16], the metric is given by:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{H^{2}} \left[-\frac{Q}{\Sigma} \left(\frac{1}{\kappa} dt - a \sin^{2} \theta d\phi \right)^{2} + \frac{\Sigma}{Q} dr^{2} + \frac{\Sigma}{P} d\theta^{2} + \frac{P}{\Sigma} \sin^{2} \theta \left(\frac{a}{\kappa} dt - (r^{2} + a^{2}) d\phi \right)^{2} \right],$$
(4.102)

where we have defined:

$$P(\theta) = 1 - 2\alpha m \cos \theta + \left(\alpha^2 (a^2 + e^2 + p^2) - a^2)\right) \cos^2 \theta,$$

$$Q(r) = (r^2 - 2mr + a^2 + e^2 + p^2)(1 - \alpha^2 r^2) + r^2 (a^2 + r^2),$$

$$H(r, \theta) = 1 - \alpha r \cos \theta, \qquad \Sigma(r, \theta) = r^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta.$$
(4.103)

¹²One can relax these assumptions and still obtain a consistent thermodynamics by considering the AdS radius, the magnetic charge, and the cosmic strings, as thermodynamic variables [16], the reason why we want to fix all these parameters is that in this way we get a fixed geometry on the conformal boundary where the dual CFT lives, remember that the cosmic strings "touch" the conformal boundary because all constant (t, r) slices have conical singularities. Moreover, the presence of a magnetic charge influences the properties of the gauge field at infinity.

In order to avoid confusion with the notation of the previous sections, we denote the parameter associated with the magnetic charge as p instead of g as was done in [16].

The expression of the gauge field can be found in the references. The solution depends on the already mentioned parameters (m, e, p, a, α) which we consider to be all positive following [16]. κ is a normalization constant for the time coordinate, it turns out that it is related to the acceleration parameter α in order to have a first law of the correct form [16]. Notice that the parameters that we are using here are not exactly the same as the ones in Sec. 4.1, as one can easily see by setting $p = \alpha = 0$ in the above metric. However, in this case it can be shown that the solution reduces to the one discussed in Sec. 4.1 [70].

The positions of the horizons are given by the roots of the Q(r) quartic polynomial, so there are four horizons (either physical or virtual). In this case, we need to require for the outer horizon radius, the following condition:

$$0 < r_+ < \frac{1}{\alpha},$$
 (4.104)

which ensures that the outer horizon is located between the singularity at r = 0 and the conformal boundary at $H(r, \theta) = 0$, and that the horizon does not touch the conformal boundary at $\theta = 0$.

Horizon topology and regularity

To understand how the n_{\pm} parameters appear, we need to study the constant (t, r) slices Σ parametrized by (θ, ϕ) . These have the topology of a 2-sphere but with conical singularities at the poles. As usual, θ can be taken with range $0 \le \theta \le \pi$, next let us consider the restriction of the metric on the (θ, ϕ) coordinates and evaluate it near the north/south poles at $\theta_{+,-} = 0, \pi$.

$$ds^{2}|_{\theta,\phi} = \frac{1}{H^{2}} \left[\frac{\Sigma}{P} d\theta^{2} + \frac{P}{\Sigma} \left((r^{2} + a^{2})^{2} - \frac{Q}{P} a^{2} \sin^{2} \theta \right) \sin^{2} \theta d\phi^{2} \right]$$
$$\xrightarrow[\theta \approx 0,\pi]{} \frac{(r^{2} + a^{2})}{H^{2} P_{\pm}} \left[d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2} \theta P_{\pm}^{2} d\phi^{2} \right],$$
(4.105)

where

$$P_{\pm} = P(\theta)|_{0,\pi} = \Xi \pm 2\alpha m, \qquad \Xi = 1 + \alpha^2 (a^2 + e^2 + p^2) - a^2.$$
(4.106)

Eq. (4.105) is the metric of a 2-sphere (near the poles), which is regular only provided that the ϕ coordinate is chosen with periodicity $\Delta_{\phi} = 2\pi/P_{\pm}$.

Clearly, unless $\alpha m = 0$ we have $P_+ \neq P_-$, meaning that one cannot avoid at least one conical singularity on Σ . This singularity stretches up to the boundary generating the "cosmic string", as it is present for all constant (t, r) slices.

Following [16, 73] we choose the periodicity Δ_{ϕ} to be:

$$\frac{\Delta_{\phi}}{2\pi} = \frac{1}{n_+ P_+} = \frac{1}{n_- P_-},\tag{4.107}$$

this implies that the conical defects at the poles have deficit angles given by $2\pi \left(1 - \frac{1}{n_{\pm}}\right)$, and one has $\Sigma = S^2$ if $n_{\pm} = n_{\pm} = 1$, which is possible only provided that $\alpha m = 0$.

Notice that Eq. (4.107) fixes Δ_{ϕ} but also represents a constraint on the parameters *once we fix both* n_{\pm} . The idea is that both conical singularities are fixed by Δ_{ϕ} , as it is expressed by the above equation. This also implies that once we fix the conical singularity on one pole, say the n_+ parameter, the conical singularity on the other pole is fixed by $n_- = \frac{P_+}{P_-}n_+$ and cannot be chosen freely. We have to tune the parameters of the solution in such a way that after we have independently chosen n_+ and n_- , it holds the relation (4.107), and specifically:

$$\frac{n_+}{n_-} = \frac{P_-}{P_+} = \frac{\Xi - 2\alpha m}{\Xi + 2\alpha m},\tag{4.108}$$

remember that this happens only if we fix both n_+ and n_- as it was done in [16, 73], this condition will be used later to fix the α parameter in terms of n_{\pm} .

For later convenience, it is useful to define the tensions of the "cosmic strings" as the parameters:

$$\mu_{\pm} = \frac{1}{4G_{(4)}} \left[1 - \frac{1}{n\pm} \right] = \frac{1}{4G_{(4)}} \left[1 - (\Xi \pm 2\alpha m) \frac{\Delta_{\phi}}{2\pi} \right].$$
(4.109)

and the Euler characteristic of Σ :

$$\chi = \frac{1}{n_+} + \frac{1}{n_-} = 2 - 4G_{(4)}(\mu_- + \mu_+), \qquad (4.110)$$

which computes to $\chi = 2$ if $n_- = n_+ = 1$ as expected for a sphere.

We can now clarify in which sense we *quantize* the conical defects on the horizon, this simply means that we have to choose n_{\pm} as coprime positive integers, this makes Σ a weighted projective space, which is an orbifold also known as a spindle [16]. This quantization condition is one of the requirements that allow to obtain a regular solution after the uplifting¹³.

The quantization condition is not sufficient to describe a regular solution, one also needs to impose the following condition on the parameters¹⁴:

$$p = \alpha \, m, \tag{4.111}$$

this will turn out to be also one of the supersymmetry constraints.

Before moving on, let us recap what we have found so far for these "regular" solutions. We have the parameters¹⁵ $(m, e, p, a, \alpha; n_{\pm})$, plus two constraints (4.108, 4.111), the latter can be directly implemented, while the first one can be solved more easily by first introducing the parameter [16]:

$$\mu \equiv \frac{1 - 2G_{(4)}(\mu_{-} + \mu_{+})}{2G_{(4)}(\mu_{-} - \mu_{+})} = \frac{n_{-} + n_{+}}{n_{-} - n_{+}},$$
(4.112)

this allows us to rewrite the condition (4.108) as follows:

$$\frac{n_{-}}{n_{+}} = \frac{\Xi + 2\alpha m}{\Xi - 2\alpha m} \longrightarrow \Xi = 2\alpha m \mu \xrightarrow{\alpha m = p} \Xi = 2p\mu, \qquad (4.113)$$

remembering the definition of Ξ we can easily find for α the following:

$$\alpha^2 = \frac{2p\mu - 1 + a^2}{a^2 + e^2 + p^2},\tag{4.114}$$

this fixes α in terms of the spindle data n_\pm and the other parameters.

Notice that this condition and (4.111) are then easily implemented if one uses p as a parameter describing the solution, while α and m are fixed in terms of the others. In the following, we may want to use as parameter m instead and consider α , p fixed. This can formally be done but one has to deal with a cumbersome expression for α (and therefore p) as now the condition (4.114) (or equivalently (4.112)), is a fourth order equation in α .

¹³From now on, we will simply refer to these regular solutions, which can be obtained after the uplift, as "regular solutions"

¹⁴There would also be another technical condition to impose on the geometry of the D = 11 supergravity theory, which is obtained after the uplift, but it does not play any role in our discussion so we will ignore it.

¹⁵Clearly, we assume the AdS radius g as fixed, and we do not include the κ parameter which turns out to be fixed in terms of the others.

Either way, we will refer to the above conditions (4.112, 4.114) as "regularity" conditions, it is understood that when we impose these we are thinking n_{\pm} as taking fixed values, hence fixing the spindle geometry.

We will consider this case in more detail later but for now it is sufficient to keep in mind that α and p can formally be expressed in terms of m and the other parameters.

Thermodynamics

From now on we will set also $G_{(4)} = 1$.

In this section, we provide the relevant quantities entering the thermodynamics of this black hole solution, more details can be found in¹⁶ [16, 73] but they are not essential for our discussion.

The solution admits four conserved charges (E, J, Q_e, Q_m) :

$$Q_e = \frac{e\Delta_\phi}{2\pi}, \qquad Q_m = \frac{p\Delta_\phi}{2\pi}, \qquad J = am \left(\frac{\Delta_\phi}{2\pi}\right)^2, \qquad E = \frac{m\Delta_\phi}{2\pi\kappa} \frac{(\Xi + a^2)(1 - a^2\Xi)}{\Xi(1 + \alpha^2 a^2)}, \qquad (4.115)$$

these definitions are true in the general solution, where we have not imposed the regularity conditions yet.

These quantities were calculated in [16] using holographic renormalization. In order to do so, one needs to remember that the conformal boundary of the metric (4.102), where the charges are calculated as surface integrals by using the boundary stress-tensor, is located at $H(r, \theta) = 0$. Furthermore, the energy E of the solution must be calculated considering the asymptotic killing vector $\partial_{\bar{t}} = \partial_t + \Omega_{\infty} \frac{\Delta\phi}{2\pi} \partial_{\phi}$, where $\Omega_{\infty} = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa \Delta_{\phi}} \frac{a(1-\alpha^2 \Xi)}{\Xi(1+a^2\alpha^2)}$. These definitions allow us to obtain a set of charges that satisfy standard thermodynamics relations.

Notice that once we impose the regularity conditions, from the definition of the magnetic charge Q_m and $p = \alpha m$ one can show that:

$$Q_m = \mu_- - \mu_+ = \frac{n_- - n_+}{4n_- n_+} = \frac{1}{2n_+(1+\mu)},$$
(4.116)

hence, the magnetic charge is completely determined by the spindle data n_{\pm} in the regular solution¹⁷. This allows us to equivalently use the combinations $(n_+, n_-), (\mu, n_+)$ or (Q_m, χ) to express the spindle data.

Moving on with the thermodynamics, the chemical potentials associated with the above charges are given by:

$$\Omega = \underbrace{\frac{2\pi}{\kappa \Delta_{\phi}} \frac{a}{r_{+}^{2} + a^{2}}}_{\Omega_{H}} - \Omega_{\infty}, \qquad T = \frac{Q'(r_{+})}{4\pi\kappa(a^{2} + r_{+}^{2})}, \qquad \Phi_{e} = \frac{er_{+}}{\kappa(r_{+}^{2} + a^{2})}, \tag{4.117}$$

where V is the null killing vector on the horizon: $V = \partial_t + \frac{\Delta_{\phi}}{2\pi} \Omega_H \partial_{\phi}$, one may also define a magnetostatic potential Φ_m , which one has to take into account when considering the thermodynamics of the general solution, but it does not play any role for us.

The Bekenstein-Hawking entropy reads:

$$S = \frac{\Delta_{\phi}}{2} \frac{r_{+}^{2} + a^{2}}{1 - \alpha^{2} r_{+}^{2}},$$
(4.118)

¹⁶See also [74] for a discussion of the thermodynamics of this black hole solution with vanishing magnetic charge.

¹⁷The idea is that in the regular solution all topological data (the cosmic strings and the magnetic charge) are fixed in such a way that after the uplifting the singularities are removed [16].

while the Euclidean on-shell action associated with the outer horizon is given by [16]:

$$I = \frac{\beta \Delta_{\phi}}{16\pi\kappa} \left[-4r_{+} \left(\frac{a^{2} + r_{+}^{2}}{(\alpha^{2}r_{+}^{2} - 1)^{2}} + \frac{e^{2} - p^{2}}{a^{2} + r_{+}^{2}} \right) + 4m \left(1 - 2\alpha^{2} - \frac{2\alpha^{4}(e^{2} + p^{2})}{1 + \alpha^{2}a^{2}} \right) \right].$$
 (4.119)

One can show that these quantities satisfy the following quantum statistical relation, independently from the value of κ , and also without imposing the regularity conditions

$$I = -S + \beta E - \beta \Omega J - \beta \Phi_e Q_e, \qquad (4.120)$$

while the usual first law is recovered only provided that one fixes $\kappa = \frac{\sqrt{(\Xi + a^2)(1 - \alpha^2 \Xi)}}{1 + a^2 \alpha^2}$ and imposes the regularity conditions, so that the thermodynamics of the solution depends on the 3 charges (E, J, Q_e) , and their corresponding chemical potentials defined above

$$dE = T \, dS + \Omega \, dJ + \Phi_e \, dQ_e, \tag{4.121}$$

notice that if the acceleration is absent $\alpha = 0$ then $\kappa = 1$, hence this parameter is intrinsically related to the acceleration.

4.5.2 Supersymmetry and BPS solutions

Let us consider the regular solution in this section (fixed spindle topology). Following [16, 73] the solution admits a killing (Dirac) spinor, and hence preserves supersymmetry provided that the parameters satisfy the conditions:

$$p = \alpha m,$$

$$0 = \alpha^2 (e^2 + p^2) (\Xi + a^2) - (p - a\alpha e)^2,$$
(4.122)

the first condition is also one of the two regularity conditions, and can only be satisfied provided that $p \neq 0$.

The supersymmetric solution is also extremal if the parameters satisfy the additional constraint [73]:

$$ap^{2}(a\alpha e - p)(e + a\alpha p) + \alpha^{3}e^{2}(e^{2} + p^{2})^{2} = 0,$$
(4.123)

unfortunately, implementing these conditions is rather cumbersome.

Luckily, the situation simplifies if one introduces the new set of parameters (b, c, s) given by [16]:

$$e = \frac{bs}{\alpha^2 c}, \quad p = \frac{s}{\alpha^2 c}, \quad m = \frac{s}{\alpha^3 c}, \quad a = \frac{s}{\alpha}, \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad b = \frac{e}{p}, \quad c = \frac{a}{p\alpha}, \quad s = \alpha a,$$
 (4.124)

we need to assume $a, \alpha \neq 0$. Remembering that we are considering all parameters to be non-negative then we have $b \geq 0$ and c, s > 0. The first supersymmetry condition is automatically implemented in these definitions. In the following, we will provide only the explicit expressions for the quantities that we will directly use, and briefly summarize how the BPS solution is obtained. More details can be found in [16].

In terms of the new parameters one finds that the charges take the simple expressions:

$$Q_e = b Q_m, \qquad J = c Q_m^2, \qquad M = \frac{Q_m \sqrt{(2cQ_m - \chi_s)(2csQ_m + \chi)}}{\chi \sqrt{s}},$$
 (4.125)

positivity of the mass M implies that $c > 2s\mu$.

The supersymmetry condition in Eq. (4.122) reduces to a linear equation for c, which is solved by:

$$c = \frac{2(1+b^2)s\mu}{1-2bs-s^2},\tag{4.126}$$

the extremality condition Eq. (4.123) now becames:

$$b^{2}(1+b^{2})^{2}s = c^{2}(1-bs)(b+s) \xrightarrow{\text{Eq. (4.126)}} b^{2}(b^{2}+1) = c(c+2b\mu),$$
 (4.127)

unfortunately, this condition is still not practical to implement. We will need to exploit a different method, to obtain the BPS solution, which we are going to discuss later.

Remember that α is determined from the other parameters as:

$$\alpha^{2} = \frac{2p\mu - 1 + a^{2}}{a^{2}e^{2} + p^{2}} = \frac{s[2c\mu + s(c^{2} - 1 - b^{2})]}{c^{2}(1 + s^{2})} \xrightarrow{\text{susy}} \frac{4\mu^{2}(1 - bs)^{2} - (1 - 2bs - s^{2})^{2}}{4\mu^{2}(1 + b^{2})(1 + s^{2})},$$
(4.128)

the supersymmetric solution is now parametrized by (b, s), plus the two constants (χ, Q_m) . Accordingly, only two charges are independent and indeed, they satisfy the usual relation:

$$M = \frac{2}{\chi}J + Q_e, \tag{4.129}$$

which may be expected to be a consequence of the supersymmetry algebra evaluated on the solution [16].

The supersymmetric trajectory

As usual, we want to use one of the horizon radii as parameter for the supersymmetric solution by inverting the relation Q(r) = 0. This will also allow us to more easily obtain the BPS solution.

Following [16], it is convenient to define first:

$$r \equiv \frac{s}{\alpha}\rho,\tag{4.130}$$

where it is understood that we can formally work with any horizon radius r_i , solution of $Q(r_i) = 0$.

The new quartic polynomial $Q(\rho)$, despite being more complicated than the starting one (Eq. (4.103)), is now only quadratic in *b*. The condition $Q(\rho)$ is thus easily solved as:

$$b = \frac{2\mu\rho}{\rho^2 - 1} + \frac{(1 - s^2 \pm 2i\mu s)}{2s(\rho^2 - 1)(\rho^2 s^2 - 1 \mp i\mu s(\rho^2 + 1))}B(\rho, s),$$
(4.131)

where:

$$B(\rho, s) = (1 - \rho^2)(1 - \rho^2 s^2) + 2\mu(1 + \rho^2)\rho s, \qquad (4.132)$$

imposing that b remains real, as we have done before, forces us to consider complex ρ radii, which are organized in two complex conjugated pairs as $Q(\rho)$ has real coefficients. This is analogous to the discussion in Sec. 4.2.1, remember that one has to choose the opposite sign choice in (4.131) when considering the conjugated horizons.

Alternatively, one can keep $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$ and introduce complex *b* and *s* parameters as in [16]. Eq. (4.131) is the usual equation that allows to trade one of the parameters of the solution (in this case *b*) for one of the horizons radii.

The chemical potentials can be shown to satisfy the usual relation:

$$\beta \left(1 + \frac{\chi}{2} \Omega - 2\Phi_e \right) = \mp 2\pi i, \tag{4.133}$$

the sign is correlated to the sign choice in Eq. (4.131). The modified chemical potentials (ω, ϕ) are:

$$\omega = \beta \left(\Omega - \frac{2}{\chi} \right), \qquad \phi = \beta (\Phi_e - 1), \qquad \frac{\chi}{4} \omega - \phi = \mp \pi i, \tag{4.134}$$

notice that the same relations of the non-accelerating case (Eqs. (4.11)) can be obtained by setting $\chi = 2$.

In terms of the supersymmetric chemical potentials, the *universal* euclidean action can be rewritten as follows:

$$I = -S - \omega J - \phi Q_e = \mp \frac{i}{2} \left[\frac{\phi^2}{\omega} + Q_m^2 \omega \right], \qquad (4.135)$$

with our choice of parametrization, we have real charges, while the entropy and the chemical potentials are complex. Notice that the above result reduces to the non-accelerating one in Eq. (4.37) by setting $Q_m = 0$.

This discussion was originally made for the outer horizon, but we can generalize it with no effort to any horizon. Hence we can immediately regard the chemical potentials (4.134) and the supersymmetric Euclidean action (4.135), as the universal ones.

The BPS solution

Let us now consider how the BPS solution can be derived. We need to impose extremality on the solution, which is achieved whenever the quartic polynomial Q has a vanishing first derivative when evaluated on a real value of ρ , which then becomes the radius of the BPS outer horizon. This is equivalent to requiring that Q has a double real root ρ_+ .

$$\mathcal{Q}'(\rho) = \frac{4s^2\mu^2(1+s^2)^2(\rho\mp i)(\pm i\rho s^2 + \mu(\rho\mp i)s - 1)}{\left(1 - \rho^2 s^2 \pm i\mu(1+\rho^2)s\right)^2}B(\rho,s) = 0,$$
(4.136)

where we have used the definition of the b parameter in Eq. (4.131).

By solving the extremality condition *for a real value of* ρ , we clearly break the invariance under exchange of horizon radius as parameter, as requiring reality forces us to consider the outer (physical) horizon radius.

The only allowed *real* solution of Eq. (4.136) is obtained if $B(\rho_+, s) = 0$ which can be seen as a quadratic equation in s, the other possibility would need to require $\rho_+ s = 1$ and $\mu = 1$ which is not possible due to the definition of μ .

In this way, the BPS solution is parametrized in terms of ρ_+ and μ as follows:

$$s^{\star} = \frac{-\mu(1+\rho_{+}^{2}) + \sqrt{\mu^{2}(1+\rho_{+}^{2}) + (\rho_{+}^{2}-1)^{2}}}{\rho_{+}(\rho_{+}^{2}-1)}, \quad c^{\star} = \frac{2\mu\rho}{\rho_{+}^{2}-1} \left[-\mu + \frac{\sqrt{\mu^{2}(\rho_{+}^{2}+1)^{2} + (\rho_{+}^{2}-1)^{2}}}{\rho_{+}^{2}-1} \right],$$
$$b^{\star} = \frac{2\mu\rho_{+}}{\rho_{+}^{2}-1}, \tag{4.137}$$

from the constraints $0 < \alpha r_+ = s\rho_+ < 1$ and s > 0 one immediately finds that $0 < s^* < 1$ and $\rho_+ > 1$.

Equivalently, after some calculations, one can re-express the BPS solution in terms of b and μ as follows:

$$\rho_{+} = \frac{\mu + \sqrt{b^{2} + \mu^{2}}}{\mu}, \ s^{\star} = \frac{\left(-\mu + \sqrt{b^{2} + \mu^{2}}\right)\left(\mu + \sqrt{1 + b^{2} + \mu^{2}}\right)}{b} - b, \ c^{\star} = b\left(\sqrt{1 + b^{2} + \mu^{2}} - \mu^{2}\right),$$
(4.138)

in both cases, one can check that the supersimmetry and extremality conditions Eqs. (4.126, 4.127) are both satisfied, and that $\rho_+(b;\mu)$ is a root of the Q polynomial.

One can show that in the BPS limit, the conserved charges satisfy the additional constraint:

$$J^{\star} = \frac{Q_e^{\star}}{4} \left(-\chi + \sqrt{\chi^2 + 16(Q_e^{\star 2} + Q_m^{\star})^2} \right), \tag{4.139}$$

and the outer horizon chemical potentials take the fixed value:

$$T^{\star} = 0, \qquad \Omega^{\star} = \frac{2}{\chi}, \qquad \Phi_e^{\star} = 1, \qquad \Phi_m^{\star} = \frac{1}{b^{\star}},$$
(4.140)

finally the outer horizon BPS entropy takes the following expression:

$$S^{\star} = \pi Q_m s^{\star} c^{\star} \frac{\rho_+^2 + 1}{1 - s^{\star 2} \rho_+^2} = \frac{\pi}{4} \left(\sqrt{\chi^2 + 16(Q_e^{\star 2} + Q_m^2)} - \chi \right), \tag{4.141}$$

notice that in all expressions involving only the charges, by setting $\chi = 2, Q_m = 0$ one again obtains exactly the solution of the non-accelerating case discussed before¹⁸.

4.5.3 Properties of the general horizons of the black hole solution

We turn our attention to the other horizons of this black hole solution, following closely the presentation in Sec. 4.2, as the results that we are going to find are the generalizations of those of the non-accelerating solution. Many calculations will be only briefly described as they represent a trivial generalization of those of Sec. 4.2.

Qualitative behaviour of the 4 roots of Q(r) in the regular solution

Let us concentrate on the regular solution in the following discussion.

In order to study what kind of horizons characterize this black hole solution, we need to study the Q(r) polynomial. Remember that we have to impose the following condition on the position of the outer horizon:

$$0 < r_{+} < \frac{1}{\alpha} \,. \tag{4.142}$$

The relations that determine the four roots are obtained as usual by rewriting the Q(r) polynomial as:

$$Q(r) = (1 - \alpha^2) \prod_i (r - r_i) \longrightarrow \begin{cases} r_1 + r_2 + r_3 + r_4 = -\frac{2m\alpha^2}{1 - \alpha^2} \\ r_1 r_2 + \dots = \frac{1 + a^2(1 - \alpha^2) - \alpha^2(e^2 + p^2)}{1 - \alpha^2} \\ r_1 r_2 r_3 + \dots = \frac{2m}{1 - \alpha^2} \\ r_1 r_2 r_3 r_4 = \frac{a^2 + e^2 + p^2}{1 - \alpha^2} \end{cases}$$
(4.143)

Due to the acceleration, it is not true anymore that two of the four roots are necessarily complex. Indeed, by looking at the expression of Q(r) we see that negative roots are now possible provided that $|r_i| > \frac{1}{\alpha}$, and the argument that we have made in Sec. **4.1** breaks down. However, also in this case, there are generally only two physical horizons (when they exists) located at $0 < r_i < \frac{1}{\alpha}$ while the other two horizons are complex conjugated, hence virtual.

First of all, notice that we can have at least one physical horizon located at $r_+ < \frac{1}{\alpha}$ only provided that the acceleration parameter satisfies the bound:

$$0 \le \alpha < 1, \tag{4.144}$$

¹⁸The non accelerating limit is more delicate if one wants to take it also for the b, c, s parameters as from their definition, if $\alpha = 0$ these parameters become infinite

this can be easily seen by imposing $p = \alpha m$ and noticing that Q(r) is strictly positive if $a \ge 1$ and $r < \frac{1}{\alpha}$ as:

$$Q(r) = (r^{2} - 2mr + a^{2} + e^{2} + \alpha^{2}m^{2})(1 - \alpha^{2}r^{2}) + r^{2}(a^{2} + r^{2})$$

>
$$\underbrace{(r^{2} - 2mr + \alpha^{2}m^{2})}_{>0}\underbrace{(1 - \alpha^{2}r^{2})}_{>0},$$
(4.145)

the quadratic polynomial in the second line vanishes if $\alpha = b(1 \pm \sqrt{1 - \alpha^2})$, meaning that if $\alpha > 1$ it is never zero and has a fixed positive sign. From this discussion we also see that as α approaches 1, the other parameters must be closer to 0 in order to have a physical horizon that does not touch the boundary.

We should now also impose the condition (4.114) in order to truly parametrize the "regular" solution, it would be more convenient to use the p parameter, but we use m instead, which allows us to more directly compare the following results with those of Sec. 4.1.

Using $p = \alpha m$ into Eq.(4.114) produces a quartic equation for α :

$$\alpha^2 = \frac{2\alpha m\mu - 1 + a^2}{a^2 e^2 + \alpha^2 m^2 a^2},\tag{4.146}$$

for suitable values of the $(m, e, a; \mu)$ parameters, there are two real and positive solutions $\alpha = \alpha_{1,2}(m, e, a; \mu)$ of (4.146). The greater of the two (say α_2) can possibly be bigger or smaller than 1 and one can check graphically that it is never associated with a solution with physical horizons at $r_+ < \frac{1}{\alpha_2}$, for any value of the $(m, e, a; \mu)$ parameters. Instead, the smaller solution $\alpha_1(m)$ generally allows to find a black hole solution that admits two physical horizons $r_+ > r_0$, where r_+ satisfies the bound $r_+ < \frac{1}{\alpha_1}$. In this case, when the two physical horizons exist, the other two horizons are always found to be complex. Moreover, these configurations reduce to the BPS solutions discussed in Sec. 4.5.2 for suitable values of the parameters that satisfy the supersymmetric and extremality constraints.

The qualitative behaviour of the $Q(r, m; \alpha_{1,2}(m)) = 0$ curves is shown in Fig.4.3.



Figure 4.3: The solid lines represent the graphs of $Q(r, m; \alpha_i(m)) = 0$, associated with the regular solution, obtained by setting $p = \frac{\alpha}{m}$, and $\alpha = \alpha_i(m)$ as given by the two real solution of (4.114) (when they exists). The blue/orange solid lines are obtained considering the two real roots $\alpha_i(m)$, respectively the smaller(α_1)/largest(α_2) one. The dashed lines represent the $r = \alpha_i(m)^{-1}$ curves (position of the boundary at $\theta = 0$), again the blue/red one is associated with the smaller/largest root $\alpha_i(m)$. Choosing the smaller solution $\alpha_1(m)$ of (4.114) produces a solution with two physical horizons that never touch the boundary (for every fixed value of m, the points on the blue solid line always satisfy $r < \alpha_1(m)^{-1}$). Moreover, these solutions admit a BPS limit, meaning that we can continuoulsy change the parameters to obtain a BPS solution. Instead, choosing the largest root $\alpha_2(m)$ never produces a physical solution as the horizons always stretch beyond the boundary. Moreover, these solutions are not connected to BPS configurations. The qualitative behaviour does not change if we vary the parameters.

Finally, notice the different qualitative behaviour with respect to the case studied in Sec. **4.1**. In particular, in this case there is only one lower extremal solution (if one takes into account the cases where physical outer and intermediate horizons exist). For suitable values of the parameters (which satisfy the supersymmetry and BPS constraints), this extremal configuration is a BPS solution.

Virtual horizons BPS entropies

As we have discussed above, the BPS solutions are characterized by the presence of two physical horizons (which coincide, being the solution extremal) and two additional virtual horizons, associated with the two complex conjugated roots of the Q(r) or $Q(\rho)$ polynomial. Let us then call ρ_{-} the complex root associated with the virtual horizon with entropy S_{-}^{\star} , which is given by the same formula as the one for the outer horizon BPS entropy:

$$S_{-}^{\star} = \pi Q_m s^{\star} c^{\star} \frac{\rho_{-}^2 + 1}{1 - s^{\star 2} \rho_{-}^2}, \qquad (4.147)$$

we want to find an expression for S_{-}^{\star} depending only on the charges. To do so we need to find ρ_{-} , which we parametrize as $\rho_{-} = A + iB$. Then, we can obtain the usual relations which determine the four roots ρ_i of $Q(\rho)$ by rewriting: $Q(\rho) = \prod_i (\rho - \rho_i)$, remembering that there is a double root ρ_+ , as the solution is extremal, one finds:

$$\begin{cases}
A + \rho_{+} = -p_{3} \\
A^{2} + B^{2} + 4A\rho_{+} + \rho_{+}^{2} = p_{2} \\
2\rho_{+}(A^{2} + B^{2} + A\rho_{+}) = -p_{1} \\
(A^{2} + B^{2})\rho_{+}^{2} = p_{0}
\end{cases} \longrightarrow \begin{cases}
A = -\frac{p_{3}}{2} - \rho_{+} \\
B = \pm \sqrt{\frac{p_{0}}{\rho_{+}^{2}} - A^{2}} \\
B = \pm \sqrt{\frac{p_{0}}{\rho_{+}^{2}} - A^{2}}
\end{cases}, \quad (4.148)$$

The \pm sign in front of the *B* coefficient is associated with the fact that we have two complex conjugated roots. Let us take the root with a positive imaginary part, by finding the parameters p_i from $Q(\rho)$ and using either Eqs. (4.137) or Eqs. (4.138) to parametrize the BPS solution in terms of $(\rho_+; \mu)$ or $(b; \mu)$, one can show that the following relation holds for the virtual horizon:

$$S_{-}^{\star} = -\frac{\pi}{4} \bigg[\chi + 8iQ_{e}^{\star} + \sqrt{\chi^{2} + 16(Q_{e}^{\star 2} + Q_{m}^{2})} \bigg], \qquad (4.149)$$

which again correctly reduces to the expression found for the non-accelerating case (Eq. (4.17)) in the usual limit.

We can use this result, together with the expression for the BPS outer horizon entropy (4.141), to show the equivalence between the BPS constraint (4.139) and the area product formula, which we are going to derive now.

Universal area product formula

The area product formula for this black hole solution has not been derived yet, but it should reduce to the one found before, Eq. (4.29), when we set $(Q_m = 0, \chi = 2)$. Accordingly, following the same steps as in Sec. 4.2.2, and remembering the definition of the conserved charges (Eqs. (4.115)) one is able to find the following result for the product of the entropies:

$$\prod_{i} S_{i} = \pi^{4} \Big[(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2})^{2} + 4J^{2} \Big],$$
(4.150)

the calculations are exactly the same as those we have already done for the non accelerating solution, so we will not repeat them here.

We find that the area product formula is the natural generalization of the one previously found for the nonaccelerating case (4.29). This result actually holds in the general solution where we do not have imposed the regularity conditions yet. In this case Q_m can be chosen freely and does not depend on the topology of the horizon or acceleration. This means that in the general solution we are allowed to consider a non-vanishing acceleration and also $Q_m = 0$, in this case we see that the area product formula for the accelerating (4.150) and non-accelerating (4.29) black hole solutions are the same. This implies that the universal area product formula in the general solution is independent of both the energy, and the acceleration of the solution.

The situation is qualitatively different in the regular solution, in this chase Q_m is fixed in terms of the spindle data n_{\pm} and hence depends on acceleration. However, the area product formula is still valid in the form (4.150), and depends *only* on Q_m . This implies that, despite having formally added two new constants n_{\pm} , which characterize a specific family of accelerating black holes by fixing the topology of the Σ hypersurfaces, the area product formula formally depends on only one of them.

Remember in fact that the (n_+, n_-) constants can be traded for (Q_m, χ) in the regular solution, but the area product formula does not *explicitly* depend on χ . This means that the product formula is invariant under any transformation of the n_{\pm} constants that leaves Q_m invariant¹⁹. Remembering that $Q_m = \mu_- - \mu_+$ we see that the transformation $\mu_{\pm} \rightarrow \mu_{\pm} + k$ leaves the magnetic charge invariant, which translates in a transformation of the spindle parameters n_{\pm} of the form:

$$n_{\pm} \longrightarrow \frac{n_{\pm}}{1 - 4n_{\pm}k}, \quad \text{where:} \quad k \in \mathbb{Q} \text{ s.t } \begin{cases} \frac{n_{\pm}}{1 - 4n_{\pm}k} \in \mathbb{N} \\ \frac{n_{\pm}}{1 - 4n_{\pm}k} \in \mathbb{N} \end{cases},$$

$$(4.151)$$

Finally, it is quite easy to show that using Eqs. (4.147, 4.149) for the horizons BPS entropies, and the area product formula Eq. (4.150) one can derive the BPS non-linear condition Eq. (4.139).

$$J^{\star 2} = \frac{4}{\pi^4} \prod_i S_i^{\star} - 4 \left(Q_e^{\star 2} + Q_m^2 \right)^2 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad J^{\star} = \frac{Q_e^{\star}}{4} \left(-\chi + \sqrt{\chi^2 + 16 \left(Q_e^{\star 2} + Q_m^2 \right)^2} \right).$$
(4.152)

4.5.4 Universal extremization principle

The universal chemical potentials and thermodynamic potential I have been computed in Sec. **4.5.2** following the discussion of [16], they also showed that the outer horizon BPS entropy (**4.147**) is reproduced in the usual way from the extremization principle. We are now going to briefly discuss the extremization principle, partially discussed by (**4.147**), and extending their discussion also for the other horizons.

The starting point is given by the usual universal quantities:

$$I = \mp \frac{i}{2} \left[\frac{\phi^2}{\omega} + Q_m^2 \, \omega \right], \qquad \frac{\chi}{4} \omega - \phi = \mp \pi i, \tag{4.153}$$

we are considering the supersymmetric but non-extremal solution which is characterized by four complex horizons, organized in two coupled of conjugated horizons. In this framework, remember that the sign ambiguity in (4.153), is associated with the sign ambiguity in the inverting relation $b = b(\rho_i)$ (4.131), and one has to choose the opposite sign when considering an horizon and its conjugated.

The entropy is obtained from the constrained Legendre transform:

$$S = ext_{\{\omega,\phi,\Lambda\}} \left[-I - \omega J - \phi Q_e + \Lambda \left(\frac{\chi}{4} \omega - \phi \pm \pi i \right) \right], \tag{4.154}$$

¹⁹We also must require that Q_e and J are left invariant, but this can be easily done by suitably changing the parameters e and a, remember the definition of the charges in Eq. (4.115).

by solving the extremization equations, plus the supersymmetric constraint,

$$\frac{\partial I}{\partial \omega} = -J + \frac{\chi}{4}\Lambda, \qquad \frac{\partial I}{\partial \phi} = -Q_e - \Lambda, \quad \longrightarrow \quad \begin{cases} \omega = \frac{\pm \pi i}{\frac{\chi}{4} \pm i(Q_e + \Lambda)} \\ \phi = \pm \pi i + \frac{\chi}{4}\omega \end{cases}, \tag{4.155}$$

where as usual, being the action I an homogeneous function of degree 1 of the chemical potentials, implies:

$$S_i = \pm \pi i \Lambda_i, \tag{4.156}$$

where Λ_i are the roots of either one of the two following quadratic polynomials or of the quartic polynomial:

$$\Lambda^{2} + \Lambda \left(2Q_{e} \mp i\frac{\chi}{2} \right) + Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2} \pm 2iJ = 0,$$
(4.157)

$$\Lambda^{4} + \underbrace{4Q_{e}}_{p_{3}}\Lambda^{3} + \underbrace{\left(6Q_{e}^{2} + 2Q_{m}^{2} + \frac{\chi^{2}}{4}\right)}_{p_{2}}\Lambda^{2} + \underbrace{\left(4Q_{e}^{3} + 4Q_{e}Q_{m}^{2} - 2J\chi\right)}_{p_{1}}\Lambda + \underbrace{4J^{2} + \left(Q_{e}^{2} + Q_{m}^{2}\right)^{2}}_{p_{0}} = 0, \quad (4.158)$$

selecting the appropriate root allows to reproduce the thermodynamics of the corresponding horizon. Notice that by setting $Q_m = 0, \chi = 2$ and rescaling $\Lambda \to 2\Lambda$ one gets exactly the same results as in the non-accelerating case.

Notice also that by using the quartic polynomial, one can immediately read from the p_0 coefficient the entropy product formula Eq. (4.150) (up to a π^4 coefficient).

The BPS limit can be obtained by imposing that the above quadratic(quartic) polynomial has one(two) purely imaginary roots. If we consider the quadratic, polynomial this condition has to be directly imposed on one of the two roots Λ_i of the quadratic polynomial (4.157):

$$\Lambda_i = \pm i \frac{\chi}{4} - Q_e \pm \eta \frac{i}{4} \sqrt{\chi^2 + 4Q_m^2 \pm 8i(\chi Q_e + 4J)}, \qquad (4.159)$$

where η takes the values ± 1 and differentiates the two roots of each quadratic polynomial, essentially choosing η corresponds to choosing the horizon at ρ_+ or ρ_- , (and similarly for the conjugated horizons). The calculations are similar to those of the non-accelerating case.

Alternatively, the BPS solution can be obtained from the quartic polynomial by requiring that the coefficients of (4.158) satisfy the factorization condition:

$$\frac{p_1}{p_3} + \frac{p_0 p_3}{p_1} = p_2 \tag{4.160}$$

in both cases, one can show that imposing these conditions is equivalent to imposing the non-linear BPS condition Eq. (4.139), and hence one correctly obtains the BPS solution.

Finally, in this limit, it is easy to prove that the four roots Λ_i correctly reproduce the BPS value for the entropies shown in Eqs. (4.147, 4.149), hence showing that the *universality* of the extremization principle can actually be generalized also in the accelerating case as expected. We do not show the calculations, which are the direct generalization of those of the non-accelerating case.

Chapter 5

Conclusions

In this thesis, we have explicitly shown the equivalence between the universal area product formula [32] in the BPS limit, and the BPS constraint on the charges, for different classes of asymptotically AdS black hole solutions in gauged supergravity. This was one of our main results and we have briefly argued why it can be regarded as a non-trivial fact.

This result has motivated us to explore the properties of the general horizons for the above black hole solutions. These were interpreted as formal loci, satisfying a condition of the form $\Delta_r(r) = 0$ for either real or complex values of the radial coordinate (horizon radius r_i). The area product formula can be derived only if one considers also these complex horizons, and treats them on the same footing as the real Cauchy and event horizons.

Following this logic, we have given a definition for a set of thermodynamic variables for each horizon, valid in the general non-supersymmetric solution. We generalized some results that were previously obtained for other classes of black holes [30, 31]. In particular, we have found that the conserved charges are universal quantities, in the sense that they are defined asymptotically and do not depend on which horizon is considered. Instead, the entropy and the chemical potentials are intrinsic properties of each horizon. These can be defined exploiting the symmetry that exchanges the various horizons, which we have discovered being a consequence of the $\Delta_r = 0$ condition not distinguishing between its roots (hence between the various horizons). Exploiting this symmetry, we have shown that, once the thermodynamics associated with the outer horizon is defined, one can define a generalized (formal) thermodynamics for all horizons. The quantities defined in this way agree with the ones that one would formally get by studying the metric (e.g. in the near horizon limit for each horizon). In this way, the first law of thermodynamics is trivially satisfied for each horizon, together with a quantum statistical relation. The latter can be used to define a grand-canonical potential for each horizon. However, we have not been able to relate these generalized grand-potentials to independent quantities, calculated directly in the supergravity theory. Indeed, one may expect they are related to a suitably defined on-shell action, as it is for the grand-canonical potential associated with the outer horizon thermodynamics.

Using the first law of thermodynamics for each horizon, we have rephrased the mass independence of the area product formula by means of a condition involving $T_i S_i$ terms. These were obtained in [63] for the fivedimensional black hole solution with two angular momenta and three charges, but in a different context. Similar relations have also appeared in [30] for black holes with only two horizons.

The symmetry under exchange of horizon radius inspired us to define a set of universal thermodynamic quantities, in particular, the chemical potentials and the Euclidean action. This idea allowed us to consider the extremization principle as discussed in [8] in a different way. The extremization principle has been explored for many (supersymmetric) AdS black hole solutions [10, 13, 14, 15, 16], and it is always able to reproduce the outer horizon BPS entropy by means of a constrained Legendre transform. We have proven that the extrem-

ization principle is able to reproduce the BPS entropies of all horizons in the BPS limit (and formally also in the general supersymmetric solution), and not only of the outermost one. For this reason, we have said that the extremization principle can be promoted to a universal extremization principle. We have also seen that the area product formula can be derived from the extremization principle in the general supersymmetric solution. Moreover, in the BPS case, the requirement of having purely imaginary solutions for the Lagrange multiplier $\Lambda = \Lambda(J_i, Q_I)$ (and hence real BPS entropies), given by the factorization condition, is equivalent to the BPS constraint on the charges. The factorization condition also directly shows the equivalence between the area product formula in the BPS limit, and the BPS constraint.

We have explicitly shown these results for some classes of AdS_5 [50, 54] and AdS_4 black holes [68, 69], also considering AdS_4 black holes with acceleration [70]. We have discussed the consequences of the universality of the extremization principle for the most general black hole solutions (with no restrictions on the independent charges) for each theory. Our work seems to indicate that, when the extremization reproduces the outer horizon BPS entropy, it can also be used to describe all horizons thermodynamics, by viewing it as an universal extremization principle.

It would be interesting to explore these results for other AdS black holes in D = 6, 7, or for asymptotically flat black holes [18], or by taking into account higher derivatives corrections in the original theory [17]. It would also be interesting to understand if an universal extremization principle can be found without having to resort to supersymmetry.

On a more fundamental level, it would be interesting to explain the results that we have obtained by considering the dual field theory description. In this sense, the extremization principle may play a central role as the supersymmetric Euclidean action, which appears in it, has been obtained from calculations in the dual field theory via the AdS/CFT correspondence. This means that, by using the extremization principle, we have a method to derive the entropies for all horizons (in the supersymmetric case) starting from the dual field theory perspective. The end goal would be to account for the thermodynamics of all the horizons, by means of microstates of the dual field theory. This may also give some indications on how these complex horizons (but also the Cauchy horizon) can be physically interpreted.

Bibliography

- [1] A. Strominger and C. Vafa. *Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy*. *Phys.Lett.* **B379** (1996) 99. [hep-th/9601029].
- [2] J. Maldacena. The Large N Limit of Superconformal Field Theories and Supergravity. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys 2 (1998) 231. [hep-th/9711200].
- [3] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D.L. Jafferis, and J. Maldacena. $\mathcal{N} = 6$ superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals. JHEP **91** (2008) 810. [arXiv:0806.1218].
- [4] M. Cvetic, M.J. Duff, P. Hoxha, J.T. Liu, H. Lu, J.X. Lu, R. Martinez-Acosta, C.N. Pope, H. Sati, and T.A. Tran. *Embedding AdS Black Holes in Ten and Eleven Dimensions*. *Nucl. Phys.* B558 (1999) 96. [hep-th/9903214].
- [5] E. Witten. Anti De Sitter Space And Holography. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys 2 (1998) 253. [hep-th/9802150].
- [6] F. Benini, K. Hristov, and A. Zaffaroni. Black hole microstates in AdS₄ from supersymmetric localization. JHEP 54 (2016) 1605. [arXiv:1511.04085].
- [7] F. Benini and A. Zaffaroni. A topologically twisted index for three-dimensional supersymmetric theories. JHEP 127 (2015) 1507. [arXiv:1504.03698].
- [8] A. Cabo-Bizet, D. Cassani, D. Martinelli, and S. Murthy. *Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of supersymmetric AdS₅ black holes. JHEP 10 (2019) 062.* [arXiv:1810.11442].
- [9] S. Choi, J. Kim, S. Kim, and J. Nahmgoong. Large AdS black holes from QFT. [arXiv:1810.12067].
- [10] F.Benini and E.Milan. Black holes in 4d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super-Yang-Mills. Phys.Rev.X 10 (2020) 21037. [arXiv:1812.09613].
- [11] M. Cvetic, G.W. Gibbons, H. Lu, and C.N. Pope. Rotating Black Holes in Gauged Supergravities; Thermodynamics, Supersymmetric Limits, Topological Solitons and Time Machines. [hep-th/0504080].
- [12] S.M. Hosseini, K. Hristov, and A. Zaffaroni. An extremization principle for the entropy of rotating BPS black holes in AdS₅. JHEP 106 (2017) 1707. [arXiv:1705.053383].
- [13] S.M.Hosseini, K.Hristov, and A.Zaffaroni. A note on the entropy of rotating BPS $AdS_7 \times S^4$ black holes. JHEP 05 (2018) 121. [arXiv1803.07568].
- [14] S. Choi, C. Hwang, S. Kim, and J. Nahmgoong. Entropy functions of BPS black holes in AdS₄ and AdS₆. J.Korean Phys.Soc. 76 (2020) 101. [arXiv:1811.02158].
- [15] D. Cassani and L. Papini. *The BPS limit of rotating AdS black hole thermodynamics*. JHEP 09 (2019) 79.
 [arXiv:1906.10148].

- [16] D.Cassani, J.P. Gauntlett, D. Martelli, and J. Sparks. *Thermodynamics of accelerating and supersymmetric AdS₄ black holes*. *Phys. Rev.* D104 (2021) 86005. [arXiv:2106.05571].
- [17] D. Cassani, A. Ruipérez, and E. Turetta. Corrections to AdS₅ Black Hole Thermodynamics form Higer-Derivative Supergravity. [arXiv:2208.01007].
- [18] K. Hristov. The dark (BPS) side of thermodynamics in Minkowski₄. JHEP **09** (2022) 204. [arXiv:2207.12437].
- [19] M. Cvetic and F. Larsen. General Rotating Black Holes in String Theory: Greybody Factors and Event Horizons. Phys. Rev. D56 (1997) 4994. [hep-th/9705192].
- [20] M. Cvetic and F. Larsen. Greybody factors for rotating black holes in four dimensions. Nucl. Phys. B506 (1997) 107. [hep-th/9706071].
- [21] F. Larsen. A String Model of Black Hole Microstates. Phys. Rev. D56 (1997) 1005. [hep-th/9702153].
- [22] M. Visser. Quantization of area for event and Cauchy horizons of the Kerr–Newman black hole. JHEP 23 (2012) 1206. [arXiv:1204.3138].
- [23] A. Strominger. Black Hole Entropy from Near-Horizon Microstates. JHEP 09 (1998) 9802. [hep-th/9712251].
- [24] M. Cvetic and F. Larsen. Greybody Factors and Charges in Kerr/CFT. JHEP 88 (2009) 909.[arXiv:0908.1136].
- [25] M. Guica, T. Hartman, W. Song, and A. Strominger. *The Kerr/CFT Correspondence*. *Phys.Rev.* D80(2008) 124008. [arXiv:0809.4266].
- [26] A. Castro, A. Maloney, and A. Strominger. *Hidden Conformal Symmetry of the Kerr Black Hole*. *Phys.Rev.* D82 (2010) 24008. [arXiv:1004.0996].
- [27] M. David, J. Nian, and L.A. Pando Zayas. Gravitational Cardy Limit and AdS Black Hole Entropy. JHEP 11 (2020) 41. [arXiv:2005.10251].
- [28] J.Nian and L.A. Pando Zayas. Toward an Effective CFT_2 from $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super Yang-Mills and Aspects of Hawking Radiation. JHEP 07 (2020) 120. [arXiv:2003.02770].
- [29] S.Q. Wu. New Formulation of the First Law of Black Hole Thermodynamics: A Stringy Analogy. Phys.Lett. B608(2005) 251. [hep-th/0405029].
- [30] B. Chen, S. Liu, and Jj. Zhang. *Thermodynamics of black hole horizons and Kerr/CFT correspondence*. *JHEP* 11 (2012) 17. [arXiv.1206.2015].
- [31] A. Castro and M.J. Rodriguez. Universal properties and the first law of black hole inner mechanics. Phys. *Rev.* D86 (2012) 24008. [arXiv:1204.1284].
- [32] M. Cvetic, G.W. Gibbons, and C.N. Pope. Universal Area Product Formulae for Rotating and Charged Black Holes in Four and Higher Dimensions. Phys. Rev. Lett. **106** (2011) 121301. [arXiv:1011.0008].
- [33] G. Dall'Agata and M. Zagermann. Supergravity: From First Principles to Modern Applications. Springer Berlin, Heidelberg, 2021.

- [34] A. Van Proeyen. Tools for supersymmetry. [hep-th/9910030].
- [35] W. Rarita and J. Schwinger. On a theory of particles with half integral spin. Phys. Rev. 60 (1941) 61.
- [36] D.Z. Freedman and A. Van Proeyen. Supergravity. Cambridge University Press, 2012.
- [37] S. Ferrara and P. Van Nieuwenhuizen. Consistent Supergravity with Complex Spin-³/₂ Gauge Fields. *Phys.Rev.Lett.* **37** (1976) 1669.
- [38] T. Ortín. Gravity and Strings. Cambridge University Press, 2015. pp. 175–198.
- [39] L.J. Romans. Supersymmetric, cold and lukewarm black holes in cosmological Einstein—Maxwell theory. Nucl.Phys. **B383** (1992) 395.
- [40] A.H. Chamseddine and H.Nicolai. Coupling the SO(2) supergravity through dimensional reduction. Phys.Lett. **B96** (1980) 89.
- [41] D.Z. Freedman and A. Das. *Gauge internal symmetry in extended supergravity*. *Nucl. Phys.* **B120** (1977) 211.
- [42] M. Günaydin and M. Zagermann. The Gauging of Five-Dimensional, Maxwell-Einstein Supergravity Theories Coupled to Tensor Multiplets. Nucl. Phys. B572 (2000) 131. [hep-th/9912027].
- [43] M. Günaydin, G. Sierra, and P.k. Townsend. The Geometry of N = 2 Maxwell-Einstein Supergravity And Jordan Algebras. Nucl. Phys. B242 (1984) 244.
- [44] J.P.Gauntlett and J.B.Gutowski. All supersymmetric solutions of minimal gauged supergravity in five dimensions. Phys. Rev. D68 (2003) 105009. [hep-th/0304064].
- [45] M.M Cladarelli and D. Klemm. Supersymmetry of Anti-de Sitter Black Holes. Nucl. Phys. B545 (1999) 434. [hep-th/9808097].
- [46] M.M Cladarelli and D. Klemm. All Supersymmetric Solutions of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, D = 4 Gauged Supergravity. JHEP 19 (2003) 309. [hep-th/0307022].
- [47] J.B. Gutowski and H.S. Reall. General supersymmetric AdS₅ black holes. JHEP 48 (2004) 404. [hep-th/0401129].
- [48] M.M. Caldarelli and D. Klemm. Supersymmetry of Anti-de Sitter Black Holes. Nucl. Phys. B545 (1999) 434.
- [49] V.A. Kostelecky and M.J. Perry. Solitonic black holes in gauged N = 2 supergravity. Phys.Lett. B371 (1996) 191.
- [50] M. Cvetic, H. Lu, and C.N. Pope. Charged Rotating Black Holes in Five Dimensional $U(1)^3$ Gauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity. Phys.Rev. **D70** (2004) 81502. [hep-th/0407058].
- [51] D.S.Berman and M.K.Parikh. Holography and Rotating AdS Black Holes. Phys.Lett. B463 (1999) 168.
 [hep-th/9907003].
- [52] S.W. Hawking, C.J. Hunter, and M.M. Taylor-Robinson. Rotation and the AdS/CFT correspondence. Phys. Rev. D59 (1999) 64005. [hep-th/9811056].

- [53] M.M. Caldarelli, G. Cognola, and D. Klemm. Thermodynamics of Kerr-Newman-AdS Black Holes and Conformal Field Theories. Class.Quant.Grav. 17 (2000) 399. [hep-th/9908022].
- [54] Z.-W. Chong, M. Cvetic, H. Lu, and C.N. Pope. General Non-Extremal Rotating Black Holes in Minimal Five-Dimensional Gauged Supergravity. Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 161301. [hep-th/0506029].
- [55] M. Cvetic, H. Lü, and C.N. Pope. Charged kerr-de Sitter Black Holes in Five Dimensions. Phys.Lett. B598 (2004) 273. [hep-th/0406196].
- [56] J. Mei and C.N.Pope. New Rotating Non-Extremal Black Holes in D=5 Maximal Gauged Supergravity. Phys.Lett. B658 (2007) 64. [arXiv:0709.0559].
- [57] S.Q. Wu. General Nonextremal Rotating Charged AdS Black Holes in Five-dimensional U(1)³ Gauged Supergravity: A Simple Construction Method. Phys.Lett. B707 (2012) 286. [arXiv:1108.4159].
- [58] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis. Thermodynamics of Asymptotically Locally AdS Spacetimes. JHEP 8 (2005) 04. [hep-th/0505190].
- [59] G.W. Gibbons, M.J. Perry, and C.N. Pope. The First Law of Thermodynamics for Kerr-Anti-de Sitter Black Holes. Class. Quant. Grav. 22 (2005) 1503. [hep-th/0408217].
- [60] W. Chen, H. Lu, and C.N. Pope. Mass of Rotating Black Holes in Gauged Supergravities. Phys. Rev. D73 (2006) 104036. [hep-th/0510081].
- [61] G.W. Gibbons and S.H.Hawking. Action integrals and partition functions in quantum gravity. Phys.Rev. D15 (1977) 10.
- [62] J.P. Silva. Thermodynamics at the BPS bound for Black Holes in AdS. JHEP 22 (2006) 610. [hep-th/0607056].
- [63] M. Cvetic, G.W. Gibbons, H. Lu, and C.N. Pope. Killing Horizons: Negative Temperatures and Entropy Super-Additivity. Phys. Rev. D98 (2018) 106015. [arXiv.1806.11134].
- [64] H.K.Kunduri, J.Lucetti, and H.S. Reall. Supersymmetric multi-charge AdS₅ black holes. JHEP 36 (2006) 604. [hep-th/0601156].
- [65] S. Kim and K.-M. Lee. $\frac{1}{16}$ -BPS Black Holes and Giant Gravitons in the AdS₅ × S⁵ Space. JHEP 77 (2006) 612. [hep-th/0607085].
- [66] M. Cvetic, H.Lu, and C.N. Pope. Entopy-Product Rules for Charged Rotating Black Holes. Phys.Rev. D88 (2013) 44046. [arXiv:1306.4522].
- [67] S. Choi, C. Hwang, and S. Kim. Quantum vortices, M2-branes and black holes. [arXiv:1908.02470].
- [68] Z.-W. Chong, M. Cvetic, H. Lu, and C.N. Pope. Charged Rotating Black Holes in Four-Dimensional Gauged and Ungauged Supergravities. Nucl. Phys. B717 (2005) 246. [hep-th/0411045].
- [69] N. Bobev and P.M. Crichigno. Universal Spinning Black Holes and Theories of Class R. JHEP 12 (2019) 54. [arXiv:1909.05873].
- [70] J. Podolsky and J.B. Griffiths. Accelerating Kerr-Newman black holes in (anti-)de Sitter space-time. Phys.Rev. D73 (2006) 44018. [gr-qc/0601130].

- [71] B. Carter. Hamilton-Jacobi and Schrodinger separable solutions of Einstein's equations. Commun.Math.Phys. 10 (1968), no. 4 280.
- [72] A. Kostelecky and M. Perry. Solitonic Black Holes in Gauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity. Phys.Lett. B371 (1996) 191. [hep-th/9512222].
- [73] P. Ferrero, J.P. Gauntlett, J.M.P.Ipiña, D. Martelli, and J. Sparks. Accelerating Black Holes and Spinning Spindles. Phys. Rev. D104 (2021) 46007. [arXiv:2012.08530].
- [74] A. Anabalon, F. Gray, R. Gregory, D. Kubiznak, and R.B. Mann. *Thermodynamics of Charged, Rotating, and Accelerating Black Holes. JHEP* 4 (2019) 96. [arXiv:1811.04936].